FIELD THEORETIC APPROACH TO GRAVITY

A THESIS SUBMITTED FOR THE DEGREE OF DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY [SCIENCE] IN PHYSICS (THEORETICAL)

by SUBHASISH CHAKRABARTY

> DEPARTMENT OF PHYSICS UNIVERSITY OF CALCUTTA

> > 2019

Dedicated to my parents

PUBLICATIONS

- Different types of torsion and their effect on the dynamics of fields. Subhasish Chakrabarty and Amitabha Lahiri, *Eur. Phys. J. Plus* 133, no. 6, 242 (2018).
 DOI: https://doi.org/10.1140/epjp/i2018-12070-6
- Geometrical contribution to neutrino mass matrix.
 Subhasish Chakrabarty and Amitabha Lahiri,
 Eur. Phys. J. C 79, no. 8, 697 (2019).
 DOI: https://doi.org/10.1140/epjc/s10052-019-7209-2
- Weak field limit in vierbein-Einstein-Palatini formalism and Fierz-Pauli Equation.

Subhasish Chakrabarty and Amitabha Lahiri, arXiv:1507.03884 [gr-qc].

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to thank my supervisor Prof. Amitabha Lahiri for guiding me throughout my Ph.D. tenure.

I am grateful to all my teachers for their support and inspiration.

I would also like to thank my friends, seniors and juniors in school, college and S. N. Bose National Centre for Basic Sciences; all of you are equally important to me. I am not writing names here because I do not want to miss anyone by mistake. Sayani, I cannot thank you enough for being there.

I am thankful to all my loving family members. Above all, thank you Maa and Baba. I know what you have done for me and I cannot imagine a life without you.

LIST OF SYMBOLS

- 1. $g_{\mu\nu}$: metric tensor
- 2. *g*: determinant of $g_{\mu\nu}$
- 3. η_{II} : Minkowski metric
- 4. $\widehat{\nabla}_{\mu}$: Levi-Civita connection
- 5. ∇_{μ} : covariant derivative with non-zero torsion
- 6. $\widehat{\Gamma}^{\alpha}_{\nu\mu}$: Christoffel symbols
- 7. $\Gamma^{\alpha}_{\mu\nu}$: general affine connection with torsion
- 8. $\hat{R}^{\rho}_{\sigma\mu\nu}$: torsion-free Riemann tensor
- 9. $\hat{R}_{\mu\nu}$: torsion-free Ricci tensor
- 10. \hat{R} : torsion-free Ricci scalar
- 11. $\widehat{G}_{\mu\nu} \equiv \widehat{R}_{\mu\nu} \frac{1}{2}g_{\mu\nu}\widehat{R}$: torsion-free Einstein tensor
- 12. $R^{\rho}_{\sigma\mu\nu}$: torsionful Riemann tensor
- 13. $R_{\mu\nu}$: torsionful Ricci tensor
- 14. *R*: torsionful Ricci scalar
- 15. $G_{\mu\nu} \equiv R_{\mu\nu} \frac{1}{2}g_{\mu\nu}R$: torsionful Einstein tensor
- 16. $C^{\alpha}_{\mu\nu}$: (Cartan) torsion tensor
- 17. $S^{\alpha}_{\mu\nu}$: contorsion tensor
- 18. e_{μ}^{I} : tetrads
- 19. e_I^{μ} : co-tetrads
- 20. |e|: determinant of e_{μ}^{I}
- 21. A^{IJ}_{μ} : torsionful spin connection
- 22. Λ_{μ}^{IJ} : contorsion component of A_{μ}^{IJ}
- 23. D_{μ} : covariant derivative corresponding to A_{μ}^{IJ}
- 24. ω_{μ}^{IJ} : torsion-free spin connection
- 25. \hat{D}_{μ} : covariant derivative corresponding to ω_{μ}^{IJ}
- **26.** $F_{\mu\nu}^{IJ}$: curvature of D_{μ}
- **27.** $\widehat{F}_{\mu\nu}^{IJ}$: curvature of \widehat{D}_{μ}

28. $\kappa = 8\pi G$

- 29. S[e, A]: action for gravity in vierbein-Einstein-Palatini formalism
- 30. $S_{tetrad}[e]$: action for gravity in tetrad formulation of GR
- 31. S_M : action for matter field
- 32. $\widehat{T}_{\mu\nu}$: symmetric and conserved energy-momentum tensor
- 33. $\Theta_{\mu\nu}$: non-symmetric energy-momentum tensor
- 34. ϕ : real scalar field
- 35. A_{μ} : Electromagnetic gauge field
- 36. $F_{\mu\nu}$: Electromagnetic field tensor
- 37. ψ : Dirac fermionic field
- 38. $\bar{\psi}$: Dirac adjoint of ψ
- 39. ${}^{\psi}\widehat{D}_{\mu}$: torsion-free covariant derivative of ψ
- 40. ${}^{\psi}D_{\mu}$: torsionful covariant derivative of ψ
- 41. γ_I : Dirac gamma matrices
- 42. \mathcal{L}_F : Lagrangian for Dirac spinor
- 43. \mathcal{L}_{ϕ} : Lagrangian for scalar field
- 44. J^{μ} : probability current
- 45. Ω : conformal factor
- 46. ${}^{NY}C^{\alpha}_{\mu\nu}$: Nieh-Yan torsion
- 47. $^{Inv}C^{\alpha}_{\mu\nu}$: conformally invariant torsion
- 48. ${}^{OS}C^{\alpha}_{\mu\nu}$: on-shell torsion
- 49. ξ : conformal parameter for A_{μ}^{IJ}

50.
$$\Psi_{eL} = \begin{pmatrix} \nu_L \\ e_L \end{pmatrix}$$
: left-handed electron-neutrino doublet

51. e_R : right-handed electron singlet

52.
$$\Phi = \begin{pmatrix} \phi^+ \\ \phi^0 \end{pmatrix}$$
: Higgs doublet

- 53. v_e : electron neutrino
- 54. ν_{μ} : muon neutrino
- 55. v_l : neutrino of lepton l
- 56. $P_{\nu_l}(t)$: probability of finding a $\nu_{l'}$ at time *t* in a beam that started as ν_l
- 57. λ_f : coupling constant for fermion-torsion coupling

- 58. \mathcal{M} : forward scattering amplitude
- 59. \mathscr{H}_{eff} : effective Hamiltonian density
- 60. n_f : number density of fermions
- 61. ρ : weighted density
- 62. U: mixing matrix
- 63. *P*_{conv}: probability of conversion
- 64. \mathscr{L}_{cc} : effective Lagrangian due to charge current interaction
- 65. $V_{\rm nc}$: contribution due to neutral current interaction in the Hamiltonian
- 66. G_F : Fermi constant
- 67. I_{3L}^{f} : third component of weak isospin for the left-handed component
- 68. Q_f : charge of fermion
- 69. θ : mixing angle
- 70. $\tilde{\theta}$: effective mixing angle
- 71. $h_{\mu\nu}$: metric perturbation
- 72. f_I^{μ} : co-tetrad perturbation
- 73. \tilde{f}_{μ}^{I} : tetrad perturbation
- 74. a_{μ}^{IJ} : spin connection perturbation
- 75. $\mathcal{F}_{\mu\nu}^{IJ}$: perturbation of $F_{\mu\nu}^{IJ}$
- 76. $S = \overline{\psi}\psi$: scalar
- 77. $P = i\bar{\psi}\gamma_5\psi$: pseudoscalar
- 78. $V_I = i\bar{\psi}\gamma_I\psi$: vector
- 79. $A_I = i\psi\gamma_5\gamma_I\psi$: axial vector
- 80. $T_{IJ} = \bar{\psi}\sigma_{IJ}\psi$: tensor

CONVENTIONS

- 1. Metric signature (-+++)
- **2.** $\{A, B\} = AB + BA$
- 3. [A, B] = AB BA
- 4. $A_{\{\mu}B_{\nu\}} = A_{\mu}B_{\nu} + A_{\nu}B_{\mu}$
- 5. $A_{[\mu}B_{\nu]} = A_{\mu}B_{\nu} A_{\nu}B_{\mu}$
- 6. $A_{\{\mu|\alpha|}B_{\nu\}} = A_{\mu\alpha}B_{\nu} + A_{\nu\alpha}B_{\mu}$
- 7. $A_{[\mu|\alpha|}B_{\nu]} = A_{\mu\alpha}B_{\nu} A_{\nu\alpha}B_{\mu}$
- 8. $A_{\{\mu}B^{\alpha}_{\ \nu\}} = A_{\mu}B^{\alpha}_{\ \nu} + A_{\nu}B^{\alpha}_{\ \mu}$
- 9. $A_{[\mu}B^{\alpha}{}_{\nu]} = A_{\mu}B^{\alpha}{}_{\nu} A_{\nu}B^{\alpha}{}_{\mu}$
- 10. $\nabla_{\mu}T^{\alpha}{}_{\beta} = \partial_{\mu}T^{\alpha}{}_{\beta} + \Gamma^{\alpha}{}_{\mu\nu}T^{\nu}{}_{\beta} \Gamma^{\nu}{}_{\mu\beta}T^{\alpha}{}_{\nu}$
- **11.** $D_{\mu}T^{I}_{\ J} = \partial_{\mu}T^{I}_{\ J} + A^{I}_{\mu K}T^{K}_{\ J} A^{K}_{\mu J}T^{I}_{\ K}$

CONTENTS

1	INT	NTRODUCTION			
		1.0.1	Skew symmetry	3	
		1.0.2	Pairwise symmetry	4	
		1.0.3	First Bianchi identity	4	
		1.0.4	Second Bianchi identity	4	
	1.1	Synopsis and Plan of Thesis			
2	VIERBEIN-EINSTEIN-PALATINI FORMALISM				
	2.1	Tetrac	l formulation of General Relativity	14	
3	MA	ATTER FIELDS 1			
	3.1	Scalar field		17	
3.2 Eleo		Electr	omagnetic field	18	
	3.3	Fermionic field			
		3.3.1	Fermionic field in tetrad formalism	20	
		3.3.2	Fermionic field in vierbein-Einstein-Palatini formalism	22	
		3.3.3	Conservation of spinor current	25	
4	4 CONFORMAL TRANSFORMATION			27	
4.1 Conformal transformation in tetrad formulation			ormal transformation in tetrad formulation	30	
		4.1.1	Conformal scalar in tetrad formulation	31	
		4.1.2	Conformal invariance of fermionic field in tetrad formulation .	32	
	4.2	' Confc	ormal transformation in vierbein-Einstein-Palatini formalism	33	
		4.2.1	Nieh-Yan theory	34	
		' 4.2.2	Conformally invariant torsion	38	
	4.3	Dyna	mically generated torsion and conformal transformation	42	
	-	4.3.1	Dynamically generated torsion and conformal scalar	42	
		4.3.2	Dynamically generated torsion and fermion	45	
	4.4	Gener	al off-shell transformation	48	

5	NEUTRINO MIXING			
	5.1 Neutrino oscillations	58		
	5.2 Weak interactions	60		
6	PERTURBATIONS IN VIERBEIN-EINSTEIN-PALATINI FORMALISM			
7	CONCLUSION AND SUMMARY	71		
Α	TORSION, CURVATURE AND BIANCHI IDENTITIES	75		
	A.1 Contorsion tensor	75		
	A.2 Riemann curvature tensor	76		
	A.3 Symmetries and Bianchi identities	77		
	A.3.1 Skew symmetry	77		
	A.3.2 First Bianchi identity	77		
	A.3.3 Pairwise symmetry	78		
	A.3.4 Second Bianchi identity	79		
В	A DIFFERENT WAY TO LOOK AT THE CONFORMAL SCALAR			
С	Λ as auxiliary field			
D	γ -MATRICES	85		
	D.1 σ -matrix	85		
	D.2 Fifth γ -matrix	86		
	D.3 Change of signature	87		
Е	CHIRAL SYMMETRY BREAKING AND CURRENT CONSERVATION			
F	FIERZ IDENTITIES	93		

xvi contents

INTRODUCTION

Conventionally, General Relativity is formulated purely from a metric $(g_{\mu\nu})$ point of view. Unlike other field theories, General Relativity does not have an independent connection and also it is a second order theory. Although we work with the Levi-Civita connection ∇ , the corresponding affine connection Γ is not an independent quantity because of the following two assumptions

1. Metric compatibility:

$$\nabla_{\alpha}g_{\mu\nu}=0\,,\tag{1.1}$$

2. Torsion-free condition:

$$\Gamma^{\alpha}_{\ \mu\nu} = \Gamma^{\alpha}_{\ \nu\mu} \,. \tag{1.2}$$

The above allow us to write the affine connection as the Christoffel symbols $\widehat{\Gamma}$,

$$\Gamma^{\alpha}_{\ \mu\nu} \equiv \widehat{\Gamma}^{\alpha}_{\ \mu\nu} = \frac{1}{2} g^{\alpha\lambda} \left(\partial_{\mu} g_{\lambda\nu} + \partial_{\nu} g_{\mu\lambda} - \partial_{\lambda} g_{\mu\nu} \right) \,. \tag{1.3}$$

The above assumptions imply that Levi-Civita connection is unique torsion-free connection in Riemannian geometry. I will discuss the importance of the above two assumptions as to why and when they are justified. The metric compatibility or simply metricity is a necessity rather than a mere assumption. We want to have quantities like inner product of vectors, length element invariant under parallel transport. The

derivative operator ∇_{μ} defines the parallel transport of a vector v^{μ} along a curve with tangent t^{μ} by

$$t^{\mu}\nabla_{\mu}v^{\nu} = 0. \tag{1.4}$$

We want the inner product $g_{\mu\nu}v^{\mu}u^{\nu}$ of two vectors v^{μ} and u^{μ} to remain unaltered under parallel transport i. e.,

$$t^{\lambda} \nabla_{\lambda} (g_{\mu\nu} v^{\mu} u^{\nu}) = 0$$

$$\Rightarrow t^{\lambda} v^{\mu} u^{\nu} \nabla_{\lambda} g_{\mu\nu} = 0, \qquad (1.5)$$

where, I have used Eq. (1.4) in obtaining the last equation above. This means that the metric must remain invariant under parallel transport. It is worth mentioning that there have been some works in non-metricity [1] but I will not cover those in this thesis.

The second assumption of torsion-free connection is not necessary and it depends on the matter fields present. In general for bosonic matter torsion does not have any effect on the equations and it vanishes on-shell. As we will see, for fermionic matter, the above is not the case. Thus, although in General Relativity torsion is set to zero, it is always interesting to consider a more general theory with non-zero torsion. The first attempt to formulate a theory of gravity that included torsion was made by Cartan [2]. Later Einstein attempted to match torsion with electromagnetic field tensor in search of a unified theory although he was unsuccessful. This is known as Einstein-Cartan theory. It was further developed by Kibble [3], Sciama [4], and later Hehl [5], relating torsion to the spin angular momentum of matter, in particular fermionic matter.

The torsion-less limit of torsion gravity cannot always be taken continuously [6, 7]. In this thesis we will be looking primarily at a torsion theory of gravity which in the torsion-free limit reduces to Einstein's General Relativity. One way of introducing the torsion field into the theory as a dynamical variable would be to add it in as the antisymmetric part of the connection coefficients (Cartan torsion).

$$C^{\rho}_{\ \nu\mu} = \Gamma^{\rho}_{\ \nu\mu} - \Gamma^{\rho}_{\ \mu\nu} \,. \tag{1.6}$$

I will find out the form of curvature tensor for connection with torsion. In General Relativity without torsion, the Riemann curvature R(X, Y)Z is defined as

INTRODUCTION 3

$$[\nabla_X, \nabla_Y] Z - \nabla_{[X,Y]} Z = R(X,Y) Z.$$
(1.7)

Taking basis vector fields ∂_{μ} , ∂_{ν} for X, Y respectively and v^{ρ} for Z gives

$$(\widehat{\nabla}_{\mu}\widehat{\nabla}_{\nu}-\widehat{\nabla}_{\nu}\widehat{\nabla}_{\mu})v^{\rho}=\widehat{R}^{\rho}_{\ \sigma\mu\nu}[\widehat{\Gamma}]v^{\sigma}.$$
(1.8)

I will write quantities corresponding to torsion-free connection with a ' $^{\prime}$ above. In terms of Christoffel symbols the Riemann tensor of Eq. (1.8) is given by

$$\widehat{R}^{\rho}_{\sigma\mu\nu} = \partial_{\mu}\widehat{\Gamma}^{\rho}_{\nu\sigma} - \partial_{\nu}\widehat{\Gamma}^{\rho}_{\mu\sigma} + \widehat{\Gamma}^{\rho}_{\ \mu\lambda}\widehat{\Gamma}^{\lambda}_{\nu\sigma} - \widehat{\Gamma}^{\rho}_{\ \nu\lambda}\widehat{\Gamma}^{\lambda}_{\mu\sigma}.$$
(1.9)

Now if ∇ is a general affine connection with torsionful Γ , the definition of the Riemann tensor is modified to

$$(\nabla_{\mu}\nabla_{\nu} - \nabla_{\nu}\nabla_{\mu})v^{\rho} = R^{\rho}_{\ \sigma\mu\nu}[\Gamma]v^{\sigma} - C^{\sigma}_{\ \nu\mu}\nabla_{\sigma}v^{\rho}.$$
(1.10)

The definition of the Riemann tensor thus has to be modified in case of non-zero torsion as

$$R^{\rho}_{\sigma\mu\nu}[\Gamma]v^{\sigma} = (\nabla_{\mu}\nabla_{\nu} - \nabla_{\nu}\nabla_{\mu})v^{\rho} + C^{\sigma}_{\nu\mu}\nabla_{\sigma}v^{\rho}.$$
(1.11)

Let us look at the symmetries and identities of the Riemann tensor with Cartan torsion and compare them with those in General Relativity.

1.0.1 Skew symmetry

The antisymmetry of the Riemann tensor in each pair is there in both General Relativity and with non-zero torsion.

$$R_{\rho\sigma\mu\nu} = -R_{\sigma\rho\mu\nu} = -R_{\rho\sigma\nu\mu}.$$
(1.12)

4 INTRODUCTION

1.0.2 Pairwise symmetry

Unlike in General Relativity, where the Riemann tensor is symmetric under pair exchange, with non-zero torsion the symmetry gets lost. The antisymmetry under the exchange of pairs is given by (see Eq. (A.19))

$$R_{\rho\sigma\mu\nu} - R_{\mu\nu\rho\sigma} = \frac{1}{2} \left(\nabla_{[\rho}C_{|\nu|\sigma\mu]} + C_{\nu\lambda[\rho}C^{\lambda}_{\ \sigma\mu]} + \nabla_{[\sigma}C_{|\rho|\mu\nu]} + C_{\rho\lambda[\sigma}C^{\lambda}_{\ \mu\nu]} - \nabla_{[\mu}C_{|\sigma|\nu\rho]} - C_{\sigma\lambda[\mu}C^{\lambda}_{\ \nu\rho]} - \nabla_{[\nu}C_{|\mu|\rho\sigma]} - C_{\mu\lambda[\nu}C^{\lambda}_{\ \rho\sigma]} \right) .$$
(1.13)

In fact the Ricci tensor which is symmetric in General Relativity, is not so in presence of torsion.

1.0.3 First Bianchi identity

The first or algebraic Bianchi identity gets modified as (see Eq. (A.16))

$$R^{\rho}_{\ [\sigma\mu\nu]} = \nabla_{[\sigma}C^{\rho}_{\ \mu\nu]} + C^{\rho}_{\ \lambda[\sigma}C^{\lambda}_{\ \mu\nu]}, \qquad (1.14)$$

1.0.4 Second Bianchi identity

The second or differential Bianchi identity also gets modified as (see Eq. (A.24))

$$\nabla_{[\lambda} R^{\rho}{}_{|\sigma|\mu\nu]} = -R^{\rho}{}_{\sigma\alpha[\lambda} C^{\alpha}{}_{\mu\nu]}.$$
(1.15)

Thus three out of the four identities of the Riemann tensor get changed in case of non-zero torsion. A detailed calculation of the above identities have been given in Appendix A.

It is interesting to note that with the help of metric compatibility, the affine connection can be decomposed in terms of the Christoffel symbols and the so called *contorsion tensor*.

$$\Gamma^{\alpha}_{\ \mu\nu} = \widehat{\Gamma}^{\alpha}_{\ \mu\nu} - S^{\alpha}_{\ \mu\nu}, \qquad (1.16)$$

where the contorsion tensor $S^{\alpha}_{\mu\nu}$ is given by (see Eq. (A.8))

$$S^{\alpha}_{\ \mu\nu} = \frac{1}{2} \left(C^{\ \alpha}_{\mu\nu} + C^{\ \alpha}_{\nu\mu} - C^{\alpha}_{\ \nu\mu} \right) \,. \tag{1.17}$$

Although torsion can be considered as an extension to General Relativity by adding contorsion tensor to the Christoffel symbols, the way to couple torsion to other fields, particularly to fermions, is not obvious in this approach. A more transparent and geometrical way of introducing torsion is to work with the first order Palatini formulation of gravity, using local orthogonal coordinates or frame fields called tetrads or vierbeins, and a local Lorentz connection called the spin connection [3, 8, 9]. I will call this vierbein-Einstein-Palatini formalism. In the usual Palatini formalism, the metric and the connection are considered to be independent variables off-shell and when gravity is coupled to only bosonic fields, this formalism reduces to the usual metric formalism of General Relativity on-shell where the connection is given by the Christoffel symbols. In vierbein-Einstein-Palatini formalism the above corresponds to writing the spin connection in terms of the tetrads and their derivatives. We will see later that if there are fermionic fields contributing to the stress-energy tensor, the spin connection has torsion components and remains independent. The vierbein-Einstein-Palatini formalism is particularly useful for writing a Lagrangian for fermionic fields on curved spacetime [10–12], as it highlights the spin connection as being analogous to a gauge field. In addition, this formalism serves as the link between General Relativity and BF theories of gravity [13–16]. The Einstein-Hilbert action does not resemble that of other field theories. Often we are interested in fields that are functions of flat spacetime coordinates and this is where vierbein-Einstein-Palatini formalism comes handy. Because of the fact that we have an independent spin connection that resembles a gauge field, vierbein-Einstein-Palatini formalism looks like a field theory of gravity.

1.1 SYNOPSIS AND PLAN OF THESIS

In this thesis I will explore different aspects of the vierbein-Einstein-Palatini formalism. In chapter 2 I will go through the vierbein-Einstein-Palatini formalism. I will define the variables, write the action and find out the equations of motion. I will compare the results with those in General Relativity. In chapter 3 I will discuss the vierbein-Einstein-Palatini formalism in the presence of bosonic and fermionic matter. I will demonstrate how the presence of fermions yields non-zero torsion thereby lead-

6 INTRODUCTION

ing to a departure from General Relativity. In chapter 4 I will discuss the conformal properties of the vierbein-Einstein-Palatini variables and see how torsion affects the conformal invariance of fields. In chapter 5 I will use an interesting result of the four-fermion interaction that results from spin-torsion coupling to answer the source of neutrino mass and oscillation. Finally in chapter 6 I will consider the perturbations of the vierbein-Einstein-Palatini variables around arbitrary background and find general perturbation equation.

2

VIERBEIN-EINSTEIN-PALATINI FORMALISM

In the vierbein-Einstein-Palatini formalism, the variables for gravity are the vierbein or tetrads e_{μ}^{I} , and the spin connection A_{μ}^{IJ} . One considers local 4d flat space (internal space) at each point of spacetime manifold isomorphic to the tangent space at that point. Linear isomorphisms between vector fields and sections of internal space are given by tetrads. Tetrads can be thought of as frame fields. I will denote spacetime indices by lowercase Greek letters and internal indices by uppercase Roman letters. The internal space is a 4-dimensional flat space with metric $\eta_{IJ} = (-1, 1, 1, 1)$ attached to each point of spacetime. Raising and lowering of the internal indices are done by η , while spacetime indices are raised and lowered by the spacetime metric g, which is also of signature (- + ++). I can write the basis vector field of the spacetime manifold λ_{μ} as

$$\lambda_{\mu} = e^{I}_{\mu} \zeta_{I} \,, \tag{2.1}$$

where ζ_I are the internal basis vectors with *I* running from 0 to 3. Although written in terms of basis vectors fields, the above holds for all vector fields. The tetrads are considered to be orthonormal,

$$g^{\mu\nu}e^{I}_{\mu}e^{J}_{\nu} = \eta^{IJ}.$$
 (2.2)

This equation can also be thought of as a relation between the spacetime metric and the internal metric. Clearly, tetrads contain the same information as the spacetime metric and constitute the main variable in the vierbein-Einstein-Palatini formalism. Eq. (2.2) can be rewritten as

$$e^{I}_{\mu}e^{\mu}_{J} = \delta^{I}_{J}, \qquad e^{\mu}_{I}e^{I}_{\nu} = \delta^{\mu}_{\nu},$$
(2.3)

where $e_I^{\mu} \equiv \eta_{IJ} g^{\mu\nu} e_{\nu}^J$ are the inverse of tetrads, called co-tetrads. It is easy to see that the determinants of the tetrad and the metric are related by $|e| = \sqrt{-g}$.

A connection *D* on the frame bundle is defined by its action on any smooth section *S*,

$$D_{\mu}S^{I} = \partial_{\mu}S^{I} + A^{I}_{\mu J}S^{J}, \qquad (2.4)$$

where $A_{\mu J}^{I}$ are the components of what is called the spin connection. It follows from definition that A_{μ}^{IJ} is antisymmetric in the internal indices,

$$0 = D_{\mu}\eta^{IJ} = \partial_{\mu}\eta^{IJ} - A^{I}_{\mu K}\eta^{KJ} - A^{J}_{\mu K}\eta^{IK}$$

$$\Rightarrow \quad A^{IJ}_{\mu} = -A^{JI}_{\mu}.$$
(2.5)

The curvature of *D* can be written as

$$F_{\mu\nu}^{IJ} = [D_{\mu}, D_{\nu}]^{IJ}$$

= $\partial_{\mu}A_{\nu}^{IJ} - \partial_{\nu}A_{\mu}^{IJ} + A_{\mu K}^{I}A_{\nu}^{KJ} - A_{\nu K}^{I}A_{\nu}^{KJ}$
= $\partial_{\mu}A_{\nu}^{IJ} - \partial_{\nu}A_{\mu}^{IJ} + [A_{\mu}, A_{\nu}]^{IJ}$. (2.6)

I want to define a general affine connection with the help of the spin connection. The simplest way is to define the connection as

$$\Gamma^{\alpha}_{\ \mu\nu} = A^I_{\mu I} e^J_{\nu} e^{\alpha}_I \,. \tag{2.7}$$

The action of the corresponding covariant derivative is given by

$$\nabla_{\mu}v^{\nu} = \partial_{\mu}v^{\nu} + \Gamma^{\nu}{}_{\mu\alpha}v^{\alpha}$$
$$= \partial_{\mu}v^{\nu} + A^{I}_{\mu J}e^{J}_{\alpha}e^{\nu}_{I}v^{\alpha}.$$
(2.8)

But there is a problem with the definition of the affine connection given by Eq. (2.7): the corresponding covariant derivative is not metric compatible.

$$\nabla_{\alpha}g_{\mu\nu} = \partial_{\alpha}g_{\mu\nu} - \Gamma^{\beta}_{\ \alpha\mu}g_{\beta\nu} - \Gamma^{\beta}_{\ \alpha\nu}g_{\mu\beta}
= \eta_{IJ}\partial_{\alpha}(e^{I}_{\mu}e^{J}_{\nu}) - A^{I}_{\alpha J}\eta_{IL}e^{J}_{\mu}e^{L}_{\nu} - A^{I}_{\alpha J}\eta_{\kappa I}e^{J}_{\nu}e^{K}_{\mu}
= \eta_{IJ}\partial_{\alpha}(e^{I}_{\mu}e^{J}_{\nu}) - A^{IJ}_{\alpha}e_{J\mu}e_{I\nu} - A^{IJ}_{\alpha}e_{J\nu}e_{I\mu}
= \eta_{IJ}\partial_{\alpha}(e^{I}_{\mu}e^{J}_{\nu}).$$
(2.9)

Here I have used the antisymmetry of the spin connection in the internal indices. In order to make the covariant derivative metric compatible, the definition of the affine connection needs to be modified as

$$\Gamma^{\alpha}_{\ \mu\nu} = e^{\alpha}_{I}\partial_{\mu}e^{I}_{\nu} + A^{I}_{\mu J}e^{J}_{\nu}e^{\alpha}_{I}.$$
(2.10)

The covariant derivative is to be now understood as

$$\nabla_{\mu}v^{\nu} = \partial_{\mu}v^{\nu} + \Gamma^{\nu}{}_{\mu\alpha}v^{\alpha}$$
$$= \partial_{\mu}v^{\nu} + v^{\alpha}e^{\nu}_{I}\partial_{\mu}e^{I}_{\alpha} + A^{I}{}_{\mu J}e^{J}_{\alpha}e^{\nu}_{I}v^{\alpha}.$$
(2.11)

This is a metric-compatible connection, as we see from the following calculation,

$$\nabla_{\alpha}g_{\mu\nu} = \partial_{\alpha}g_{\mu\nu} - \Gamma^{\beta}_{\ \alpha\mu}g_{\beta\nu} - \Gamma^{\beta}_{\ \alpha\nu}g_{\mu\beta}$$

= $\eta_{IJ}\partial_{\alpha}(e^{I}_{\mu}e^{J}_{\nu}) - \eta_{IJ}e^{J}_{\nu}\partial_{\alpha}e^{I}_{\mu} - \eta_{IJ}e^{I}_{\mu}\partial_{\alpha}e^{J}_{\nu} - A^{I}_{\alpha J}\eta_{IL}e^{J}_{\mu}e^{L}_{\nu} - A^{I}_{\alpha J}\eta_{KI}e^{J}_{\nu}e^{K}_{\mu} = 0.$
(2.12)

I would like to mention here that the definition of the affine connection given in Eq. (2.10) is same as the so called *tetrad postulate* [17]. In order to see this I need to define a covariant derivative $\bar{\nabla}$ such that its action on a general field P^I_{μ} is given by

$$\bar{\nabla}_{\mu}P_{\nu}^{I} = \partial_{\mu}P_{\nu}^{I} - \Gamma^{\alpha}_{\ \mu\nu}P_{\alpha}^{I} + A^{I}_{\mu J}P_{\nu}^{J}.$$

$$(2.13)$$

In tetrad postulate the covariant derivative ∇ is considered to be compatible with tetrad i.e.,

$$0 = \nabla_{\mu} e_{\nu}^{I} = \partial_{\mu} e_{\nu}^{I} - \Gamma^{\alpha}{}_{\mu\nu} e_{\alpha}^{I} + A^{I}_{\mu J} e_{\nu}^{J}.$$
(2.14)

It is analogous to metric compatibility of the Levi-Civita connection $\widehat{\nabla}$. Upon contraction with e_I^{α} , the above equation becomes same Eq. (2.10). I will however not use the definition of the covariant derivative given by Eq. (2.13) in my calculations.

The important point to note here is that Γ is not necessarily symmetric here. This implies that unlike in General Relativity, we do not have torsion free condition a priori. In terms of the tetrads and the spin connection, the torsion tensor is given by

$$C^{\alpha}_{\ \mu\nu} \equiv \Gamma^{\alpha}_{\ \mu\nu]} - \Gamma^{\alpha}_{\ \nu\mu]} = e^{\alpha}_{I} \partial_{\mu} e^{I}_{\nu} + A^{I}_{\mu I} e^{J}_{\nu} e^{\alpha}_{I} - e^{\alpha}_{I} \partial_{\nu} e^{I}_{\mu} + A^{I}_{\nu J} e^{J}_{\mu} e^{\alpha}_{I} .$$
(2.15)

This formalism is thus Palatini formalism where the metric and connection are taken to be independent variables and torsion is determined by on-shell equations. In case of minimally coupled bosonic fields, torsion vanishes on-shell thereby implying the equivalence of vierbein-Einstein-Palatini and metric formalism of General Relativity. So one could ask why at all we need the tetrads and the spin connection we could instead just proceed with a general affine connection independent of the metric. The importance of defining a spin connection is understood when there are fermionic fields in curved spacetime as we will see later.

I will calculate the Riemann tensor corresponding to the affine connection Γ using the usual expression

$$R^{\rho}_{\ \sigma\mu\nu} = \partial_{\mu}\Gamma^{\rho}_{\ \sigma\nu} - \partial_{\nu}\Gamma^{\rho}_{\ \sigma\mu} + \Gamma^{\rho}_{\ \mu\alpha}\Gamma^{\alpha}_{\ \nu\sigma} - \Gamma^{\rho}_{\ \nu\alpha}\Gamma^{\alpha}_{\ \mu\sigma}.$$
(2.16)

In terms of the tetrads and the spin connection, the Riemann tensor is given by

$$R^{\rho}_{\sigma\mu\nu} = F^{I}_{\mu\nu J} e^{\rho}_{I} e^{J}_{\sigma}, \qquad (2.17)$$

from which the Ricci tensor and Ricci scalar are obtained respectively as

$$R_{\sigma\nu} = F^I_{\mu\nu J} e^{\mu}_I e^J_{\sigma} , \qquad (2.18)$$

$$R = F_{\mu\nu}^{IJ} e_I^{\mu} e_J^{\nu} \,. \tag{2.19}$$

The vierbein-Einstein-Palatini action is the Einstein-Hilbert action for gravity where one replaces the Ricci scalar by Eq. (2.19), and the metric determinant by that of tetrads,

$$S[e, A] = \frac{1}{2\kappa} \int_{\mathcal{M}} |e| d^4 x \, F^{IJ}_{\mu\nu} e^{\mu}_I e^{\nu}_J \,, \tag{2.20}$$

where, $\kappa = 8\pi G$. It should be noted that although constructed from the Einstein-Hilbert action, the vierbein-Einstein-Palatini action is not same as the Einstein-Hilbert action. This is because in the Einstein-Hilbert action the only variable is the metric tensor and as a result it is of second order in derivatives. The vierbein-Einstein-Palatini action is first order in derivatives until the connection has been solved and substituted.

This action is first extremised under variations of the vierbein e_I^{μ} , keeping $A_{\mu J}^{I}$ fixed. Variation of the determinant gives

$$\delta|e| = -|e|e_{\mu}^{I}\delta e_{I}^{\mu}. \tag{2.21}$$

Using the antisymmetry of $F_{\mu\nu}^{IJ}$, I can then derive the field equations quite easily,

$$2F_{\lambda\nu}^{IJ}e_{I}^{\lambda} - e_{\nu}^{J}F_{\rho\sigma}^{KL}e_{K}^{\rho}e_{L}^{\sigma} = 0.$$

$$(2.22)$$

Contracting with $e_{\mu J}$ and using Eq. (2.18) produces the familiar form

$$R_{\mu\nu} - \frac{1}{2}g_{\mu\nu}R = 0.$$
 (2.23)

This equation would be the vacuum Einstein's equation if I could show that ∇ is torsion free, i. e., if $\Gamma^{\alpha}_{\mu\nu}$ is symmetric in μ, ν . For this purpose, I vary the action of Eq. (2.20) again, but this time with respect to the spin connection $A^{I}_{\mu J}$, keeping the vierbein fixed. To do this I first simplify the action using the antisymmetry of the spin connection,

$$S[e, A] = \int |e| d^4x \left(\partial_\mu A_\nu^{IJ} (e_I^\mu e_J^\nu - e_J^\mu e_I^\nu) + [A_\mu, A_\nu]^{IJ} e_I^\mu e_J^\nu \right) \,. \tag{2.24}$$

Variation with respect to A_{ν}^{IJ} produces the equation

$$-e_{K}^{\alpha}\partial_{\mu}e_{\alpha}^{K}(e_{I}^{\mu}e_{J}^{\nu}-e_{J}^{\mu}e_{I}^{\nu})-e_{J}^{\nu}\partial_{\mu}e_{I}^{\mu}+e_{I}^{\nu}\partial_{\mu}e_{J}^{\mu}-e_{I}^{\mu}\partial_{\mu}e_{J}^{\nu}+e_{J}^{\mu}\partial_{\mu}e_{I}^{\nu}$$
$$+A_{\mu I}^{K}e_{K}^{\mu}e_{J}^{\nu}-A_{\mu J}^{K}e_{K}^{\mu}e_{I}^{\nu}-A_{\mu I}^{K}e_{J}^{\mu}e_{K}^{\nu}+A_{\mu J}^{K}e_{I}^{\mu}e_{K}^{\nu}=0.$$
(2.25)

In order to solve this equation for the spin connection, first I contract it with $e_{\nu L}$ and then take trace in *LJ*. This helps to evaluate the term $A_{\mu I}^{K} e_{K}^{\mu}$ a

$$A^K_{\mu I} e^\mu_K = \partial_\mu e^\mu_I + e^\mu_I e^\alpha_K \partial_\mu e^K_\alpha.$$
(2.26)

It is necessary to evaluate and then to get rid of $A_{\mu I}^{K} e_{K}^{\mu}$ from Eq. (2.25) because, otherwise I cannot remove e_{K}^{μ} from the term and solve for the spin connection. Substituting Eq. (2.26) in Eq. (2.25) gives

$$A_{\mu L I} e_J^{\mu} + A_{\mu J L} e_I^{\mu} = e_{\nu L} e_J^{\mu} \partial_{\mu} e_I^{\nu} - e_{\nu L} e_I^{\mu} \partial_{\mu} e_J^{\nu}.$$
(2.27)

Cyclic permutation in *IJL* and then contraction with suitable tetrad produces the following expression for the spin connection.

$$A^{IJ}_{\mu} \equiv \omega^{IJ}_{\mu} = \frac{1}{2} e_{\mu K} \left(\Theta^{KIJ} - \Theta^{IJK} - \Theta^{JKI} \right) , \qquad (2.28)$$

where for convenience I have defined the quantity Θ^{IJK} as

$$\Theta^{IJK} = e_{\nu}^{I} \left[e^{\mu J} \partial_{\mu} e^{K\nu} - e^{\mu K} \partial_{\mu} e^{\nu J} \right] .$$
(2.29)

Eq. (2.28) is the the torsion-free spin connection and I have denoted it as ω_{μ}^{IJ} . I can calculate Γ by substituting this expression in Eq. (2.10) and see that

$$\Gamma^{\nu}_{\ \rho\lambda} = \Gamma^{\nu}_{\ \lambda\rho} \equiv \widehat{\Gamma}^{\nu}_{\ \lambda\rho} \,. \tag{2.30}$$

Thus I have recovered the Christoffel symbols on-shell and ∇ can thus be identified as the unique metric-compatible torsion-free connection on the spacetime. Although in usual General Relativity the torsion-free condition is imposed a priori, in the vierbein-Einstein-Palatini formalism only metric-compatibility follows from the definition of Γ ; the torsion-free condition comes from the equations of motion. Thus $R_{\mu\nu}$ in Eq. (2.23) can be replaced by $\hat{R}_{\mu\nu}$, and we see that even though I started with an independent connection, I have recovered General Relativity on-shell. Eq. (2.28) is the expression for the spin connection in the absence of matter, or more precisely in the absence of matter which couples to the spin connection. Thus, in vacuum the vierbein-Einstein-Palatini formalism is equivalent to General Relativity on-shell i. e., upon using the equation of motion of the spin connection. In the presence of matter the absence of torsion is not guaranteed. I will consider vierbein-Einstein-Palatini action with matter field to see this in more detail,

$$S_{Total} = \frac{1}{2\kappa} \int |e| \, d^4x \, F^{IJ}_{\mu\nu} e^{\mu}_I e^{\nu}_J + S_M \,. \tag{2.31}$$

Here the components of the spin connection $A^{I}_{\mu J}$ are again taken to be independent variables. The equation of motion, obtained by varying this action with respect to the tetrad, is

$$F^{IJ}_{\alpha\mu}e^{\alpha}_{I} - \frac{1}{2}e^{J}_{\mu}F^{KL}_{\alpha\beta}e^{\alpha}_{K}e^{\beta}_{L} = \kappa\Theta^{J}_{\mu}, \qquad (2.32)$$

where I have written

$$\Theta^{J}_{\mu} = -\frac{\delta S_{M}}{\delta e^{\mu}_{I}}.$$
(2.33)

After contraction with a suitable tetrad, I get the familiar form

$$R_{\mu\nu} - \frac{1}{2}g_{\mu\nu}R = \kappa \Theta_{\mu\nu}.$$
 (2.34)

It should be noted that $\Theta_{\mu\nu} = \Theta^J_{\mu} e_{J\nu}$ is not the usual energy-momentum tensor for the matter, because for $\Theta_{\mu\nu}$ to be energy-momentum tensor, the left hand side of the above equation must be symmetric and torsion-free. If the spin connection couples to matter, the right hand side of Eq. (2.25) will not vanish and in general, the connection will be given as

$$A_{\mu}^{IJ} = \omega_{\mu}^{IJ} + \Lambda_{\mu}^{IJ} \,, \tag{2.35}$$

where Λ_{μ}^{IJ} corresponds to the contorsion tensor defined in Eq. (1.17) characterises the torsion part of the connection. It should be noted that the Λ term in the equation above comes from the coupling of the spin connection to the matter field considered. As a result this term will always be suppressed by κ . This will be clear once I consider specific fields. I will now discuss how Λ relates to torsion. In terms of Λ , the torsion tensor of Eq. (2.15) can be written as

$$C^{\alpha}_{\ \mu\nu} = \Lambda^{I}_{\mu J} e^{J}_{\nu} e^{\alpha}_{I} - \Lambda^{I}_{\nu J} e^{J}_{\mu} e^{\alpha}_{I} .$$
(2.36)

Using Eq (2.35) and Eq. (1.17), we see that Λ plays the role of contorsion tensor in the vierbein-Einstein-Palatini formalism,

$$S^{\alpha}_{\ \mu\nu} = -\Lambda^I_{\mu J} e^J_{\nu} e^{\alpha}_I \,. \tag{2.37}$$

We will see later that it is the contorsion tensor that couples to spinors, ultimately leading to non-zero torsion [12].

I will discuss how the proper energy-momentum tensor can be obtained on the right hand side of Eq. (2.34). First I need to use the expression of the spin connection given by Eq. (2.35) in Eq. (2.34) and then move all the terms involving Λ to the right hand side. The resulting equation is obtained as

$$\widehat{R}_{\mu\nu} - \frac{1}{2}g_{\mu\nu}\widehat{R} = \kappa\widehat{T}_{\mu\nu} + \mathcal{O}(\kappa^2) + \cdots, \qquad (2.38)$$

where quantities with a hat ' $\hat{}$ ' over them are constructed with the torsion-free connection, as before. $\hat{T}_{\mu\nu}$ is the symmetric and conserved energy momentum tensor and higher order terms are contributions due to dynamically generated torsion. The conservation of the energy-momentum tensor is to be understood in terms of the torsion-free Levi-Civita connection. The procedure for obtaining a symmetric energy-momentum tensor of the spinor field, in particular, was discussed in [12].

I will also discuss the tetrad-only (or simply tetrad) formalism where we have the torsion-free condition a priori. This is thus identical to General Relativity.

2.1 TETRAD FORMULATION OF GENERAL RELATIVITY

In order to recover usual General Relativity from the vierbein-Einstein-Palatini formalism, one needs to work with the torsion-free spin connection ω .

$$(D_{\mu}S)^{I} = \partial_{\mu}S^{I} + \omega^{I}_{\mu I}S^{J}, \qquad (2.39)$$

where $\omega_{\mu J}^{I}$ is the torsion-free spin connection of Eq. (2.28). To identify the tetrad formulation with General Relativity, the Christoffel symbols of the metric formalism are written using the vierbein and spin connection

$$\widehat{\Gamma}^{\alpha}_{\ \mu\nu} = e^{\alpha}_{I} \partial_{\mu} e^{I}_{\nu} + \omega^{I}_{\mu J} e^{J}_{\nu} e^{\alpha}_{I} \,. \tag{2.40}$$

Metric compatibility of the corresponding Levi-Civita connection helps to express ω in terms of tetrads as given in Eq. (2.28).

As before, I can calculate the Riemann tensor, Ricci tensor and Ricci scalar by successive contraction with the vierbein,

$$\widehat{R}^{\rho}_{\sigma\mu\nu} = \widehat{F}^{I}_{\mu\nu J} e^{\rho}_{I} e^{J}_{\sigma}, \qquad (2.41)$$

$$\widehat{R}_{\sigma\nu} = \widehat{F}^{I}_{\mu\nu I} e^{\mu}_{I} e^{J}_{\sigma}, \qquad (2.42)$$

$$\widehat{R} = \widehat{F}^{IJ}_{\mu\nu} e^{\mu}_{I} e^{\nu}_{J} \,. \tag{2.43}$$

Here $\hat{F}^{IJ}_{\mu\nu}$ is the curvature of the connection *D*. Here Riemann tensor satisfies all the symmetries and identities as it does in General Relativity. The tetrad action for gravity is the Einstein-Hilbert action in which the Ricci scalar has been replaced by Eq. (2.19), and the metric determinant by that of tetrads,

$$S_{tetrad}[e] = \frac{1}{2\kappa} \int |e| d^4 x \, \widehat{F}^{IJ}_{\mu\nu} e^{\mu}_I e^{\nu}_J \,. \tag{2.44}$$

Variation of the action with respect to the tetrads produces the equation

$$2\widehat{F}_{\lambda\nu}^{IJ}e_{I}^{\lambda} - e_{\nu}^{J}\widehat{F}_{\rho\sigma}^{KL}e_{K}^{\rho}e_{L}^{\sigma} = 0.$$
(2.45)

Contracting with $e_{\mu J}$, and using Eq. (2.18), I get the familiar form

$$\widehat{R}_{\mu\nu} - \frac{1}{2}g_{\mu\nu}\widehat{R} = 0.$$
(2.46)

If I include matter fields, the tetrad action reads

$$S_{Total} = \frac{1}{2\kappa} \int |e| \, d^4x \, \hat{F}^{IJ}_{\mu\nu} e^{\mu}_I e^{\nu}_J + S_M \,, \tag{2.47}$$

where $S_M = \int |e| d^4x \mathcal{L}_M$ is the action for any matter field present. The equation of motion obtained by variation with respect to the tetrad is thus

$$\widehat{F}^{IJ}_{\alpha\mu}e^{\alpha}_{I} - \frac{1}{2}e^{J}_{\mu}\widehat{F}^{KL}_{\alpha\beta}e^{\alpha}_{K}e^{\beta}_{L} = \kappa\widehat{T}_{\mu\alpha}e^{\alpha J}, \qquad (2.48)$$

where $\widehat{T}_{\mu\alpha}$ is the usual energy-momentum tensor for the matter. As before, I can contract this equation with the tetrad to obtain the familiar form, $\hat{G}_{\mu\nu} = \kappa \hat{T}_{\mu\nu}$.

MATTER FIELDS

In this chapter, I will consider different matter fields in the vierbein-Einstein-Palatini formalism. I will demonstrate that for bosonic fields, torsion either vanishes on-shell or it is taken to be zero a priori for the sake of gauge symmetry. In such cases one can proceed with a torsion-free tetrad formalism identical to General Relativity. But we will see that in case of fermionic field, torsion has effects on the Einstein's equation as well as the Dirac equation.

3.1 SCALAR FIELD

The total action with massless real scalar field is given by

$$S = S[e, A] - \frac{1}{2} \int |e| d^4 x \nabla_\mu \phi \nabla^\mu \phi , \qquad (3.1)$$

where S[e, A] is the vierbein-Einstein-Palatini action of Eq. (2.20). It should be noted that although I have written the derivative of the scalar field with ∇_{μ} , it is essentially the partial derivative ∂_{μ} . In other words it should not matter whether I take the derivative with torsion-free $\hat{\nabla}_{\mu}$, torsionful ∇_{μ} or ordinary partial derivative. The equation obtained by extremising the action with the scalar field is

$$\nabla_{\mu}\nabla^{\mu}\phi = 0. \tag{3.2}$$

Although the above equation contains the torsionful connection it is essentially the same as the equation with the torsion-free connection. I can break the kinetic term in the following way

$$\nabla_{\mu}\nabla^{\mu}\phi = \widehat{\nabla}_{\mu}\widehat{\nabla}^{\mu}\phi - S^{\mu}_{\ \alpha\mu}\nabla^{\alpha}\phi.$$
(3.3)

Recalling the expression for the contorsion tensor from Eq. (1.17), we see that the last term in the above expression vanishes because of the antisymmetry of the contorsion tensor in the first and last indices. Thus I can neglect torsion if I am dealing with minimally coupled scalar field alone. I will consider an interesting example of non-minimal scalar field in chapter 4 and see how it can potentially couple to torsion.

I will also extremise the action with respect to the tetrads to find out Einstein's equation. The equation is obtained as

$$2F^{IJ}_{\mu\nu}e^{\mu}_{I} - e^{J}_{\nu}F^{KL}_{\alpha\beta} = 2\kappa(e^{J\mu}\nabla_{\mu}\phi\nabla_{\nu}\phi - \frac{1}{2}e^{J}_{\nu}\nabla_{\alpha}\phi\nabla^{\alpha}\phi).$$
(3.4)

Upon contraction with suitable tetrad, the above equation can be written as

$$R_{\mu\nu} - \frac{1}{2}g_{\mu\nu}R = \kappa \left(\nabla_{\mu}\phi\nabla_{\nu}\phi - \frac{1}{2}g_{\mu\nu}\nabla_{\alpha}\phi\nabla^{\alpha}\phi\right), \qquad (3.5)$$

where I have used the definition of Ricci tensor and Ricci scalar from Eq. (2.18) and Eq. (2.19) respectively. Also, because the scalar Lagrangian does not contain the spin connection, variation of the total action with respect to it gives the torsion-free expression of the connection. I can thus identify the above equation with Einstein's equation in General Relativity with scalar field.

3.2 ELECTROMAGNETIC FIELD

Usually in the case Maxwell Lagrangian a torsionful connection is not considered and consequently there is no equation of motion for torsion. This is because a torsionful derivative breaks the gauge symmetry of electromagnetic field. I will consider the total action with em field to demonstrate this.

$$S = \frac{1}{2\kappa} \int |e| d^4 x F^{IJ}_{\mu\nu} e^{\nu}_I e^{\nu}_J - \frac{1}{4} \int e d^4 x F_{\mu\nu} F^{\mu\nu}.$$
(3.6)

Here,

$$F_{\mu\nu} = \nabla_{\mu}A_{\nu} - \nabla_{\nu}A_{\mu}, \tag{3.7}$$

Usually in differential form notation *F* is defined as F = dA. In case of torsion-free connection, dA can be written as in Eq. (3.7). But here ∇ is the connection that has torsion. Writing the affine connection as

$$\Gamma^{\alpha}_{\ \mu\nu} = \widehat{\Gamma}^{\alpha}_{\ \mu\nu} - S^{\alpha}_{\ \mu\nu}, \tag{3.8}$$

I get

$$F_{\mu\nu} = \widehat{\nabla}_{\mu}A_{\nu} - \widehat{\nabla}_{\nu}A_{\mu} - C^{\alpha}_{\ \mu\nu}A_{\alpha}, \tag{3.9}$$

with $S^{\alpha}_{\mu\nu}$ being the contorsion tensor. In the above expression of the field tensor only the antisymmetric part of contorsion appears because the symmetric part cancels out. I will denote the torsion-free part of the field tensor as

$$\widehat{F}_{\mu\nu} = \widehat{\nabla}_{\mu}A_{\nu} - \widehat{\nabla}_{\nu}A_{\mu}, \tag{3.10}$$

which is same as $\partial_{\mu}A_{\nu} - \partial_{\nu}A_{\mu}$. The total action now becomes

$$S = \frac{1}{2\kappa} \int |e| d^4 x F^{IJ}_{\mu\nu} e^{\mu}_I e^{\nu}_J - \frac{1}{4} \int |e| d^4 x \widehat{F}_{\mu\nu} \widehat{F}^{\mu\nu} + \frac{1}{2} \int |e| d^4 x \widehat{F}^{\mu\nu} C^{\alpha}_{\ \mu\nu} A_{\alpha} - \frac{1}{4} \int |e| d^4 x C^{\alpha}_{\ \mu\nu} C^{\beta\mu\nu} A_{\alpha} A_{\beta}.$$
(3.11)

The point to note here is that the Lagrangian of electromagnetic field in the above action is not gauge invariant because of the last two terms. Thus torsion breaks gauge symmetry of the field.

It is apparent from the above that for the case of bosonic fields, torsion either does not have any effect on the field equation or it is not considered for the sake of preserving gauge symmetry. In these cases I can assume the torsion-free condition a priori where the spin connection is written completely in terms of the tetrads similar to the Christoffel symbols in General Relativity. I am thus working in the tetrad formulation of General Relativity as discussed in chapter 1.

3.3 FERMIONIC FIELD

For fermions, I will consider both tetrad formulation and vierbein-Einstein-Palatini formalism. First I will discuss fermionic fields in the torsion-free tetrad formulation.

Next I will consider the vierbein-Einstein-Palatini formalism and compare the equations with those in the tetrad formulation. We will see how inclusion of torsion gives rise to extra terms in the equations.

3.3.1 Fermionic field in tetrad formalism

The advantage of having the spin connection is that I can write an action for fermionic fields in curved spacetime. The γ -matrices are defined on the flat internal space and then brought to the spacetime using tetrads, while the covariant derivative on the fermionic field is defined in terms of the spin connection. In general, the spin connection is treated as an independent variable while considering the fermionic field [10–12, 18]. I will discuss this in Sec. 4.2. When I restrict to the torsion-free case however, the connection is not a free variable, but ω_{μ}^{IJ} of Eq. (2.28). The total action of gravity with a minimally coupled fermion in this case is written as [18]

$$S[e, A, \psi] = \frac{1}{2\kappa} S_{tetrad}[e] + \int |e| d^4x \left[\frac{i}{2} \left(\bar{\psi} \gamma^K e_K^{\mu} \,\,^{\psi} \widehat{D}_{\mu} \psi - (\bar{\psi} \gamma^K e_K^{\mu} \,\,^{\psi} \widehat{D}_{\mu} \psi)^{\dagger} \right) + im \bar{\psi} \psi \right]$$
(3.12)

where $S_{tetrad}[e]$ is the gravity action given in Eq. (2.44). The covariant derivative ${}^{\psi}\widehat{D}_{\mu}$ acts on the spinor ψ as

$${}^{\psi}\widehat{D}_{\mu}\psi = \partial_{\mu}\psi - \frac{i}{4}\omega_{\mu}^{IJ}\sigma_{IJ}\psi, \qquad (3.13)$$

where $\sigma_{IJ} = \frac{i}{2} [\gamma_I, \gamma_J]$.

I will calculate the second term in the fermionic Lagrangian

$$\begin{aligned} (\bar{\psi}\gamma^{K}e_{K}^{\mu} \ \psi \widehat{D}_{\mu}\psi)^{\dagger} \\ &= (\bar{\psi}\gamma^{K}\partial_{\mu}\psi)^{\dagger}e_{K}^{\mu} + \frac{i}{4}\omega_{\mu}^{IJ}e^{\mu K}(\bar{\psi}\gamma_{K}\sigma_{IJ}\psi)^{\dagger} \\ &= \partial_{\mu}\psi^{\dagger}\gamma^{K^{\dagger}}\gamma_{0}^{\dagger}\psi + \frac{i}{4}\omega_{\mu}^{IJ}e^{\mu K}\psi^{\dagger}\sigma_{IJ}^{\dagger}\gamma_{K}^{\dagger}\gamma_{0}^{\dagger}\psi \\ &= \partial_{\mu}\bar{\psi}\gamma^{K}e_{K}^{\mu}\psi + \frac{i}{4}\omega_{\mu}^{IJ}e^{\mu K}\bar{\psi}\sigma_{IJ}\gamma_{K}\psi. \end{aligned}$$
(3.14)
Here I have used the properties of γ and σ -matrices from Appendix D. The fermionic Lagrangian can thus be written as

$$\mathcal{L}_{F} = \frac{i}{2} \left(\bar{\psi} \gamma^{K} e^{\mu}_{K} \partial_{\mu} \psi - \partial_{\mu} \bar{\psi} \gamma^{K} e^{\mu}_{K} \psi - \frac{i}{4} \omega^{IJ}_{\mu} e^{\mu K} \bar{\psi} \{ \gamma_{K}, \sigma_{IJ} \} \psi \right) + i m \bar{\psi} \psi.$$
(3.15)

The γ and σ matrices carry internal flat space indices and have the properties for metric signature (- + + +). It should be noted here that for the choice of signature (+ - -), which is popular in quantum field theory, γ needs to replace by $-i\gamma$ in all of these expressions (see Appendix D).

Extremising the action of Eq. (3.12) with respect to the tetrad and the fermion, the equations of motion are obtained as

$$\delta e_{J}^{\nu}: \hat{R}_{\mu\nu} - \frac{1}{2}g_{\mu\nu}\hat{R} = \kappa \hat{T}_{\mu\nu}(\psi, \bar{\psi}), \qquad (3.16a)$$

$$\delta \bar{\psi}: 2\gamma^{K} e_{K}^{\mu} \partial_{\mu} \psi + e_{I}^{\alpha} \partial_{\mu} e_{\alpha}^{I} \gamma^{K} e_{K}^{\mu} \psi + \partial_{\mu} e_{K}^{\mu} \gamma^{K} \psi - \frac{i}{4} \omega_{\mu}^{IJ} e^{\mu K} \{\gamma_{K}, \sigma_{IJ}\} \psi + m\psi = 0. \qquad (3.16b)$$

In addition, by varying ψ I get an equation which is the adjoint of Eq. (3.16b). Here $\hat{T}_{\mu\nu}(\psi, \bar{\psi})$ is the symmetric and conserved energy-momentum tensor of the fermionic field,

$$\widehat{T}_{\mu\nu}(\psi,\bar{\psi}) = \frac{i}{4} \left[(\partial_{\mu}\bar{\psi})\gamma_{I}\psi e_{\nu}^{I} - \bar{\psi}\gamma_{I}(\partial_{\mu}\psi)e_{\nu}^{I} + \frac{i}{4}\omega_{\mu}^{IJ}e_{\nu}^{K}\bar{\psi}\{\gamma_{K},\sigma_{IJ}\}\psi + (\mu\leftrightarrow\nu) \right] + img_{\mu\nu}\bar{\psi}\psi.$$
(3.17)

It should be noted that for obtaining the above expression for $\hat{T}_{\mu\nu}$, I have also varied the spin connection ω_{μ}^{IJ} with respect to tetrads. In fact the terms that come from the variation of the spin connection, along with Eq. (3.16b), give the symmetric form of $\hat{T}_{\mu\nu}$. Eq. (3.16b) is the Dirac equation in torsion-free curved spacetime. I can cast the Dirac equation in a familiar form by using the expression for ω_{μ}^{IJ} of Eq. (2.28),

$$\gamma^{K} e_{K}^{\mu} \, \psi \widehat{D}_{\mu} \psi + m \psi = 0. \tag{3.18}$$

3.3.2 Fermionic field in vierbein-Einstein-Palatini formalism

In the tetrad formulation we saw how one can write fermions in gravity or more specifically torsion-free gravity. In the vierbein-Einstein-Palatini formalism fermionic field becomes more interesting because of its ability to couple to torsion. I will consider the action to see this in detail.

$$S[e, A, \phi, \psi] = S[e, A] + \int |e| d^4x \left[\frac{i}{2} \left(\bar{\psi} \gamma^K e_K^{\mu} \,^{\psi} D_{\mu} \psi - (\bar{\psi} \gamma^K e_K^{\mu} \,^{\psi} D_{\mu} \psi)^{\dagger} \right) + im \bar{\psi} \psi \right],$$
(3.19)

where, the derivative ${}^{\psi}D$ acts on the spinor ψ via the spin connection *A* ,

$${}^{\psi}D_{\mu}\psi = \partial_{\mu}\psi - \frac{i}{4}A^{IJ}_{\mu}\sigma_{IJ}\psi.$$
(3.20)

As before, the fermionic Lagrangian can be written in the following manner,

$$\mathcal{L}_{F} = \frac{i}{2} \left(\bar{\psi} \gamma^{K} e_{K}^{\mu} \partial_{\mu} \psi - \partial_{\mu} \bar{\psi} \gamma^{K} e_{K}^{\mu} \psi - \frac{i}{4} A_{\mu}^{IJ} e^{\mu K} \bar{\psi} \{ \gamma_{K}, \sigma_{IJ} \} \psi \right) + i m \bar{\psi} \psi.$$
(3.21)

Extremising the action with respect to the different variables produces the following equations.

$$\delta e_J^{\nu} : R_{\mu\nu} - \frac{1}{2} g_{\mu\nu} R = \frac{i\kappa}{2} \left[(\partial_{\nu} \bar{\psi}) \gamma_I \psi e_{\mu}^I - \bar{\psi} \gamma_I (\partial_{\nu} \psi) e_{\mu}^I + \frac{i}{4} A_{\nu}^{IJ} e_{\mu}^K \bar{\psi} \{ \gamma_K, \sigma_{IJ} \} \psi \right] + i\kappa m g_{\mu\nu} \bar{\psi} \psi , \qquad (3.22a)$$

$$\delta A_{\nu}^{IJ} : A_{\mu}^{IJ} = \omega_{\mu}^{IJ}[e] + \frac{\kappa}{8} \bar{\psi} \{\gamma_{K}, \sigma^{IJ}\} \psi e_{\mu}^{K}, \qquad (3.22b)$$

$$\delta \bar{\psi} : 2\gamma_{\kappa}^{K} e^{\mu} \partial_{\mu} \psi + e^{\alpha} \partial_{\mu} e^{I} \gamma_{\kappa}^{K} e^{\mu} \psi + \partial_{\mu} e^{\mu} \gamma_{\kappa}^{K} \psi - \frac{i}{2} A^{IJ} e^{\mu K} \{\gamma_{K}, \sigma_{M}\} \psi + m\psi = 0$$

$$\delta\bar{\psi}: 2\gamma^{K}e_{K}^{\mu}\partial_{\mu}\psi + e_{I}^{\alpha}\partial_{\mu}e_{\alpha}^{I}\gamma^{K}e_{K}^{\mu}\psi + \partial_{\mu}e_{K}^{\mu}\gamma^{K}\psi - \frac{i}{4}A_{\mu}^{IJ}e^{\mu K}\{\gamma_{K},\sigma_{IJ}\}\psi + m\psi = 0.$$
(3.22c)

I can simplify Eq. (3.22c) by using identities of γ and σ matrices; and the definition of torsion in Eq. (2.15),

$$\gamma^{K} e_{K}^{\mu} \partial_{\mu} \psi + \frac{1}{2} C^{\alpha}_{\ \mu\alpha} e_{K}^{\mu} \gamma^{K} \psi - \frac{i}{4} A_{\mu}^{IJ} e^{\mu K} \gamma_{K} \sigma_{IJ} \psi + m \psi = 0.$$
(3.23)

Let us now see what happens to the above equation if I use the on-shell expression of the spin connection given by Eq. (3.22b). The first term in this expression is exactly the same as in Eq. (2.28). The last term has appeared due to the fermionic field. This term can be identified with the contorsion Λ_{μ}^{IJ} which was defined in Eq. (2.35),

$$\Lambda^{IJ}_{\mu} = \frac{\kappa}{8} \bar{\psi} \{\gamma_K, \sigma^{IJ}\} \psi e^K_{\mu}.$$
(3.24)

I can use the identity

$$\{\sigma^{IJ},\gamma^{K}\} = 2\epsilon^{IJKL}\gamma_{L}\gamma_{5}, \qquad (3.25)$$

to write Λ_{μ}^{IJ} as

$$\Lambda^{IJ}_{\mu} = \frac{\kappa}{4} \epsilon^{IJKL} \bar{\psi} \gamma_L \gamma_5 \psi e_{K\mu} \,. \tag{3.26}$$

This term results in the following non-vanishing expression for the on-shell torsion tensor:

$$^{OS}C^{\alpha}_{\ \mu\nu} = \frac{\kappa}{2}\epsilon^{IJKL}\bar{\psi}\gamma_L\gamma_5\psi e^{\alpha}_I e_{J\mu}e_{K\nu}.$$
(3.27)

Clearly, on-shell torsion, generated by a fermion source, is totally antisymmetric. If I identify the torsion tensor in Eq. (3.23) with on-shell torsion tensor, we can see that the second term in the equation goes away due to the total antisymmetry of the torsion tensor given by Eq. (3.27). Thus I am left with the equation

$$\gamma^{K} e_{K}^{\mu} \partial_{\mu} \psi - \frac{i}{4} A_{\mu}^{IJ} e^{\mu K} \gamma_{K} \sigma_{IJ} \psi + m \psi = 0$$
(3.28)

or simply

$$\gamma^{K} e_{K}^{\mu} {}^{\psi} D_{\mu} \psi + m \psi = 0.$$
(3.29)

This looks like the equation I obtained for fermionic field in tetrad formulation, but it is different in the sense that the spin connection, and thus the derivative, now contain non-zero torsion. If I now use Eq. (3.22b) for the on-shell expression of the spin connection, I get a nonlinear spinor equation with cubic term resulting from torsion, as has been noted in [12, 19],

$$\gamma^{K} e_{K}^{\mu} \partial_{\mu} \psi - \frac{i}{4} \omega_{\mu}^{IJ} e^{\mu K} \gamma_{K} \sigma_{IJ} \psi + m \psi - \frac{i\kappa}{64} \bar{\psi} \{\gamma_{K}, \sigma_{IJ}\} \psi \{\gamma^{K}, \sigma^{IJ}\} \psi = 0.$$
(3.30)

I will also use the on-shell expression of the spin connection given by Eq. (3.22b), and the Dirac equation of Eq. (3.22c) in Eq. (3.22a). After some lengthy but straightforward calculations I get the following equation.

$$\widehat{R}_{\mu\nu} - \frac{1}{2}g_{\mu\nu}\widehat{R} = \kappa \widehat{T}_{\mu\nu}(\psi,\bar{\psi}) - \frac{3\kappa^2}{16}g_{\mu\nu}\bar{\psi}\gamma_I\gamma_5\psi\bar{\psi}\gamma^I\gamma_5\psi.$$
(3.31)

Here, $\hat{T}_{\mu\nu}(\psi, \bar{\psi})$ is the symmetric and conserved energy-momentum that comes from a the torsion-free matter Lagrangian as obtained in Eq. (3.17), which comes from a torsion-free theory of gravity. I should mention how I have obtained this symmetric energy-momentum tensor. As we can see from Eq. (3.22a), in contrast to tetrad formalism, the right hand side does not contain the symmetric energy-momentum tensor. This is because the left hand side contains torsion components and is not symmetric either. The idea is to use the on-shell expression of Λ from Eq. (3.24) in the Einstein's equation. There are two ways I can proceed to obtain the symmetric energymomentum. The first way is to directly use the expression for Λ in the quantities on the left hand side of Eq. (3.22a). I find that the Ricci scalar part is not affected by this but the Ricci tensor breaks into symmetric and antisymmetric parts as

$$R_{\mu\nu} = \widehat{R}_{\mu\nu} + \frac{1}{2}(\Theta_{\mu\nu} - \Theta_{\nu\mu}), \qquad (3.32)$$

where I have denoted the $\mathcal{O}(\kappa)$ terms of the right hand side of Eq. (3.22a) as $\Theta_{\mu\nu}$. The antisymmetric part above, when taken to the right hand side, gives the symmetric energy-momentum tensor. The second way is to find the symmetric and antisymmetric components of Eq. (3.22a). In this case I can find the antisymmetric component directly. For the symmetric component of $R_{\mu\nu}$, I can show that it is the same as the Ricci tensor calculated from the torsion-free spin connection ω .

The conservation of $T_{\mu\nu}(\psi, \bar{\psi})$ is to be understood in terms of the torsion-free derivative operator $\hat{\nabla}$. The additional term of $\mathcal{O}(\kappa^2)$ has appeared due to torsion. Using generalised Fierz identities for the spinor field [20–22], I can write Einstein's equations as

$$\widehat{R}_{\mu\nu} - \frac{1}{2}g_{\mu\nu}\widehat{R} = \kappa \widehat{T}_{\mu\nu}(\psi,\bar{\psi}) - g_{\mu\nu}\frac{3\kappa^2}{16}\left((\bar{\psi}\gamma_5\psi)^2 - (\bar{\psi}\psi)^2\right) \,. \tag{3.33}$$

I will conclude this section with a discussion on the nonlinear Dirac Eq. (3.30). As already mentioned, the effect of torsion on the equation is realised through the cubic term. I can write an effective Lagrangian without torsion that gives me the same equa-

tion as obtained above. To do this I need to modify the torsion-free spinor Lagrangian of (3.15) with the addition of a quartic term as

$$\mathcal{L}_{F} = \frac{i}{2} \left(\bar{\psi} \gamma^{K} e^{\mu}_{K} \partial_{\mu} \psi - \partial_{\mu} \bar{\psi} \gamma^{K} e^{\mu}_{K} \psi - \frac{i}{4} \omega^{IJ}_{\mu} e^{\mu K} \bar{\psi} \{ \gamma_{K}, \sigma_{IJ} \} \psi - \frac{i \kappa}{64} \bar{\psi} \{ \gamma_{K}, \sigma_{IJ} \} \psi \bar{\psi} \{ \gamma^{K}, \sigma^{IJ} \} \psi \right) + i m \bar{\psi} \psi.$$
(3.34)

I can write the above Lagrangian in a better form using Fierz identities as

$$\mathcal{L}_{F} = \frac{i}{2} \left(\bar{\psi} \gamma^{K} e^{\mu}_{K} \partial_{\mu} \psi - \partial_{\mu} \bar{\psi} \gamma^{K} e^{\mu}_{K} \psi - \frac{i}{2} \epsilon_{IJKL} \omega^{IJ}_{\mu} e^{\mu K} \bar{\psi} \gamma^{L} \gamma_{5} \psi - \frac{3i\kappa}{8} \left((\bar{\psi} \gamma_{5} \psi)^{2} - (\bar{\psi} \psi)^{2} \right) \right) + im \bar{\psi} \psi.$$
(3.35)

This Lagrangian also produces the $O(\kappa^2)$ term appearing in the Einstein's equation. Also it gives the same nonlinear Dirac equation of (3.30).

3.3.3 Conservation of spinor current

In order to find the current conservation equation, first I need to obtain the equation of motion of $\bar{\psi}$. There are two ways to obtain the equation. I can either extremise the action with respect to ψ or take adjoint of the ψ -equation (3.28). Either way, the equation is obtained as

$$\partial_{\mu}\bar{\psi}\gamma^{K}e^{\mu}_{K} + \frac{i}{4}A^{IJ}_{\mu}e^{\mu K}\bar{\psi}\sigma_{IJ}\gamma_{K} - m\bar{\psi} = 0.$$
(3.36)

Now following the usual procedure of pre-multiplying Eq. (3.28) with $\bar{\psi}$, post-multiplying Eq. (3.36) with ψ and adding them together gives

$$\partial_{\mu}(\bar{\psi}\gamma^{K}\psi) + \frac{i}{4}A^{IJ}_{\mu}e^{\mu K}\bar{\psi}[\sigma_{IJ},\gamma_{K}]\psi = 0.$$
(3.37)

Now, using the expression for the commutator from Eq. (D.10) the above equation can be written as

$$e_{K}^{\mu}\partial_{\mu}(\bar{\psi}\gamma^{K}\psi) + \frac{i}{4}A_{\mu}^{IJ}e^{\mu K}\bar{\psi}2i(\eta_{JK}\gamma_{I} - \eta_{IK}\gamma_{J})\psi = 0$$

$$\Rightarrow e_{K}^{\mu}\partial_{\mu}(\bar{\psi}\gamma^{K}\psi) + A_{\mu}^{IJ}e_{I}^{\mu}\bar{\psi}\gamma_{J}\psi = 0$$

$$\Rightarrow \partial_{\mu}(\bar{\psi}\gamma^{K}e_{K}^{\mu}\psi) - \bar{\psi}\gamma^{K}\psi\partial_{\mu}e_{K}^{\mu} + A_{\mu}^{IJ}e_{I}^{\mu}\bar{\psi}\gamma_{J}\psi = 0$$

$$\Rightarrow \partial_{\mu}(\bar{\psi}\gamma^{K}e_{K}^{\mu}\psi) - \bar{\psi}\gamma^{L}\psi e_{L}^{\nu}e_{\nu}^{K}\partial_{\mu}e_{K}^{\mu} + A_{\mu}^{IJ}e_{I}^{\mu}e_{J\nu}e^{\nu K}\bar{\psi}\gamma_{K}\psi = 0$$

$$\Rightarrow \partial_{\mu}J^{\mu} + (e_{I}^{\mu}\partial_{\mu}e_{\nu}^{I} + A_{\mu}^{IJ}e_{I}^{\mu}e_{J\nu})J^{\nu} = 0$$

$$\Rightarrow \nabla_{\mu}J^{\mu} = 0, \qquad (3.38)$$

where, $J^{\mu} = e_I^{\mu} \bar{\psi} \gamma^I \psi$ is the spinor current in curved spacetime. In writing the last step, I have used the definition of Γ from Eq. (2.10). Although I have written the equation with torsionful derivative ∇ , it is same as the torsion-free derivative $\hat{\nabla}$. The reason for this is that it is a divergence equation where the effect of torsion vanishes by the same argument given in (3.1).

4

CONFORMAL TRANSFORMATION

In this chapter¹ I will investigate conformal transformations of the vierbeins and the spin connection. The motivation for this investigation is twofold. First, if the vierbein-Einstein-Palatini action is exactly equivalent to the second-order Einstein-Hilbert action of gravity, all matter fields should couple to gravity 'in the same way' in both formulations. More precisely, the corresponding stress-energy tensors for matter should be equivalent in the two formulations, and matter fields ought to transform in the same way in both the formulations. While this is a trivial issue for minimally coupled matter fields, it turns out that for non-minimally coupled fields, such as the conformally coupled scalar which I investigate here, the field equations behave differently under conformal transformations in the two formulations. The other motivation is to study the conformal transformation of spin connection, which is useful in studying the conformal properties of fermions propagating on a curved background. Since the spin connection has torsion components which couple to fermions, its behaviour under conformal transformations affects that of fermions.

I will consider different possibilities of how torsion is affected by conformal transformations. First I will discuss Nieh-Yan theory [23], in which torsion was considered to "play the role of gauge potential for the conformal transformation group." However, when torsion is taken to zero, this theory does not reduce to pure Einstein gravity, i.e., General Relativity based on pure Riemannian geometry. Next I will discuss a theory where torsion remains invariant under conformal transformations. I will show that Nieh-Yan theory and the one with invariant torsion correspond to two limits of a general transformation of the spin connection which interpolates between these two limits. I will also consider dynamically generated or on-shell torsion which is the expression for torsion obtained by solving the equation of motion. I will show that torsion, dy-

¹ The work reported here is based on the paper "Different types of torsion and their effect on the dynamics of fields", Subhasish Chakrabarty and Amitabha Lahiri, Eur. Phys. J. Plus 133, 6, 242 (2018).

namically generated by the Dirac field as in [12, 24], transforms homogeneously under conformal transformation. In other words, unlike in Nieh-Yan theory, on-shell torsion does not have any inhomogeneous conformal transformation. I will also discuss the possibility of on-shell torsion being generated by a conformal scalar field. However, for the scalar field, I will show that on-shell torsion indeed transforms inhomogeneously.

Conformal transformations were introduced by Weyl in an attempt to unify electromagnetism and general relativity [25], and have been useful in studying various properties of curved spacetimes [26]. Conformal transformations have been widely used in studying asymptotic flatness and initial value problem [27–31], propagation of massless fields on a gravitational background [32–40] and exact solutions [41–47]. Conformal invariance is required where scale-independence is fundamental to our understanding of the system. Conformal invariance is also important in the study of quantum field theory on curved spacetime [48–51]. It has been suggested that cosmology based on conformal gravity, or more specifically based on the Weyl tensor, can provide alternatives to the usual cosmologies with dark matter and cosmological constant [52, 53].

A conformal transformation is the scaling of the spacetime metric $g_{\mu\nu}$ with a strictly positive, smooth function Ω^2 ,

$$g_{\mu\nu} \to \Omega^2 g_{\mu\nu} \,. \tag{4.1}$$

In this nomenclature and related notational conventions, I have followed [27]. I should mention that some authors call this a Weyl transformation, reserving the name 'conformal transformations' for what are called 'conformal isometries' in [27] (for a discussion on the nomenclature, see [54]). A conformal isometry ϕ on a manifold M is a diffeomorphism $\phi : M \to M$ such that its action on the metric is given by $\phi^* g_{\mu\nu} = \Omega^2 g_{\mu\nu}$.

Conformal transformations alter lengths of spacetime intervals, but preserve angles. The conformally transformed spacetime and the original one have the same causal structure. Since Ω is a function of spacetime, the transformation of metric affects different entities like the Christoffel symbols, Riemann tensor and hence the Einstein-Hilbert action. For gauge fields in four dimensions, the matter action remains invariant under conformal transformation, while for other kinds of matter fields like the scalar, the

action needs to be modified. Conformal transformation of the metric transforms the Christoffel symbols as

$$\widehat{\Gamma}^{\alpha}{}_{\mu\nu} \to \widehat{\Gamma}^{\alpha}{}_{\mu\nu} + \delta^{\alpha}_{(\mu} \widehat{\nabla}_{\nu)} \ln \Omega - g_{\mu\nu} g^{\alpha\beta} \widehat{\nabla}_{\beta} \ln \Omega , \qquad (4.2)$$

where the symmetric combination is defined as $A_{(\alpha}B_{\beta)} = A_{\alpha}B_{\beta} + A_{\beta}B_{\alpha}$. The quantities which are defined using the torsion-free connection will be denoted with a hat ' $^{\prime}$ ' as in previous chapters. The transformation of torsion-free Ricci scalar can be written as

$$\widehat{R} \to \Omega^{-2} \{ \widehat{R} - 2(n-1)g^{\mu\nu} \widehat{\nabla}_{\mu} \widehat{\nabla}_{\nu} \ln \Omega - (n-1)(n-2)(\widehat{\nabla}_{\mu} \ln \Omega)(\widehat{\nabla}^{\mu} \ln \Omega) \}.$$
(4.3)

This is the general formula in *n* spacetime dimensions. In this chapter I will be concerned with the case where n = 4.

The equation of motion of massless scalar field,

$$\widehat{
abla}_{\mu}\widehat{
abla}^{\mu}\phi=0$$
 , (4.4)

is not invariant under conformal transformation. The remedy is to modify the equation with the addition of a non-minimal term,

$$\widehat{\nabla}_{\mu}\widehat{\nabla}^{\mu}\phi - \frac{1}{6}\widehat{R}\phi = 0.$$
(4.5)

The above equation can be obtained from the total action

$$S(\phi,g) = S_{EH}[g] - \int \sqrt{-g} \, d^4x \left[\frac{1}{2} g^{\mu\nu} \partial_\mu \phi \partial_\nu \phi + \frac{1}{12} \widehat{R} \phi^2 \right] \,, \tag{4.6}$$

where, $S_{EH}[g]$ is the Einstein-Hilbert action. This matter part of the action is invariant under the conformal transformation of Eq. (4.1) provided the scalar field transforms as

$$\phi \to \Omega^{-1}\phi \,. \tag{4.7}$$

Variation of the action with respect to the metric produces the energy-momentum tensor corresponding to the conformal scalar field, which now includes a part that depends on the geometry because of the $\hat{R}\phi^2$ term,

$$\widehat{T}_{\mu\nu} = \partial_{\mu}\phi\partial_{\nu}\phi - \frac{1}{2}g_{\mu\nu}g^{\alpha\beta}\partial_{\alpha}\phi\partial_{\beta}\phi + \frac{1}{6}\widehat{G}_{\mu\nu}\phi^{2} + \frac{1}{6}\left[g_{\mu\nu}\widehat{\nabla}_{\sigma}\widehat{\nabla}^{\sigma}\phi^{2} - \widehat{\nabla}_{\mu}\widehat{\nabla}_{\nu}\phi^{2}\right].$$
(4.8)

This $\hat{T}_{\mu\nu}$ is a conserved tensor as expected,

$$\widehat{\nabla}^{\mu}\widehat{T}_{\mu\nu} = 0. \tag{4.9}$$

In this chapter I will discuss the conformal transformation of the vierbein and the spin connection and investigate the conformal properties of the action and equations in the vierbein-Einstein-Palatini formalism. In Sec. 4.1, I will go through the basics of conformal transformation, conformally invariant massless scalar field and fermionic field in the tetrad formulation of General Relativity. I will consider massless fields because a mass term usually breaks conformal symmetry. In Sec. 4.2, I will investigate the conformal transformation of the vierbein and the spin connection. The spin connection is an independent variable at the level of action and thus its transformation remains indeterminate at this stage. It is however possible to make different choices of transformations without disturbing metric compatibility. In this respect I will discuss two such choices: one with inhomogeneously transforming torsion (Nieh-Yan theory) and other with invariant torsion which does not seem to have been discussed in literature before. In Sec. 4.3 I will consider the conformal properties of dynamically generated torsion which, in suitable limits, reduces to Nieh-Yan theory or invariant torsion.

4.1 CONFORMAL TRANSFORMATION IN TETRAD FORMULATION

In this section I will consider the conformal transformation of different entities in the torsion-free tetrad formulation. Because this formalism is equivalent to General Relativity, we can expect that fields and their actions will transform under conformal transformations in the same way in the tetrad formalism as they do in the usual metric formulation of General Relativity. The transformation of $g_{\mu\nu}$ suggests that the tetrads should transform in the following manner,

$$e^I_\mu \to \Omega e^I_\mu$$
, (4.10)

while the co-tetrads should transform as

$$e_I^{\mu} \to \Omega^{-1} e_I^{\mu} \,. \tag{4.11}$$

The conformal transformation of the spin connection, given by ω_{μ}^{IJ} of Eq. (2.28), can be found from the transformation of the vierbein alone,

$$\omega^{I}_{\mu J} \to \omega^{I}_{\mu J} + (e^{I}_{\mu} e^{\nu}_{J} - e_{\mu J} e^{\nu I}) \partial_{\nu} \ln \Omega \,. \tag{4.12}$$

It was argued in [55] that the above equation is the conformal transformation of the spin connection even in the presence of fermionic matter. We will however see in Sec. 4.3.2 that when the spin connection is treated as an independent variable, the above transformation may not be quite correct.

Eq. (4.12) leads to the following transformation of the Ricci scalar

$$\widehat{F}_{\mu\nu}^{IJ} e_I^{\mu} e_J^{\nu} \to \Omega^{-2} \left[\widehat{F}_{\mu\nu}^{IJ} e_I^{\mu} e_J^{\nu} - 6 \widehat{\nabla}_{\mu} \widehat{\nabla}^{\mu} \ln \Omega - 6 \left(\widehat{\nabla}_{\mu} \ln \Omega \right) \left(\widehat{\nabla}^{\mu} \ln \Omega \right) \right].$$
(4.13)

The covariant derivative here is to be understood as being written in terms of ω ,

$$\widehat{\nabla}_{\mu}V_{\nu} = \partial_{\mu}V_{\nu} - e_{I}^{\alpha}\partial_{\mu}e_{\nu}^{I}V_{\alpha} - \omega_{\mu}^{I}e_{\nu}^{J}e_{I}^{\alpha}V_{\alpha}.$$
(4.14)

This is the same torsion-free covariant derivative corresponding to the Christoffel symbols written in a different form.

4.1.1 Conformal scalar in tetrad formulation

I will consider the conformal scalar field in tetrad formulation in this section. In terms of tetrads the action of Eq. (4.6) can be written as

$$S[e, A, \phi] = S_{tetrad}[e, A] + \int |e| d^4 x \left[-\frac{1}{2} e^{\mu}_I e^{\nu I} \partial_{\mu} \phi \partial_{\nu} \phi - \frac{1}{12} \widehat{F}^{IJ}_{\mu\nu} e^{\mu}_I e^{\nu}_J \phi^2 \right] .$$
(4.15)

Extremising the action with respect to the independent variables produces the following equations of motion.

$$\delta e_J^{\nu}: \quad \widehat{R}_{\mu\nu} - \frac{1}{2}g_{\mu\nu}\widehat{R} = \kappa \widehat{T}_{\mu\nu}, \qquad (4.16a)$$

$$\delta\phi: \quad \widehat{\nabla}_{\mu}\widehat{\nabla}^{\mu}\phi - \frac{1}{6}\widehat{R}\phi = 0.$$
(4.16b)

Here I have contracted the equations with suitable tetrads to cast them in familiar forms as in General Relativity. $T_{\mu\nu}$ is the same conserved energy momentum tensor obtained in Eq. (4.8) using the metric formulation of General Relativity. The scalar field equation above is invariant under the conformal transformation of tetrads and ϕ . These results are expected as the tetrad formulation is nothing but General Relativity with different variables.

4.1.2 Conformal invariance of fermionic field in tetrad formulation

Let us recall the fermionic Lagrangian given in Eq. (3.15).

$$\mathcal{L}_{F} = \frac{i}{2} \left(\bar{\psi} \gamma^{K} e^{\mu}_{K} \partial_{\mu} \psi - \partial_{\mu} \bar{\psi} \gamma^{K} e^{\mu}_{K} \psi - \frac{i}{4} \omega^{IJ}_{\mu} e^{\mu K} \bar{\psi} \{ \gamma_{K}, \sigma_{IJ} \} \psi \right) .$$
(4.17)

The above Lagrangian transforms homogeneously with conformal weight of -4 under conformal transformation of tetrads, provided the fermionic field transforms as

$$(\psi, \bar{\psi}) \rightarrow \left(\Omega^{-\frac{3}{2}}\psi, \ \Omega^{-\frac{3}{2}}\bar{\psi}\right).$$
 (4.18)

The covariance of the Lagrangian can be seen by noting that the inhomogeneous transformations of the first two terms cancel out and for the last term involving connection,

$$\begin{split} \omega_{\mu}^{IJ} e^{\mu K} \bar{\psi} \{\gamma_{K}, \sigma_{IJ} \} \psi & \rightarrow \quad \Omega^{-4} \omega_{\mu}^{IJ} e^{\mu K} \bar{\psi} \{\gamma_{K}, \sigma_{IJ} \} \\ & + \Omega^{-4} \left(e_{\mu}^{I} e^{\nu J} - e_{\mu}^{J} e^{\nu I} \right) \partial_{\nu} \ln \Omega \ e^{\mu K} \bar{\psi} \{\gamma_{K}, \sigma_{IJ} \} \psi \\ & = \quad \Omega^{-4} \omega_{\mu}^{IJ} e^{\mu K} \bar{\psi} \{\gamma_{K}, \sigma_{IJ} \} \\ & + \Omega^{-4} \left(\eta^{IK} e^{\nu J} - \eta^{JK} e^{\nu I} \right) \partial_{\nu} \ln \Omega \ \bar{\psi} \{\gamma_{K}, \sigma_{IJ} \} \psi \\ & = \quad \Omega^{-4} \omega_{\mu}^{IJ} e^{\mu K} \bar{\psi} \{\gamma_{K}, \sigma_{IJ} \} \\ & + 2 \ \Omega^{-4} e^{\nu J} \partial_{\nu} \ln \Omega \ \bar{\psi} \{\gamma_{I}, \sigma_{IJ} \} \psi \\ & = \quad \Omega^{-4} \omega_{\mu}^{IJ} e^{\mu K} \bar{\psi} \{\gamma_{K}, \sigma_{IJ} \} . \end{split}$$

$$(4.19)$$

In the last step above I have used $\{\gamma^{I}, \sigma_{IJ}\} = 0$ which can be easily verified using the properties of the γ and σ matrices given in Appendix D. I will also discuss the invariance of the Dirac equation in tetrad formulation given by Eq. 3.18 i.e.,

$$\gamma^{K} e^{\mu}_{K} {}^{\psi} \partial_{\mu} \psi - \frac{i}{4} \omega^{IJ}_{\mu} e^{\mu K} \{\gamma_{K}, \sigma_{IJ}\} \psi = 0.$$

$$(4.20)$$

Under conformal transformation the above equation goes to

$$\Omega^{-\frac{5}{2}} \left(\gamma^{K} e_{K}^{\mu} \,^{\psi} \partial_{\mu} \psi - \frac{i}{4} \omega_{\mu}^{IJ} e^{\mu K} \gamma_{K} \sigma_{IJ} \psi \right) - \Omega^{-\frac{5}{2}} \left(\frac{3}{2} \gamma^{K} e_{K}^{\mu} \psi \partial_{\mu} \ln \Omega - \frac{i}{2} e^{\nu J} \partial_{\nu} \ln \Omega \,\gamma^{I} \sigma_{IJ} \psi \right) = 0 \Rightarrow \Omega^{-\frac{5}{2}} \left(\gamma^{K} e_{K}^{\mu} \,^{\psi} \partial_{\mu} \psi - \frac{i}{4} \omega_{\mu}^{IJ} e^{\mu K} \gamma_{K} \sigma_{IJ} \psi \right) = 0 \Rightarrow \gamma^{K} e_{K}^{\mu} \,^{\psi} \partial_{\mu} \psi - \frac{i}{4} \omega_{\mu}^{IJ} e^{\mu K} \gamma_{K} \sigma_{IJ} \psi = 0.$$
(4.21)

Here I have used $\gamma^{I}\sigma_{IJ} = 3i\gamma_{J}$ which again can be verified using the properties of the γ and σ matrices given in Appendix D. The Dirac equation in tetrad formulation is thus invariant under conformal transformation.

In the tetrad formulation discussed above I have not considered torsion anywhere. Let us now go to a broader picture where the connection is not presumed to be torsionfree.

4.2 CONFORMAL TRANSFORMATION IN VIERBEIN-EINSTEIN-PALATINI FORMAL-ISM

I will investigate conformal transformations in the vierbein-Einstein-Palatini formalism in this section. Since the connection is treated an independent variable except when it is on-shell, its conformal properties need to be discussed in two different levels: off-shell and on-shell. By on-shell, I mean that the spin connection and torsion have been replaced by their expressions obtained from the equations of motion. I will discuss this in Sec. 4.3. At the level of the action however, the equations of motion cannot be used. Nevertheless, tetrads and co-tetrads are related to the metric and they transform in the same way as given in Eq. (4.10) and Eq. (4.11).

$$e^I_\mu \to \Omega e^I_\mu, \qquad e^\mu_I \to \Omega^{-1} e^\mu_I.$$
 (4.22)

For the spin connection A^{IJ}_{μ} , I do not know a priori how it transforms. To find its transformation properties, I will write the transformation of the affine connection $\Gamma^{\alpha}_{\mu\nu}$ in terms of the transformed tetrads and spin connection,

$$\Gamma^{\alpha}_{\ \mu\nu} \to \tilde{\Gamma}^{\alpha}_{\ \mu\nu} = \tilde{e}^{\alpha}_{I} \partial_{\mu} \tilde{e}^{I}_{\nu} + \tilde{A}^{I}_{\mu J} \tilde{e}^{J}_{\nu} \tilde{e}^{\alpha}_{I}$$
$$= \delta^{\alpha}_{\nu} \partial_{\mu} (\ln \Omega) + e^{\alpha}_{I} \partial_{\mu} e^{I}_{\nu} + \tilde{A}^{I}_{\mu J} e^{J}_{\nu} e^{\alpha}_{I}.$$
(4.23)

Here the transformed quantities have been denoted with a tilde above them. I can try to determine the transformation of $A^{I}_{\mu J}$ from this, by positing that the conformally transformed connection $\tilde{\nabla}$ is compatible with the transformed metric $\tilde{g}_{\mu\nu}$. Using Eq. (4.23), we see that

$$\begin{split} \tilde{\nabla}_{\mu}\tilde{g}_{\alpha\beta} &= \partial_{\mu}\tilde{g}_{\alpha\beta} - \tilde{\Gamma}^{\nu}{}_{\mu\alpha}\tilde{g}_{\nu\beta} - \tilde{\Gamma}^{\nu}{}_{\mu\beta}\tilde{g}_{\alpha\nu} \\ &= \partial_{\mu}(\Omega^{2}g_{\alpha\beta}) - 2\Omega^{2}\partial_{\mu}(\ln\Omega)g_{\alpha\beta} - \Omega^{2}(\partial_{\mu}e_{I(\alpha})e^{I}_{\beta)} - \Omega^{2}\tilde{A}^{IJ}_{\mu}(e_{J(\alpha}e_{\beta)I}) \\ &= 0. \end{split}$$

$$(4.24)$$

In the last equality I have used the orthonormality of the tetrads and the antisymmetry of the spin connection \tilde{A}^{IJ}_{μ} . Quite clearly, antisymmetry of \tilde{A}^{IJ}_{μ} in IJ is sufficient to guarantee metric compatibility. Therefore metric compatibility is not sufficient to determine the transformation of A, and only shows antisymmetry in the internal indices I, J. I am thus at liberty to choose the transformation of the spin connection as long as metricity is satisfied. However, the different possible choices are not guaranteed to reproduce behaviour of usual General Relativity even in the absence of torsion. I will now discuss a couple of such choices and consider matter fields to demonstrate how these choices affect their conformal properties.

4.2.1 Nieh-Yan theory

Nieh-Yan theory [23] involves one of the possible choices of conformal transformations of the spin connection. It should be noted that although the spin connection is an independent variable, I can always decompose it in terms of the torsion-free ω , which

is completely determined by the tetrads, and the contorsion tensor Λ as defined in Eq. (2.35),

$$A^{IJ}_{\mu} = \omega^{IJ}_{\mu} + \Lambda^{IJ}_{\mu}.$$
(4.25)

At the level of action λ_{μ}^{IJ} is independent of the tetrads. In order to find the conformal transformation of A_{μ}^{IJ} , it should be noted that ω_{μ}^{IJ} is defined completely in terms of the tetrads regardless of whether it is on-shell or off-shell, and its transformation is given by Eq. (4.12). The independent quantity in the connection is the contorsion component Λ_{μ}^{IJ} for which I do not know how it transforms off-shell. In other words, I do not have any information about torsion and its transformation. But as discussed above, I can make different choices about the conformal transformation of spin connection as long as metric compatibility is retained. The choice will dictate what physical results I get and also specify the transformation of torsion. The simplest choice in this regard was considered by the authors in [23]. They considered the spin connection to be invariant under conformal transformation,

$$A^{IJ}_{\mu} \to A^{IJ}_{\mu}. \tag{4.26}$$

Invariance of the spin connection implies that unlike in General Relativity, here the Riemann tensor and the Ricci tensor remain invariant, while the Ricci scalar transforms homogeneously,

$$R^{\rho}_{\sigma\mu\nu} = F^{I}_{\mu\nu J} e^{\rho}_{I} e^{J}_{\sigma} \to F^{I}_{\mu\nu J} e^{\rho}_{I} e^{J}_{\sigma} , \qquad (4.27)$$

$$R_{\mu\nu} = F^{I}_{\sigma\mu I} e^{\sigma}_{I} e^{J}_{\nu} \to F^{I}_{\sigma\mu J} e^{\sigma}_{I} e^{J}_{\nu} , \qquad (4.28)$$

$$R = F_{\mu\nu}^{IJ} e_I^{\mu} e_J^{\nu} \to \Omega^{-2} F_{\mu\nu}^{IJ} e_I^{\mu} e_J^{\nu}.$$
(4.29)

This is one of the advantages of Nieh-Yan theory, we have a conformally covariant theory of gravity. I will investigate further what the invariance of spin connection implies and how it fixes the transformation of the torsion tensor. It should be noted that in order for the spin connection A_{μ}^{IJ} of Eq. (4.25) to remain invariant, the transformation of contorsion part Λ must cancel that of the torsion-free part ω given by Eq. (4.12), i.e.,

$$\Lambda^{IJ}_{\mu} \to \Lambda^{IJ}_{\mu} - (e^{I}_{\mu}e^{\nu}_{J} - e_{\mu J}e^{\nu I})\partial_{\nu}\ln\Omega.$$
(4.30)

The transformation of torsion tensor, which is given in terms of Λ in Eq. (2.36), is thus

$${}^{NY}C^{\alpha}_{\ \mu\nu} \to {}^{NY}C^{\alpha}_{\ \mu\nu} + \delta^{\alpha}_{\nu}\partial_{\mu}\ln\Omega - \delta^{\alpha}_{\mu}\partial_{\nu}\ln\Omega.$$
(4.31)

Clearly the Nieh-Yan torsion tensor ${}^{NY}C^{\alpha}_{\mu\nu}$ transforms inhomogeneously, or in other words, torsion acts as a gauge field in the conformal transformation group, which is a fundamental result of Nieh-Yan theory. I will now consider the fermionic field and the scalar field in this theory.

4.2.1.1 Fermionic field in Nieh-Yan theory

Because I am working with actions, I will consider the fermionic Lagrangian rather than the Dirac equation. The Lagrangian of the fermionic field given in Eq. (3.21),

$$\mathcal{L}_{F} = \frac{i}{2} \left(\bar{\psi} \gamma^{K} e_{K}^{\mu} \partial_{\mu} \psi - \partial_{\mu} \bar{\psi} \gamma^{K} e_{K}^{\mu} \psi - \frac{i}{4} A_{\mu}^{IJ} e^{\mu K} \bar{\psi} \{ \gamma_{K}, \sigma_{IJ} \} \psi \right) , \qquad (4.32)$$

transforms homogeneously with conformal weight of -4 if the fermion ψ is taken to transform in the same way as in Eq. (4.18), provided A_{μ}^{IJ} is invariant as in Nieh-Yan theory. The Dirac equation can thus be expected to remain conformally covariant too. But there are certain problems with the equation as we will see now. Let us recall the Dirac equation in the vierbein-Einstein-Palatini formalism, which is given in Eq. (3.29),

$$\gamma^{K} e_{K}^{\mu} \,^{\psi} D_{\mu} \psi = 0 \,. \tag{4.33}$$

If the spin connection remains invariant under conformal transformations, this equation transforms to

$$\Omega^{-\frac{5}{2}}\left(\gamma^{K}e_{K}^{\mu} {}^{\psi}D_{\mu}\psi - \frac{1}{2}\gamma^{K}e_{K}^{\mu}\psi\partial_{\mu}\ln\Omega\right) = 0.$$
(4.34)

Clearly, the equation is not invariant under these transformations. The source of this problem lies in the fact that the spinor equation as written here was obtained after using the total antisymmetry of the on-shell torsion. Let us see how this equation transforms if I do not use any on-shell property of torsion that is derived from the equations of motion. In this case I need to consider Eq. (3.23), i. e.,

$$\gamma^{K} e^{\mu}_{K} \partial_{\mu} \psi + \frac{1}{2} C^{\alpha}_{\ \mu\alpha} e^{\mu}_{K} \gamma^{K} \psi - \frac{i}{4} A^{IJ}_{\mu} e^{\mu K} \gamma_{K} \sigma_{IJ} \psi = 0.$$

$$(4.35)$$

Replacing $C^{\alpha}_{\mu\alpha}$ with Nieh-Yan torsion ${}^{NY}C^{\alpha}_{\mu\alpha}$, the above equation becomes

$$\gamma^{K} e^{\mu}_{K} \partial_{\mu} \psi + \frac{1}{2} {}^{NY} C^{\alpha}_{\ \mu\alpha} e^{\mu}_{K} \gamma^{K} \psi - \frac{i}{4} A^{IJ}_{\mu} e^{\mu K} \gamma_{K} \sigma_{IJ} \psi = 0.$$

$$(4.36)$$

The transformation of ${}^{NY}C^{\alpha}_{\mu\alpha}$ can be obtained from Eq. (4.31) by tracing over first and the last index of the torsion tensor,

$${}^{NY}C^{\alpha}_{\ \mu\alpha} \to {}^{NY}C^{\alpha}_{\ \mu\alpha} + 3\partial_{\mu}\ln\Omega.$$
(4.37)

Taking the above into account, we can see that the Dirac equation remains conformally covariant. It is thus clear that if on-shell properties of torsion are used, the Dirac equation does not remain invariant under the assumptions of Nieh-Yan theory. We will see in Sec. 4.3 that on-shell torsion does not transform in the way given in Eq.4.31 above.

4.2.1.2 Conformal scalar in Nieh-Yan theory

I will start by writing the Lagrangian of the conformal scalar field in terms of vierbein-Einstein-Palatini variables,

$$\mathcal{L}_{\phi} = -\frac{1}{2} e_I^{\mu} e^{\nu I} \partial_{\mu} \phi \partial_{\nu} \phi - \frac{1}{12} F_{\mu\nu}^{IJ} e_I^{\mu} e_J^{\nu} \phi^2 \,. \tag{4.38}$$

In Nieh-Yan theory the torsion tensor that transforms inhomogeneouly as shown in Eq. (4.31), bu $F_{\mu\nu}^{IJ}$ transforms homogeneously as in Eq. (4.29). This above Lagrangian is not covariant as a result, with $\phi \to \Omega^{-1} \phi$.

The Lagrangian can be rewritten with the torsion-free part of $F_{\mu\nu}^{IJ}$ in order to make it conformally covariant,

$$\mathcal{L}_{\phi} = -\frac{1}{2} e_{I}^{\mu} e^{\nu I} \partial_{\mu} \phi \partial_{\nu} \phi - \frac{1}{12} F_{\mu\nu}^{IJ} e_{I}^{\mu} e_{J}^{\nu} \phi^{2} - \phi^{2} \left(\frac{1}{6} \widehat{\nabla}_{\mu} {}^{NY} C_{\alpha}^{\alpha}{}^{\mu} + \frac{1}{12} {}^{NY} C_{\mu\sigma}^{\mu} {}^{NY} C_{\nu}^{\nu}{}^{\sigma} - \frac{1}{48} {}^{NY} C_{\mu\nu\sigma} {}^{NY} C_{\mu\nu\sigma} - \frac{1}{24} {}^{NY} C_{\nu\mu\sigma} {}^{NY} C_{\nu\mu\sigma} \right).$$

$$(4.39)$$

We can see that the coefficients of ϕ^2 in the above add up to produce the Ricci scalar \hat{R} corresponding to the torsion-free connection. The Lagrangian can thus be written as

$$\mathcal{L}_{\phi} = -\frac{1}{2} e_I^{\mu} e^{\nu I} \partial_{\mu} \phi \partial_{\nu} \phi - \frac{1}{12} \widehat{F}_{\mu\nu}^{IJ} e_I^{\mu} e_J^{\nu} \phi^2 \,. \tag{4.40}$$

This is the same Lagrangian of conformal scalar of Eq. (4.15) in tetrad formulation and transforms homogeneously with conformal weight of -4. Evidently the corresponding equation remains conformally invariant.

It should be noted that I have written the Lagrangian given by Eq. (4.39) with the full torsion-free Ricci scalar so that in the torsion-free limit, the Lagrangian remains conformally covariant. But if I am not concerned about the torsion-free limit, the minimum modification of the Lagrangian is

$$\mathcal{L}_{\phi} = -\frac{1}{2} e_{I}^{\mu} e^{\nu I} \partial_{\mu} \phi \partial_{\nu} \phi - \phi^{2} \left(\frac{1}{6} \widehat{\nabla}_{\mu} {}^{NY} C^{\alpha}{}_{\alpha}{}^{\mu} + \frac{1}{12} {}^{NY} C^{\mu}{}_{\mu\sigma} {}^{NY} C^{\nu}{}_{\nu}{}^{\sigma} - \frac{1}{48} {}^{NY} C^{\mu\nu\sigma} {}^{NY} C_{\mu\nu\sigma} - \frac{1}{24} {}^{NY} C^{\mu\nu\sigma} {}^{NY} C_{\nu\mu\sigma} \right).$$

$$(4.41)$$

This Lagrangian transforms homogeneously with conformal weight of -4 under conformal transformation. I have removed the $\frac{1}{12}F^{IJ}_{\mu\nu}e^{\mu}_{I}e^{\nu}_{J}\phi^{2}$ from the Lagrangian given in Eq. (4.39) because this term transforms homogeneously and does not affect the conformal covariance of the Lagrangian in Nieh-Yan theory. The corresponding scalar field equation

$$\nabla_{\mu}\nabla^{\mu}\phi - \phi \left(\frac{1}{3}\widehat{\nabla}_{\mu}{}^{NY}C^{\alpha}{}_{\alpha}{}^{\mu} + \frac{1}{6}{}^{NY}C^{\mu}{}_{\mu\sigma}{}^{NY}C^{\nu}{}_{\nu}{}^{\sigma} - \frac{1}{24}{}^{NY}C^{\mu\nu\sigma}{}^{NY}C_{\mu\nu\sigma} - \frac{1}{12}{}^{NY}C^{\mu\nu\sigma}{}^{NY}C_{\nu\mu\sigma}\right) = 0.$$
(4.42)

is also conformally invariant. Clearly in the torsion-free limit the torsion terms in the above Lagrangian and equation vanish. Consequently the conformal covariance (or invariance) gets lost when torsion vanishes. This reinstates my previous statement that torsion-free limit, not all the results and equations of Nieh-Yan theory reduce to the corresponding results and equations in General Relativity.

4.2.2 Conformally invariant torsion

Although Nieh-Yan theory gives a conformally covariant theory of gravity, not all its results can be identified with those in Einstein's General Relativity in the absence of torsion. For example the conformal transformations of different quantities do not reduce to those of General Relativity when torsion vanishes as we have seen in case of conformal scalar in the previous subsection. I am interested in a formalism which

resembles Einstein gravity and in which different entities transform in the same way as in usual General Relativity when torsion is taken to vanish. In such a theory, I must assume that torsion transforms homogeneously under conformal transformation, unlike in [23] where torsion acts a gauge potential in conformal group. In other words, the spin connection A_{μ}^{IJ} should transform in the same way as ω_{μ}^{IJ} does while Λ_{μ}^{IJ} should remain invariant i.e.,

$$A^{IJ}_{\mu} (\equiv \omega^{IJ}_{\mu} + \Lambda^{IJ}_{\mu}) \to A^{IJ}_{\mu} + (e^{I}_{\mu}e^{J\alpha} - e^{J}_{\mu}e^{I\alpha})\partial_{\alpha}\ln\Omega, \qquad (4.43)$$

and

$$\Lambda^{IJ}_{\mu} \to \Lambda^{IJ}_{\mu}. \tag{4.44}$$

In this case torsion in non-zero but conformal transformation is given by that of tetrads only. Above transformations immediately imply that torsion tensor given by the simplified form in Eq. (2.36), remains invariant i. e.,

$${}^{Inv}C^{\alpha}_{\ \mu\nu} \to {}^{Inv}C^{\alpha}_{\ \mu\nu}. \tag{4.45}$$

It should be noted that if any index of the torsion tensor is raised or lowered, there will be a conformal weight factor due to the metric involved in the raising or lowering. The Ricci scalar contains extra terms involving torsion when transformed,

$$F^{IJ}_{\mu\nu}e^{\mu}_{I}e^{\nu}_{J} \to \Omega^{-2}\left[F^{IJ}_{\mu\nu}e^{\mu}_{I}e^{\nu}_{J} - 6\widehat{\nabla}_{\mu}\widehat{\nabla}^{\mu}\ln\Omega - 6\left(\widehat{\nabla}_{\mu}\ln\Omega\right)\left(\widehat{\nabla}^{\mu}\ln\Omega\right) - 4^{Inv}C^{\alpha}_{\ \alpha}{}^{\mu}\partial_{\mu}\ln\Omega\right].$$

$$(4.46)$$

It is interesting to note that although torsion itself does not transform, it appears as a part of the transformation. I will now look at the fermionic and scalar field in the presence of invariant torsion.

4.2.2.1 Conformal properties of fermionic field with invariant torsion

Let us recall the Lagrangian of the fermionic field,

$$\mathcal{L}_{F} = \frac{i}{2} \left(\bar{\psi} \gamma^{K} e^{\mu}_{K} \partial_{\mu} \psi - \partial_{\mu} \bar{\psi} \gamma^{K} e^{\mu}_{K} \psi - \frac{i}{4} A^{IJ}_{\mu} e^{\mu K} \bar{\psi} \{ \gamma_{K}, \sigma_{IJ} \} \psi \right).$$
(4.47)

In order to see how this Lagrangian transforms, it should be noted that with the transformation of the spin connection given by Eq. (4.43), the last term in the above Lagrangian remains unchanged as we have seen in section 4.1.2. The inhomogeneous transformations of the other two terms cancel each other and as a result, the Lagrangian transforms homogeneously with conformal weight of -4 as before. Let us now see what the invariant torsion implies for the conformal invariance of the Dirac equation.

With the spin connection transforming inhomogeneously given by Eq. (4.43), we can see that the term containing the spin connection in the Dirac equation of Eq. (3.28) transforms as

$$A^{IJ}_{\mu}e^{\mu K}\gamma_{K}\sigma_{IJ}\psi \quad \to \quad \Omega^{-\frac{5}{2}}(A^{IJ}_{\mu}e^{\mu K}\gamma_{K}\sigma_{IJ}\psi + 2ie^{\mu K}\gamma_{K}\psi\partial_{\mu}\ln\Omega)\,. \tag{4.48}$$

This implies that the Dirac equation remains invariant with $\psi \to \Omega^{-\frac{3}{2}}\psi$, although the equation uses the skew symmetry of on-shell torsion. This is a difference with what was observed in Nieh-Yan theory, where I showed that using the on-shell expression of torsion breaks the conformal invariance of the Dirac equation.

4.2.2.2 Conformal scalar with invariant torsion

Let us now look at the conformal scalar with invariant torsion. As in Nieh-Yan theory I will start by writing the Lagrangian of the conformal scalar in terms of the vierbein-Einstein-Palatini variables,

$$\mathcal{L}_{\phi} = -\frac{1}{2} e_I^{\mu} e^{\nu I} \partial_{\mu} \phi \partial_{\nu} \phi - \frac{1}{12} F_{\mu\nu}^{IJ} e_I^{\mu} e_J^{\nu} \phi^2 \,. \tag{4.49}$$

Using the transformation of the Ricci scalar given by Eq. (4.46), we see that the above Lagrangian transforms as

$$\mathcal{L}_{\phi} \quad \rightarrow \quad \Omega^{-4} \mathcal{L}_{\phi} + \frac{1}{3} \Omega^{-4} \phi^{2 \ Inv} C^{\alpha \ \mu}_{\ \alpha} \partial_{\mu} \ln \Omega \,. \tag{4.50}$$

The minimal modification that makes the Lagrangian conformally covariant is the addition of a torsion term,

$$\mathcal{L}_{\phi} = -\frac{1}{2} e_{I}^{\mu} e^{\nu I} \partial_{\mu} \phi \partial_{\nu} \phi - \frac{1}{12} F_{\mu\nu}^{IJ} e_{I}^{\mu} e_{J}^{\nu} \phi^{2} - \frac{1}{6} \phi^{2} \widehat{\nabla}_{\mu} {}^{Inv} C_{\alpha}^{\alpha}{}^{\mu}.$$
(4.51)

This Lagrangian transforms homogeneously because the added term has the following transformation.

$$\frac{1}{6}\phi^{2}\widehat{\nabla}_{\mu}{}^{Inv}C^{\alpha}{}_{\alpha}{}^{\mu} \rightarrow \Omega^{-4}\left(\frac{1}{6}\phi^{2}\widehat{\nabla}_{\mu}{}^{Inv}C^{\alpha}{}_{\alpha}{}^{\mu}+\frac{1}{3}\phi^{2}{}^{Inv}C^{\alpha}{}_{\alpha}{}^{\mu}\partial_{\mu}\ln\Omega\right).$$
(4.52)

The above might seem to suggest that torsion transforms inhomogeneously although I am considering invariant torsion. It should be noted that $C^{\alpha}_{\mu\nu}$ is conformally invariant. Raising or lowering of indices involves the metric and thus results in a conformal weight e.g.,

$$C^{\alpha}_{\mu}{}^{\beta} \equiv g^{\beta\nu}C^{\alpha}_{\ \mu\nu} \rightarrow \Omega^{-2}C^{\alpha}_{\ \mu}{}^{\beta}.$$
(4.53)

Taking a derivative with respect to $\widehat{\nabla}$ thus results in an inhomogeneous transformation. Also the transformation of $\widehat{\Gamma}^{\alpha}_{\ \mu\nu}$ adds to the inhomogeneous part. The scalar equation corresponding to the Lagrangian given in Eq. (4.51)

$$\widehat{\nabla}_{\mu}\widehat{\nabla}^{\mu}\phi - \frac{1}{6}F^{IJ}_{\mu\nu}e^{\mu}_{I}e^{\nu}_{J}\phi - \frac{1}{3}\phi\widehat{\nabla}_{\mu}^{In\nu}C^{\alpha \mu}_{\ \alpha} = 0.$$
(4.54)

is invariant under conformal transformation. In the torsion-free limit, the above equation and Lagrangian given in Eq. (4.51) reduce to their counterparts in the tetrad formulation of General Relativity. Thus unlike in case of Nieh-Yan theory, here the the torsion-free limit reduces to General Relativity.

It should be further noted that I can also write the torsion-free part of the Ricci scalar with quadratic torsion terms, as I did in the case of Nieh-Yan theory, without affecting the covariance of the Lagrangian or invariance the equation. This is because the quadratic torsion terms transform homogeneously with conformal weight of -2.

I can thus say that the general Lagrangian for the conformally invariant scalar field is

$$\mathcal{L}_{\phi} = -\frac{1}{2} e_{I}^{\mu} e^{\nu I} \partial_{\mu} \phi \partial_{\nu} \phi - \frac{1}{12} F_{\mu\nu}^{IJ} e_{I}^{\mu} e_{J}^{\nu} \phi^{2} - \phi^{2} \left(\frac{1}{6} \widehat{\nabla}_{\mu}^{Inv} C^{\alpha}{}_{\alpha}{}^{\mu} + \frac{1}{12}^{Inv} C^{\mu}{}_{\mu\sigma}^{Inv} C^{\nu}{}_{\nu}{}^{\sigma} - \frac{1}{48}^{Inv} C^{\mu\nu\sigma Inv} C_{\mu\nu\sigma} - \frac{1}{24}^{Inv} C^{\mu\nu\sigma Inv} C_{\nu\mu\sigma} \right).$$
(4.55)

Similar to what was obtained in Nieh-Yan theory, the coefficients of ϕ^2 can be identified as $-\frac{1}{12}\hat{R}$. This implies that although I am dealing with non-zero off-shell torsion,

for the conformally invariant scalar field the Lagrangian can always be written with torsion-free Ricci scalar.

4.3 DYNAMICALLY GENERATED TORSION AND CONFORMAL TRANSFORMATION

In this section I will deal with dynamically generated (on-shell) torsion and see its effects on conformal properties of matter fields. Torsion is sourced from other dynamical fields and it comes from the equations of the spin connection. So nothing is assumed a priori about the transformation of torsion. We have seen in chapter 3 that spinor fields can produce torsion. I will demonstrate how non-minimal scalar fields can also produce torsion on-shell. But there are problems with the conformal weight of the torsion terms if they are dynamically generated. We will see that on-shell torsion transforms homogeneously but unlike invariant torsion, its transforms with an overall weight. I will demonstrate these problems and possible solutions with specific fields.

4.3.1 Dynamically generated torsion and conformal scalar

The total action including the conformal scalar, in terms of vierbein-Einstein-Palatini variables is given by

$$S[e, A, \phi] = S_{VEP}[e, A] + \int |e| d^4x \left[-\frac{1}{2} e^{\mu}_I e^{\nu I} \partial_{\mu} \phi \partial_{\nu} \phi - \frac{1}{12} F^{IJ}_{\mu\nu} e^{\mu}_I e^{\nu}_J \phi^2 \right].$$
(4.56)

Extremising the action with respect to the independent variables produces three sets of equations,

$$\delta e_{J}^{\nu} : F_{\alpha\mu}^{IJ} e_{I}^{\alpha} e_{\nu J} - \frac{1}{2} g_{\mu\nu} F_{\alpha\beta}^{IJ} e_{I}^{\alpha} e_{J}^{\beta} = \kappa \left(\partial_{\mu} \phi \partial_{\nu} \phi - \frac{1}{2} g_{\mu\nu} g^{\alpha\beta} \partial_{\alpha} \phi \partial_{\beta} \phi \right. \\ \left. + \frac{1}{6} \left(F_{\alpha\mu}^{IJ} e_{I}^{\alpha} e_{\nu J} - \frac{1}{2} g_{\mu\nu} F_{\alpha\beta}^{IJ} e_{I}^{\alpha} e_{J}^{\beta} \right) \right),$$

$$(4.57a)$$

$$\delta A_{\nu}^{IJ} : A_{\mu}^{IJ} = \omega_{\mu}^{IJ}[e] + \frac{1}{2} \left(e_{\mu}^{I} e^{J\alpha} - e_{\mu}^{J} e^{I\alpha} \right) \partial_{\mu} \ln \left(1 - \frac{\kappa \phi^{2}}{6} \right), \qquad (4.57b)$$

$$\delta\phi: \widehat{\nabla}_{\mu}\widehat{\nabla}^{\mu}\phi - \frac{1}{6}F^{IJ}_{\mu\nu}e^{\mu}_{I}e^{\nu}_{J}\phi = 0.$$
(4.57c)

Here I have contracted the equations with tetrads in order to convert them to familiar forms. It should be noted that in Eq. (4.57c), the first term has been written in terms of the torsion-free derivative since

$$\widehat{\nabla}_{\mu}\widehat{\nabla}^{\mu}\phi - \nabla_{\mu}\nabla^{\mu}\phi = S^{\alpha\mu}{}_{\alpha}\partial_{\mu}\phi = 0, \qquad (4.58)$$

which follows from the definition of contorsion tensor given in Eq. (1.17). The right hand side of Eq. (4.57a) does not contain the full energy-momentum tensor as can be seen on comparison with Eq. (4.8). As a result it will not be a conserved tensor. This is because in this case the Einstein tensor $G_{\mu\nu}$, which appears on the left hand side of the equation, is torsionful. I can separate the torsion-free and torsionful parts by considering the on-shell expression of the spin connection (4.57b). Before getting into this, let us first see how Eq. (4.57b) can lead to non-zero torsion. The spin connection up to $O(\kappa)$ can be written as

$$A^{IJ}_{\mu} \approx \omega^{IJ}_{\mu}[e] - \frac{\kappa}{12} \left(e^{I}_{\mu} e^{J\alpha} - e^{J}_{\mu} e^{I\alpha} \right) \partial_{\mu} \phi^{2} \,. \tag{4.59}$$

Comparing with Eq. (2.35), the second term in this equation can be identified as contorsion Λ ,

$$\Lambda^{IJ}_{\mu} = -\frac{\kappa}{12} \left(e^{I}_{\mu} e^{J\alpha} - e^{J}_{\mu} e^{I\alpha} \right) \partial_{\mu} \phi^2 \,. \tag{4.60}$$

This gives the following expression for the on-shell torsion tensor

$${}^{OS}C^{\alpha}_{\ \mu\nu} = \frac{\kappa}{12} \left(\delta^{\alpha}_{\mu} \partial_{\nu} \phi^2 - \delta^{\alpha}_{\nu} \partial_{\mu} \phi^2 \right) \,. \tag{4.61}$$

It should be noted here that the expressions of on-shell torsion found Eq. (4.61) have been found in other contexts like conformal Standard Model [56]. I have obtained the expression for on-shell torsion from the equation of the spin connection whereas in [56], the conformal transformation of the torsion tensor was postulated in a form which seems to come from the expression given in Eq. (4.61). Inserting Eq. (4.59) in Eq. (4.57a) gives

$$\widehat{F}^{IJ}_{\alpha\mu}e^{\alpha}_{I}e_{\nu J} - \frac{1}{2}g_{\mu\nu}\widehat{F}^{IJ}_{\alpha\beta}e^{\alpha}_{I}e^{\beta}_{J} = \kappa \left(\partial_{\mu}\phi\partial_{\nu}\phi - \frac{1}{2}g_{\mu\nu}g^{\alpha\beta}\partial_{\alpha}\phi\partial_{\beta}\phi + \frac{1}{6}(\widehat{F}^{IJ}_{\alpha\mu}e^{\alpha}_{I}e_{\nu J} - \frac{1}{2}g_{\mu\nu}\widehat{F}^{IJ}_{\alpha\beta}e^{\alpha}_{I}e^{\beta}_{J})\phi^{2} + \frac{1}{6}\left[g_{\mu\nu}\widehat{\nabla}_{\sigma}\widehat{\nabla}^{\sigma}\phi^{2} - \widehat{\nabla}_{\mu}\widehat{\nabla}_{\nu}\phi^{2}\right]\right) + \mathcal{O}(\kappa^{2}).$$

$$(4.62)$$

I have thus obtained the correct energy-momentum tensor, with $\mathcal{O}(\kappa^2)$ contributions which can be neglected. There is however another problem with Eq. (4.57c). I can insert Eq. (4.59) in Eq. (4.57c) to write it up to $\mathcal{O}(\kappa)$ as

$$\widehat{\nabla}_{\mu}\widehat{\nabla}^{\mu}\phi - \frac{1}{6}\widehat{F}^{IJ}_{\alpha\beta}e^{\alpha}_{I}e^{\beta}_{J}\phi + \frac{\kappa}{24}\phi\widehat{\nabla}_{\alpha}\widehat{\nabla}^{\alpha}\phi^{2} = 0.$$
(4.63)

Upon a conformal transformation this equation becomes

$$\Omega^{-3} \left(\widehat{\nabla}_{\mu} \widehat{\nabla}^{\mu} \phi - \frac{1}{6} \widehat{R} \phi \right) + \frac{\kappa}{24} \Omega^{-5} \phi \widehat{\nabla}_{\alpha} \widehat{\nabla}^{\alpha} \phi^{2} - \frac{\kappa}{6} \Omega^{-5} \phi^{2} g^{\alpha\beta} \partial_{\alpha} \phi \partial_{\beta} \phi - \frac{\kappa}{12} \Omega^{-5} \phi^{3} \widehat{\nabla}_{\alpha} \widehat{\nabla}^{\alpha} \ln \Omega = 0.$$
(4.64)

Clearly the equation is not conformally invariant. The last term in Eq. (4.63) not only has different conformal weight, it also transforms inhomogeneously. The source of this discrepancy lies in the expression of spin connection, more precisely the contorsion Λ , which transforms as

$$\Lambda_{\mu}^{IJ} \to \Omega^{-2} \Lambda_{\mu}^{IJ} + \frac{\kappa}{6} \Omega^{-2} \left(e_{\mu}^{I} e^{J\alpha} - e_{\mu}^{J} e^{I\alpha} \right) \phi^{2} \partial_{\alpha} \ln \Omega \,. \tag{4.65}$$

The conformal weight of Λ_{μ}^{IJ} is different from that of the torsion-free part ω_{μ}^{IJ} of Eq. (4.12) and also it transforms inhomogeneously. I can resolve this problem by modifying the action such that it does not produce torsion dynamically. The connection used in the vierbein-Einstein-Palatini formalism is not torsion-free a priori. However, the $R\phi^2$ term in the metric formalism, is constructed from a torsion-free connection. Therefore, in the vierbein-Einstein-Palatini formalism if I construct the non-minimal $R\phi^2$ term only from the torsionless part of the connection I can eliminate on-shell torsion. The total action now reads

$$S[e, A, \phi] = \frac{1}{2\kappa} \int |e| d^4 x F^{IJ}_{\mu\nu} e^{\mu}_I e^{\nu}_J + \int |e| d^4 x \left(-\frac{1}{2} e^{\mu}_I e^{\nu I} \partial_{\mu} \phi \partial_{\nu} \phi - \frac{1}{12} \widehat{F}[\omega]^{IJ}_{\mu\nu} e^{\mu}_I e^{\nu}_J \phi^2 \right).$$
(4.66)

The equations of motion as obtained from this action are

$$\delta e_{J}^{\nu} : R_{\mu\nu} - \frac{1}{2} g_{\mu\nu} R = \kappa \left(\partial_{\mu} \phi \partial_{\nu} \phi - \frac{1}{2} g_{\mu\nu} g^{\alpha\beta} \partial_{\alpha} \phi \partial_{\beta} \phi + \frac{1}{6} (\widehat{R}_{\mu\nu} - \frac{1}{2} g_{\mu\nu} \widehat{R}) \phi^{2} + \frac{1}{6} \left[g_{\mu\nu} \widehat{\nabla}_{\sigma} \widehat{\nabla}^{\sigma} \phi^{2} - \widehat{\nabla}_{\mu} \widehat{\nabla}_{\nu} \phi^{2} \right] \right),$$

$$(4.67a)$$

$$\delta A_{\nu}^{IJ} : A_{\mu}^{IJ} = \omega_{\mu}^{IJ}[e], \tag{4.67b}$$

$$\delta\phi: \widehat{\nabla}_{\mu}\widehat{\nabla}^{\mu}\phi - \frac{1}{6}\widehat{R}\phi = 0.$$
(4.67c)

The scalar field equation (4.67c), thus gets back the torsion-free, conformally invariant form given by Eq. (4.5). The action in Eq. (4.66) leads to vanishing on-shell torsion and the equations can be identified with those in the usual metric formalism. Also upon using the on-shell expression of the spin connection given by Eq. (4.67b), the left hand side of Einstein's equation (4.67a) becomes torsion-free and the equation can be identified with that in the tetrad formalism given in Eq. (4.16). I have also discussed an alternative but equivalent method of obtaining conformally invariant scalar field equation in Appendix B.

4.3.2 Dynamically generated torsion and fermion

I will now consider the conformal transformation of fermionic field equation when the on-shell torsion arises from the field itself. The expression for the on-shell torsion with fermionic field was found in Eq. (3.27), and using this expression, I obtained a nonlinear Dirac equation

$$\gamma^{K} e_{K}^{\mu} \partial_{\mu} \psi - \frac{i}{4} \omega_{\mu}^{IJ} e^{\mu K} \gamma_{K} \sigma_{IJ} \psi - \frac{i\kappa}{64} \bar{\psi} \{\gamma_{K}, \sigma_{IJ}\} \psi \{\gamma^{K}, \sigma^{IJ}\} \psi = 0.$$

$$(4.68)$$

Comparing with the Dirac equation in the tetrad formulation, I recognize that the first two terms are covariant under conformal transformations. The cubic term however transforms with a different weight, as can be seen from the transformed equation,

$$\Omega^{-\frac{5}{2}}\left(\gamma^{K}e_{K}^{\mu}\partial_{\mu}\psi - \frac{i}{4}\omega_{\mu}^{IJ}e^{\mu K}\gamma_{K}\sigma_{IJ}\psi\right) - \frac{i\kappa}{64}\Omega^{-\frac{9}{2}}\bar{\psi}\{\gamma_{K},\sigma_{IJ}\}\psi\{\gamma^{K},\sigma^{IJ}\}\psi = 0.$$
(4.69)

The nonlinear Dirac equation is thus not invariant under conformal transformation. The source of this difference in conformal weight is as follows. The cubic term which breaks the invariance of the equation appeared due to the dynamically generated contorsion Λ . I will consider the transformation of the spin connection of Eq. (3.22b) to see this.

$$A^{IJ}_{\mu} \rightarrow \omega^{IJ}_{\mu}[e] + \left(e^{I}_{\mu}e^{J\nu} - e^{J}_{\mu}e^{I\nu}\right)\partial_{\nu}\ln\Omega + \Omega^{-2}\Lambda^{IJ}_{\mu}.$$
(4.70)

The two components of the spin connection ω and $\Lambda (= \frac{\kappa}{8} \bar{\psi} \{\gamma_K, \sigma^{IJ}\} \psi e_{\mu}^K)$ transform with different conformal weights. This is because they come from two different sectors of the theory. While ω comes from the gravity sector and is fully determined by the geometry, Λ comes from the matter sector, in this case fermions. But these two sectors have different conformal weights. The fermion Lagrangian transforms homogeneously with weight -4 but R in the gravity part has weight of -2. This difference shows up in the transformation of Λ . The transformation of the spin connection also implies that torsion as given by Eq. (3.27) transforms homogeneously with conformal weight -2,

$${}^{OS}C^{\nu}{}_{\rho\lambda} \to \Omega^{-2} \, {}^{OS}C^{\nu}{}_{\rho\lambda} \,. \tag{4.71}$$

It is thus clear that on-shell torsion tensor (with index positions as above) transforms homogeneously unlike in Nieh-Yan theory where it has an inhomogeneous transformation. Also the above transformation is different from that of the invariant torsion of Eq. (4.45) because it transforms with a factor of Ω^{-2} .

I can thus conclude that similar to what has been observed in the case of scalar field, dynamically generated torsion also breaks the conformal invariance of Dirac equation. I can try to make the Dirac equation conformally invariant but this requires the fundamental theories to be modified as I will discuss below.

There are different ways to proceed in order to reinstate conformal invariance. First, if I have an action for gravity that scales in the same manner as the matter action, I can eliminate the above mentioned weight difference of ω and Λ altogether. A scale invariant theory of gravity with spinors, as discussed in [57] where the authors considered Brans-Dicke (BD) theory of gravity, might be able to provide a way out. If it is possible to construct such a theory of gravity without affecting the on-shell quantities obtained, I will get back the conformally covariant Dirac equation. Another way was discussed in [58] where an invariant theory of Dirac field was considered in conformal gravity such that the nonlinearities in the Dirac equation do not appear.

A third way of making the Dirac equation conformally invariant is to modify the fermionic Lagrangian. If I am interested in the conformal invariance of the Dirac equation alone, the spinor Lagrangian can be modified by the addition of a quartic term. The term should be chosen in such a way that it cancels the cubic term thereby making the equation linear. It should also be kept in mind that this term should not affect the expression for on-shell torsion i. e., the spin connection should not appear in it. I will modify the spinor Lagrangian as

$$\mathcal{L}_{F-mod} = \frac{i}{2} \left(\bar{\psi} \gamma^{K} e^{\mu}_{K} \partial_{\mu} \psi - \partial_{\mu} \bar{\psi} \gamma^{K} e^{\mu}_{K} \psi - \frac{i}{4} A^{IJ}_{\mu} e^{\mu K} \bar{\psi} \{ \gamma_{K}, \sigma_{IJ} \} \psi + \frac{i\kappa}{64} \bar{\psi} \{ \gamma_{K}, \sigma_{IJ} \} \psi \bar{\psi} \{ \gamma^{K}, \sigma^{IJ} \} \psi \right).$$

$$(4.72)$$

The equation obtained by extremising the corresponding action with respect to $\bar{\psi}$ is

$$\gamma^{K} e_{K}^{\mu} \partial_{\mu} \psi - \frac{i}{4} A_{\mu}^{IJ} e^{\mu K} \gamma_{K} \sigma_{IJ} \psi + \frac{i\kappa}{64} \bar{\psi} \{\gamma_{K}, \sigma_{IJ}\} \psi \{\gamma^{K}, \sigma^{IJ}\} \psi = 0.$$

$$(4.73)$$

Also, extremisation with the spin connection produces exactly the same expressions for the contorsion Λ and torsion *C* as found in Eq. (3.24) and Eq. (3.27) earlier. So when putting the on-shell expression of the spin connection in the above equation gives nothing but the linear Dirac equation which was obtained in tetrad formulation i.e.,

$$\gamma^{K} e_{K}^{\mu} \partial_{\mu} \psi - \frac{i}{4} \omega_{\mu}^{IJ} e^{\mu K} \gamma_{K} \sigma_{IJ} \psi = 0.$$
(4.74)

I have thus eliminated the cubic term and obtained the conformally invariant Dirac equation. The added term however, also cancels the $O(\kappa^2)$ on the right hand side of Einstein's equations (3.31). In other words, with the addition of the term I am effectively dealing with a torsion-free theory.

Also, unlike in Nieh-Yan theory (and invariant torsion), the Lagrangian above is not conformally invariant although the equation it produces is invariant under conformal transformation.

4.4 GENERAL OFF-SHELL TRANSFORMATION

I have discussed two possibilities of the transformation of the spin connection A_{μ}^{IJ} in the level of action. The two cases can be parametrised with a single parameter. In order to do that, I will write torsion-free part of the connection as

$$\omega_{\mu}^{IJ} = A_{\mu}^{IJ} - \Lambda_{\mu}^{IJ} \,. \tag{4.75}$$

The transformation of ω is dictated from that of the tetrads and this implies that the right hand side of the equation has a definite conformal transformation. If I consider the case where A_{μ}^{IJ} remains invariant, Λ_{μ}^{IJ} must transform like ω_{μ}^{IJ} with a negative sign (Nieh-Yan). On the other hand, if it is Λ_{μ}^{IJ} that remains invariant, A_{μ}^{IJ} must transform like ω_{μ}^{IJ} (invariant torsion). The transformations

$$A^{IJ}_{\mu} \to A^{IJ}_{\mu} + \xi \left(e^{I}_{\mu} e^{J\nu} - e^{J}_{\mu} e^{I\nu} \right) \partial_{\nu} \ln \Omega , \qquad (4.76)$$

$$\Lambda^{IJ}_{\mu} \to \Lambda^{IJ}_{\mu} - (1 - \xi) \left(e^{I}_{\mu} e^{J\nu} - e^{J}_{\mu} e^{I\nu} \right) \partial_{\nu} \ln \Omega , \qquad (4.77)$$

interpolate between the two cases with $\xi = 0$ and $\xi = 1$, with Nieh-Yan theory corresponding to $\xi = 0$ and invariant torsion corresponding to $\xi = 1$. Other values of ξ also correspond to conformal transformations, with the Dirac Eq. (3.23) remaining invariant for any value of ξ between 0 and 1. This parametrization may be compared with that postulated for the transformation of torsion in conformal gravity [59], where it is an undetermined constant. For the scalar field however, the non-minimal coupling term $-\frac{1}{12}R\phi^2$ must be written using the torsion-free Ricci scalar in order for the field equation to be conformally invariant, as was observed for both Nieh-Yan theory and invariant torsion.

I will conclude this chapter with a few remarks. We have seen that dynamically generated torsion does not transform inhomogeneously at all. There is of course an issue with torsion if considered to be given by the equations of motion alone: the contorsion part has a relative weight over the torsion-free part.

For minimally coupled fermionic fields, the on-shell torsion resulting from the fermion coupling makes the Dirac equation nonlinear. This equation is not conformally invariant. We have seen that there are different ways of restoring conformal invariance of the Dirac equation, one of which involves the addition of a quartic term in the Lagrangian. This term helps to recover the conformally invariant linear Dirac equation

by setting the torsion to vanish on shell, but the cost is the additional quartic term. It should be noted that it is also possible to consider the torsion, or alternatively fermion, as a source of explicit breaking of conformal symmetry, as was done in [60].

5

NEUTRINO MIXING

We have seen in chapter 3 that torsion induces an effective self-interaction among fermions thereby making the Dirac equation nonlinear, analogous to the Nambu-Jona-Lasinio model [61, 62]. This feature has been exploited in particle physics, for example in [63] it has been suggested that torsion induces interactions among leptons identical to the weak leptonic interactions in Weinberg's standard model [64]. The quartic interaction induced by minimal coupling of fermions with torsion has been shown to help replace the big bang singularity with a cusp-like bounce [65]. In cosmological models [66–68] the possibility of a self accelerating universe has been discussed with the help of torsion. Also it has been suggested that the four-fermion interaction originating from spin-torsion coupling can be seen as dark energy [69]. The possibility of inflationary phase in the early universe has been discussed using only spin and torsion without the need of any extra fields [70]. In this chapter¹ I will use the four fermion interaction to explain the source of neutrino mass and oscillation.

Neutrinos were originally thought to be massless charge neutral particles. However in order to explain the flavour oscillations of neutrinos, it is necessary to assume that neutrinos have mass eigenstates different from their flavour eigenstates [71]. But the origin of neutrino mass is a mystery [72, 73]. The Standard Model of particle physics is successful because it encompasses all the known elementary particles and the interactions between them, explains the masses of elementary particles. Particles get mass in terms of electroweak symmetry breaking and the vacuum expectation value of the Higgs field. The Higgs field in the electroweak theory is a complex doublet whose potential reaches a local minimum for a continuous range of configurations of the field, corresponding to a non-vanishing vacuum expectation value (vev) of the neutral scalar Higgs field. This is the phenomenon of spontaneous symmetry breaking, which means

¹ The work reported here is based on the paper "Geometrical contribution to neutrino mass matrix", Subhasish Chakrabarty and Amitabha Lahiri, Eur. Phys. J. C 79, 8, 697 (2019).

that the vacuum is not invariant under the symmetry transformations of the classical Lagrangian and the quantum Higgs field consists of fluctuations around this vev.

In the Standard Model, it is the $SU(2) \times U(1)$ electroweak symmetry which is spontaneously broken in the vacuum. For the fermions, this symmetry is a chiral one. Let us focus on the leptons, but what I say can be generalized to quarks quite easily. Left-handed components of leptons pair up into doublets of weak isospin $\Psi_{eL} = \begin{pmatrix} \nu_L \\ e_L \end{pmatrix}$ while a right-handed component has never been observed for the neutrino and thus the right-handed electron e_R is by necessity a singlet. The Higgs doublet field $\Phi = \begin{pmatrix} \phi^+ \\ \phi^0 \end{pmatrix}$ couples left-handed doublets to the right-handed singlet via the Yukawa-type interaction

$$-h_e \left(\bar{\Psi}_{eL} \Phi e_R + \bar{e}_R \Phi^{\dagger} \Psi_{eL}\right) \,. \tag{5.1}$$

For quantisation, ϕ^0 is expanded around its vev v as $\phi^0 = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}(v + H + i\zeta)$ with H, ζ being quantum fields. Then the Yukawa terms can be written as

$$-h_{e}\left[\frac{v}{\sqrt{2}}(\bar{e}_{L}e_{R}+\bar{e}_{R}e_{L})+\bar{v}_{eL}e_{R}\phi^{+}+\bar{e}_{R}v_{eL}\phi^{-}+\frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}(\bar{e}eH+i\bar{e}\gamma_{5}e\zeta)\right].$$
(5.2)

The first term, which provides the mass of electrons, thus owes its existence to spontaneous symmetry breaking. Since the Standard Model does not include a right handed component for the neutrino, a mass term for the neutrino is not generated by the Standard Model interactions.

But this is not completely true, as was first noted by Wolfenstein [74]. Interactions with a medium results in effective masses for the neutrinos belonging to different lepton families, leading to mixing and oscillations between the different neutrinos, an effect that has been used to explain the solar neutrino problem, as well as the shortfall of electron-antineutrinos coming from reactors. Neutrino oscillations occur because the mass eigenstates of the neutrinos are not identical with their flavour eigenstates. But the neutrino masses must be non-vanishing as well as close to one another for this argument to explain neutrino oscillations in vacuum. In material media the effective mass of the neutrino is significantly modified because of interactions. The change is different for the electron neutrino v_e , which has both charged-current and neutral-current interactions with the electrons in the medium, compared to v_{μ} and v_{τ} which

have only the second kind of interaction. This can enhance neutrino oscillations significantly, depending on the distance travelled in matter by the neutrinos.

Let us first see what happens to neutrinos propagating in vacuum [71, 75, 76]. If the neutrinos are all massless and thus degenerate eigenstates of the Hamiltonian, there will be no oscillation. Suppose however that the neutrinos have mass, different masses for different species, and further that the mass eigenstates are not identical with the flavour eigenstates. This assumption represents departure from the Standard Model. It is justified a posteriori by the observation of neutrino oscillations [77–81]. The price of this assumption is the introduction of additional dynamical degrees of freedom, at scales beyond current limits of experimental observation, to protect electroweak gauge symmetry. Then there will be mixing among neutrino eigenstates, which can be parametrized by a unitary matrix. The neutrino field ν_l which appears in a doublet with a lepton *l* is related to the field ν_{α} whose excitations are mass eigenstates by this matrix *U* as [82]

$$|\nu_{lL}\rangle = \sum_{\alpha} U_{l\alpha} |\nu_{\alpha L}\rangle.$$
(5.3)

At time *t* , the flavour eigenstates are related to the mass eigenstates by

$$|\nu_{lL}\rangle = \sum_{\alpha} e^{-iE_{\alpha}t} U_{l\alpha} |\nu_{\alpha L}\rangle.$$
(5.4)

It can be usually assumed quite safely that in any process different neutrinos are produced with spatial momenta of the same magnitude, so that if neutrinos are massless or if all neutrinos have the same mass, all the E_{α} are the same and there is no oscillation among the neutrino flavour states. I will then suppose that neutrinos have different masses, $m_{\alpha} \neq 0$ and all different. Then the probability of finding a $v_{l'}$ at time *t* in a beam that had started out as v_l is given by

$$P_{\nu_{l'}\nu_{l}}(t) = |\langle \nu_{l'}|\nu_{l}(t)\rangle|^{2}$$

=
$$\sum_{\alpha,\beta} \left| U_{l'\alpha}^{*} U_{l\alpha} U_{l\beta}^{*} U_{l'\beta} \right| \cos\left((E_{\alpha} - E_{\beta})t - \phi_{ll'\alpha\beta} \right) , \qquad (5.5)$$

where $\phi_{ll'\alpha\beta} = \arg\left(U_{l'\alpha}^* U_{l\alpha} U_{l\beta}^* U_{l'\beta}\right)$. The neutrinos are ultrarelativistic and start with the same spatial momenta, so I can write their energies as $E_{\alpha} \simeq E + \frac{m_{\alpha}^2}{2E}$. I can also replace the time of travel *t* by the distance of travel *x* and write

$$P_{\nu_{l'}\nu_{l}}(t) = \sum_{\alpha,\beta} \left| U_{l'\alpha}^* U_{l\alpha} U_{l\beta}^* U_{l'\beta} \right| \cos\left(\frac{(m_{\alpha}^2 - m_{\beta}^2)x}{2E} - \phi_{ll'\alpha\beta}\right).$$
(5.6)

Clearly there will be no mixing and no oscillation if the neutrinos have vanishing mass in the vacuum. Interactions with a medium results in different effective masses for the neutrinos belonging to different lepton families, as first noted by Wolfenstein [74], but a neutrino mass is still needed. On a curved spacetime however, geometry provides an additional interaction with other fermions, thus a contribution to the Hamiltonian, challenging this conclusion.

Let us recall the nonlinear Dirac equation of Eq. (3.30)

$$\gamma^{K} e_{K}^{\mu} \partial_{\mu} \psi - \frac{i}{4} \omega_{\mu}^{IJ} e^{\mu K} \gamma_{K} \sigma_{IJ} \psi + m \psi - \frac{i\kappa}{64} \bar{\psi} \{\gamma_{K}, \sigma_{IJ}\} \psi \{\gamma^{K}, \sigma^{IJ}\} \psi = 0.$$
(5.7)

This equation was obtained from the total action of Eq. (3.19). The last term in the Dirac equation in particular, resulted from the on-shell expression of the spin connection given by Eq. (3.22b) i. e.,

$$A^{IJ}_{\mu} \equiv \omega^{IJ}_{\mu}[e] + \Lambda^{IJ}_{\mu} = \omega^{IJ}_{\mu}[e] + \frac{\kappa}{8}\bar{\psi}\{\gamma_{K}, \sigma^{IJ}\}\psi e^{K}_{\mu}.$$
(5.8)

Using the properties of γ and σ matrices (Appendix F), the Dirac equation can be written as

$$\gamma^{K} e^{\mu}_{K} \partial_{\mu} \psi - \frac{i}{4} \omega^{IJ}_{\mu} e^{\mu K} \gamma_{K} \sigma_{IJ} \psi + m \psi + \frac{3i\kappa}{8} \left(\bar{\psi} \gamma^{I} \gamma^{5} \psi \right) \gamma_{I} \gamma^{5} \psi = 0.$$
(5.9)

Also Einstein's equation is given by

$$R_{\mu\nu} - \frac{1}{2}g_{\mu\nu}R = \kappa T_{\mu\nu}, \qquad (5.10)$$

where the stress-energy tensor $T_{\mu\nu}$ is now quartic in the fermionic field,

$$T_{\mu\nu}(\psi,\bar{\psi}) = \frac{i}{4} \left(\partial_{\mu}\bar{\psi}\gamma_{I}\psi e_{\nu}^{I} - \bar{\psi}\gamma_{I}\partial_{\mu}\psi e_{\nu}^{I} + \frac{i}{4}\omega_{\mu}^{IJ}e_{\nu}^{K}\bar{\psi}\{\gamma_{K},\sigma_{IJ}\} + \psi + (\mu\leftrightarrow\nu) \right) \\ + img_{\mu\nu}\bar{\psi}\psi - \frac{3\kappa}{16}g_{\mu\nu}\left(\bar{\psi}\gamma^{I}\gamma_{5}\psi\right)^{2}.$$
(5.11)

It should be noted that the above equations are for one species of fermion only. One important point often gets overlooked or at least is not explicitly mentioned, which is the fact that every fermion field must be included in the matter action and therefore all fermions will be present in the expression for spin connection,

$$A^{IJ}_{\mu} = \omega^{IJ}_{\mu} + \frac{\kappa}{8} e^{K}_{\mu} \sum_{f} \bar{\psi}_{f} \{\gamma_{K}, \sigma^{IJ}\} \psi_{f}, \qquad (5.12)$$

where the sum is over all species of fermions present in the universe. This term will also appear in the nonlinear Dirac equation for each type of fermion,

$$\gamma^{K} e_{K}^{\mu} \partial_{\mu} \psi_{i} - \frac{i}{4} \omega_{\mu}^{IJ} e^{\mu K} \gamma_{K} \sigma_{IJ} \psi_{i} + m \psi_{i} + \frac{3i\kappa}{8} \left(\sum_{f} \bar{\psi}_{f} \gamma^{I} \gamma^{5} \psi_{f} \right) \gamma_{I} \gamma^{5} \psi_{i} = 0.$$
(5.13)

We have seen in Eq. (5.8) that the spin connection comes out in the form $A_{\mu}^{IJ} = \omega_{\mu}^{IJ} + \Lambda_{\mu}^{IJ}$ on-shell. Let us see what happens if I decompose the spin connection in this form on-shell with Λ being independent of the tetrads as long as equations of motion are not used. With this decomposition I can write $F_{\mu\nu}^{IJ}(A)$ as

$$F_{\mu\nu}^{IJ}(A) = \hat{F}_{\mu\nu}^{IJ}(\omega) + \partial_{[\mu}\Lambda_{\nu]}^{IJ} + \left[\omega_{[\mu},\Lambda_{\nu]}\right] + \eta_{KL}\Lambda_{[\mu}^{IK}\Lambda_{\nu]}^{LJ}.$$
(5.14)

Extremising the action

$$S = \int |e| d^{4}x \quad \left[\frac{1}{2\kappa} \left(\widehat{F}_{\mu\nu}^{IJ}(\omega) + \partial_{[\mu}\Lambda_{\nu]}^{IJ} + \left[\omega_{[\mu}, \Lambda_{\nu]} \right] + \eta_{KL}\Lambda_{[\mu}^{IK}\Lambda_{\nu]}^{LJ} \right) e_{I}^{\mu}e_{J}^{\nu} \right. \\ \left. + \frac{i}{2}\sum_{f} \left(\bar{\psi}_{f}\gamma^{K}e_{K}^{\mu} \,\widehat{D}_{\mu}^{f}\psi_{f} - (\bar{\psi}_{f}\gamma^{K}e_{K}^{\mu} \,\widehat{D}_{\mu}^{f}\psi_{f})^{\dagger} + 2m_{f}\bar{\psi}_{f}\psi_{f} \right) \right. \\ \left. + \frac{1}{2\kappa}\eta_{KL}\Lambda_{[\mu}^{IK}\Lambda_{\nu]}^{LJ}e_{I}^{\mu}e_{J}^{\nu} + \frac{1}{8}\sum_{f}e_{K}^{\mu}\Lambda_{\mu}^{IJ}\bar{\psi}_{f}\{\gamma^{K},\sigma_{IJ}\}\psi_{f} \right] .$$

$$(5.15)$$

with respect to Λ I find that the only nonvanishing variations come from the fermionic part of the action and the last term of $F_{\mu\nu}^{IJ}(A)$, so that the equation of motion for Λ is

$$\Lambda_{\mu}^{IJ} = \frac{\kappa}{8} e_{\mu}^{K} \sum_{f} \bar{\psi}_{f} \{\gamma_{K}, \sigma^{IJ}\} \psi_{f} \,. \tag{5.16}$$

I can insert this solution for Λ into the Einstein's equations and the Dirac equation, which are then exactly the same as the equations found above. Furthermore, if I substitute this expression in the action, the resulting Einstein's equations and the Dirac equation are also exactly the same as found above. In general, inserting a solution into the action gives incorrect results. In this case however, the antisymmetrized covariant derivative of Λ contribute to a total derivative in the action, so Λ is an auxiliary field (see Appendix (C)).

The total action of gravity with fermions is thus

$$S = \int |e| d^{4}x \quad \left[\frac{1}{2\kappa} \widehat{F}_{\mu\nu}^{IJ}(\omega) e_{I}^{\mu} e_{J}^{\nu} + \frac{i}{2} \sum_{f} \left(\bar{\psi}_{f} \gamma^{K} e_{K}^{\mu} \, \widehat{D}_{\mu}^{f} \psi_{f} - (\bar{\psi}_{f} \gamma^{K} e_{K}^{\mu} \, \widehat{D}_{\mu}^{f} \psi_{f})^{\dagger} + 2m_{f} \bar{\psi}_{f} \psi_{f}\right) \\ + \frac{1}{2\kappa} \eta_{KL} \Lambda_{[\mu}^{IK} \Lambda_{\nu]}^{LJ} e_{I}^{\mu} e_{J}^{\nu} + \frac{1}{8} \sum_{f} e_{K}^{\mu} \Lambda_{\mu}^{IJ} \bar{\psi}_{f} \{\gamma^{K}, \sigma_{IJ}\} \psi_{f}\right].$$
(5.17)

What I have is nothing more than general relativity with fermions. The contorsion Λ is an auxiliary field which enforces the interaction of spacetime geometry with fermionic fields but does not propagate. In the absence of fermions Λ vanishes, irrespective of any bosonic fields present as long as they are minimally coupled to gravity. Again this is all very well known, but writing the action in this form draws attention to another aspect which seems to have been overlooked.

The invariance of this action under local Lorentz transformations means that Λ transforms homogeneously under them. In particular, the last term of the above action is invariant on its own. Since Λ does not transform inhomogeneously, the coupling of Λ to fermions is not like the coupling of a gauge field to fermions. The transformation of fermions does not affect that of Λ , so their coupling is not protected by any invariance. This way it is more analogous to the coupling of a real scalar field to fermions – the coefficient of $\bar{\psi}\phi\psi$ can be freely set by hand. But unlike a scalar field, Λ can couple chirally to fermions – it couples to the left-handed neutrinos irrespective of whether or not there are right-handed neutrinos in the universe. So there is no reason why different species of fermions cannot be coupled to Λ with different coupling strengths, analogous to the Yukawa coupling of fermions to a scalar field.

Therefore the generic form of the action of fermions coupled to gravity must be, not (5.17), but

$$\begin{split} S &= \int |e| d^4 x \quad \left[\frac{1}{2\kappa} \widehat{F}^{IJ}_{\mu\nu}(\omega) e^{\mu}_{I} e^{\nu}_{J} + \frac{i}{2} \sum_{f} \left(\bar{\psi}_{f} \gamma^{K} e^{\mu}_{K} \, \widehat{D}^{f}_{\mu} \psi_{f} - (\bar{\psi}_{f} \gamma^{K} e^{\mu}_{K} \, \widehat{D}^{f}_{\mu} \psi_{f})^{\dagger} + 2 m_{f} \bar{\psi}_{f} \psi_{f} \right) \\ &+ \frac{1}{2\kappa} \eta_{KL} \Lambda^{IK}_{[\mu} \Lambda^{LJ}_{\nu]} e^{\mu}_{I} e^{\nu}_{J} + \frac{1}{8} \sum_{f} \Lambda^{IJ}_{\mu} e^{\mu}_{K} \left(\lambda_{fL} \bar{\psi}_{fL} \{ \gamma^{K}, \sigma_{IJ} \} \psi_{fL} \right) \\ &+ \lambda_{fR} \bar{\psi}_{fR} \{ \gamma^{K}, \sigma_{IJ} \} \psi_{fR} \right] , \end{split}$$

(5.18)
where I have taken into account the possibility that the tensor currents due to left and right-handed fermions, which transform independently under local Lorentz transformations, may couple to Λ with different coupling constants λ_{fL} and λ_{fR} , respectively. Even though in this form the action appears to be a philosophical departure from how fermions have always been treated in general relativity, it is in fact a generic form which must inevitably appear when fermions are put in curved spacetime, unless the coupling constants λ_f are set to zero by fiat. Furthermore, since Λ leads to a torsion

$$C^{\alpha}_{\ \mu\nu} \equiv \Lambda^{IJ}_{[\mu} e_{\nu]J} e^{\alpha}_{I} = \frac{\kappa}{2} \epsilon^{IJKL} e^{\alpha}_{I} e_{\mu J} e_{\nu K} \sum_{f} \lambda_{f} \bar{\psi}_{f} \gamma_{L} \gamma_{5} \psi_{f} , \qquad (5.19)$$

which is totally antisymmetric and thus does not affect geodesics, all particles fall at the same rate in a gravitational field and the principle of equivalence is not violated by these coupling constants. I have also checked that inclusion of coupling constants does not affect the current conservation of different fermions (Appendix E).

Solving for Λ and inserting the solution back into the action as before, produces the effective action

$$S = \int |e| d^4x \quad \left[\frac{1}{2\kappa} \widehat{F}^{IJ}_{\mu\nu}(\omega) e^{\mu}_I e^{\nu}_J + \frac{i}{2} \sum_f \left(\bar{\psi}_f \gamma^K e^{\mu}_K \, \widehat{D}^f_\mu \psi_f - (\bar{\psi}_f \gamma^K e^{\mu}_K \, \widehat{D}^f_\mu \psi_f)^\dagger + 2m_f \bar{\psi}_f \psi_f \right) \\ - \frac{3\kappa}{16} \left(\sum_f \left(\lambda_{fL} \bar{\psi}_{fL} \gamma_I \gamma^5 \psi_{fL} + \lambda_{fR} \bar{\psi}_{fR} \gamma_I \gamma^5 \psi_{fR} \right) \right)^2 \right].$$
(5.20)

I will use this action of fermions in curved spacetime as the starting point of further calculations below. It is in fact not meaningful to work with a Dirac equation containing Λ , because Λ must always equal its on-shell value. Furthermore, the quartic term is independent of the background metric, but must be included as long as there is gravity in the universe. The only ways this term can be absent from the action are if gravity is turned off ($\kappa \rightarrow 0$), or if the quartic couplings λ_f are assumed to be zero. This term is suppressed by two powers of Planck mass compared to the mass term, but it could still help avert gravitational singularities [19, 65, 83, 84]. We will see that it can also in principle allow neutrino oscillations even when the neutrinos are massless.

5.1 NEUTRINO OSCILLATIONS

In considering the propagation of neutrinos through normal matter, i. e. solar or stellar cores or nuclear reactors, I need to take into account only the effects due to electrons and nucleons (or three colors each of up and down quarks) in addition to the quartic self-interaction of the neutrinos. Weak interactions will be present of course, I will come back to the effect of that. I will also restrict to only two types of neutrinos as before. The quartic term relevant to my purpose is

$$\mathscr{L}_{(\bar{\psi}\psi)^{2}} = -\frac{3\kappa}{16} \left[\sum_{\alpha,\beta} \lambda_{\nu_{\alpha}} \lambda_{\nu_{\beta}} (\bar{\nu}_{\alpha} \gamma_{I} \nu_{\alpha}) (\bar{\nu}_{\beta} \gamma^{I} \nu_{\beta}) -2 \sum_{\alpha,f} \lambda_{\nu_{\alpha}} (\bar{\nu}_{\alpha} \gamma_{I} \nu_{\alpha}) \left(-\lambda_{fV} \bar{\psi}_{f} \gamma^{I} \psi_{f} + \lambda_{fA} \bar{\psi}_{f} \gamma^{I} \gamma^{5} \psi_{f} \right) \right] + \cdots,$$
(5.21)

where I have used the fact the neutrinos are left-handed, written $\lambda_V = \frac{1}{2}(\lambda_L - \lambda_R)$, $\lambda_A = \frac{1}{2}(\lambda_L + \lambda_R)$ for the other fermions, and indicated by dots the terms which do not involve neutrinos. It is easy to see that the ν_{α} which appear in the above expression, i.e. those which couple to Λ in (5.18), must be the mass eigenstates.

Following Wolfenstein [74] I calculate the forward scattering amplitude of the α -type neutrinos,

$$\mathcal{M} = -\frac{3\kappa}{8} \left(\bar{\nu}_{\alpha} \gamma_{I} \nu_{\alpha} \right) \lambda_{\nu_{\alpha}} \left\langle \sum_{\beta} \lambda_{\nu_{\beta}} \bar{\nu}_{\beta} \gamma^{I} \nu_{\beta} + \sum_{f=e,p,n} \left(\lambda_{fV} \bar{\psi}_{f} \gamma^{I} \psi_{f} - \lambda_{fA} \bar{\psi}_{f} \gamma^{I} \gamma^{5} \psi_{f} \right) \right\rangle,$$
(5.22)

where the average is taken over the background. In the second sum, the spatial components of the axial current average to spin in the nonrelativistic limit, which for normal matter is negligible. The axial charge is also negligible. Similarly, the spatial components of the vector current average to the spatial momentum of the background, which can also be neglected. Since neutrinos are ultrarelativistic, their density inside a finite volume such as a star is bounded by the rate of production times the average density of the region, i.e., several orders of magnitudes smaller than the density of electrons or baryons. Thus the average of the neutrino term can also be neglected. So what I am left with is the average of the temporal component of the vector current of fermions, which is nothing but the number density of the fermions,

$$\langle \bar{\psi}\gamma^0\psi\rangle = -\langle \psi_f^{\dagger}\psi_f\rangle = -n_f.$$
(5.23)

It should be noted that the "density" of the fermion field is the time component of $J^{\mu} \equiv e_I^{\mu} \bar{\psi} \gamma^I \psi$. If the spacetime allows a 3+1 decomposition of the background metric as $g_{\mu\nu} = (-\lambda^2 + h_{ij})$, the volume measures can be related as $\sqrt{-g} = \lambda \sqrt{h}$ and $e_I^0 = \lambda^{-1} \delta_I^0$, where δ_I^{μ} is the Kronecker delta. In this case $J^0 = -\lambda^{-1} \psi^{\dagger} \psi$ which is integrated over three spatial dimensions against the volume measure $\lambda \sqrt{h}$. I have assumed this decomposition.

The contribution of the forward scattering amplitude to the effective Hamiltonian density is therefore

$$\delta\mathscr{H}_{\text{eff}} = \left(\sum_{f=e,p,n} \lambda_f n_f\right) \sum_{\alpha} \lambda_{\nu_{\alpha}} \nu_{\alpha}^{\dagger} \nu_{\alpha}, \tag{5.24}$$

where I have now dropped the subscript *V* and absorbed a factor of $\sqrt{\frac{3\kappa}{8}}$ in the definition of each of the λ .

This term acts as an effective mass term for the neutrinos, with $m_{\alpha} = \lambda_{\nu_{\alpha}}\rho$, where $\rho = \sum \lambda_f n_f$ is a weighted density of fermions (excluding neutrinos) that is the same for all neutrinos. This effective mass term modifies the mass of the neutrino and thus the oscillation formula, but even more interestingly, this term will cause neutrino oscillations even if neutrinos are massless. In that case, with two species of neutrinos I should replace $|m_2^2 - m_1^2|$ by $\rho^2 |\lambda_{\nu_2}^2 - \lambda_{\nu_1}^2|$ for constant density. The mixing matrix takes the form $U = \begin{pmatrix} \cos \theta & \sin \theta \\ -\sin \theta & \cos \theta \end{pmatrix}$, so the probability of conversion of one particular flavour of neutrino into the other in a regions with constant density becomes

$$P_{\rm conv} = \sin^2 2\theta \sin^2 \left(\frac{\rho^2 \Delta \lambda^2}{4E} x\right) , \qquad (5.25)$$

where $\Delta \lambda^2 = |\lambda_{\nu_2}^2 - \lambda_{\nu_1}^2|$.

This result is qualitatively different from the usual formula for neutrino oscillations in vacuum. If I do not write a mass term for the neutrino, all contributions to neutrino mass comes from the quartic interaction of the neutrino with fermions in the background as well as with itself. The actual background geometry of the spacetime does not contribute to the effective mass, at least for small curvatures, for which the leading order result of the forward scattering amplitude is sufficient. Thus a neutrino propagating through vacuum would not oscillate into different flavours, but oscillation would occur only in the region where there is a fermion density and stop when the neutrino leaves that region. This is exactly like what happens for oscillation due to weak interactions, except for the fact that in the case of quartic interaction induced by torsion, leptons and baryons all contribute to the effective mass of neutrinos. It should be noted that the coupling constants λ cannot be fixed by appealing to a more fundamental theory, but are in principle measurable by looking at oscillations when the neutrinos pass through different media, such as stars with different baryon densities, or nuclear reactor cores.

A non-vanishing λ_V for any fermion requires that the left-handed component of the fermion does not couple to torsion with the same strength as the right-handed component. Thus chiral symmetry is broken by torsion, or alternatively, by the quartic term which has its origin in spacetime geometry. It should be noted that it is not only neutrinos, but all fermions get a contribution to their masses from this geometrical mechanism. Even if I assume that the contribution to effective mass is of the same order for all fermions in the same background matter density, the mass of very dense stars can be significantly larger than what is calculated from their baryon count. This can be expected to affect stellar models, dark matter estimates, and cosmology.

5.2 WEAK INTERACTIONS

Neutrinos passing through matter will also interact with it via electroweak gauge fields. In this case, if I look at the effective four-fermion interaction at lowest order, only the interactions with electrons are relevant. This is because the weak interaction couples flavour eigenstates of the neutrinos with other fields; v_e couples to electrons via both charged and neutral currents, while v_{μ} couples to electrons only via the neutral current. The modification of the mixing angle due to weak interactions in normal matter is straightforward to calculate [82], as I will show in outline below. The effective Lagrangian due to the charged current interaction can be written as

$$\mathscr{L}_{cc} = -\frac{G_F}{\sqrt{2}} \left(\bar{\psi}_e \gamma^I (1 - \gamma^5) \psi_e \right) \left(\bar{\nu}_e \gamma_I (1 - \gamma^5) \nu_e \right) , \qquad (5.26)$$

where a Fierz identity has been used (see Appendix F). The (elastic) forward scattering amplitude provides the contribution to the Hamiltonian, $\sqrt{2}G_F \langle \bar{\psi}_e \gamma^I (1 - \gamma^5) \psi_e \rangle \langle \bar{v}_{eL} \gamma_I v_{eL} \rangle \simeq \sqrt{2}G_F n_e v_{eL}^{\dagger} v_{eL}$. Normal matter does not contain muons, so v_{μ} does not have a charged current interaction.

Both flavours of neutrinos have the same neutral current interactions, so that the contribution appears as a common term to the Hamiltonian,

$$V_{\rm nc} = \sqrt{2}G_F \sum_{f=e,p,n} n_f \left[I_{3L}^f - 2\sin^2 \theta_W Q^f \right] , \qquad (5.27)$$

where I_{3L}^{f} is the third component of weak isospin for the left-handed component of the fermion f and Q_{f} is its charge. For electrically neutral normal matter, the electron and proton contributions cancel each other and I am left with only the neutron contribution, equal to $-\sqrt{2}G_{F}n_{n}/2$ for both types of neutrinos. The Hamiltonian, diagonal in the space of mass eigenstates, can thus be written in flavour space as

$$H = H_c \mathbb{I} + \frac{\Delta m^2}{4E} \begin{pmatrix} -\cos\theta & \sin\theta\\ \sin\theta & \cos\theta \end{pmatrix} + \begin{pmatrix} \sqrt{2}G_F n_e & 0\\ 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (5.28)

Here I have written H_c for the common terms in the Hamiltonian, and $\Delta m^2 = \rho^2 |\lambda_{\nu_2}^2 - \lambda_{\nu_1}^2|$. The effective mixing angle $\tilde{\theta}$, including the effects of both the geometric and weak contributions, for constant densities is thus given by

$$\tan 2\tilde{\theta} = \frac{\Delta m^2 \sin 2\theta}{\Delta m^2 \cos 2\theta - 2\sqrt{2}G_F n_e E}.$$
(5.29)

This formula is for ultrarelativistic neutrinos, and thus valid only in regions where matter density is not too high. For regions with low matter density and $n_e \simeq n_p \ge n_n$ and $n_e \rightarrow 0$, I find that the right hand side is proportional to n_e/E . For three generations of leptons I can make similar substitutions into the standard formula for neutrino oscillations. For neutrinos passing through regions where the matter density is not constant (MSW effect [74, 85, 86]), nonlinearity introduces additional complications particularly for very large matter densities, since effective masses of neutrinos and thus Δm^2 , can vary greatly in such situations. I will not attempt to do that calculation here.

If I am interested only in calculating neutrino oscillations, I could take a pragmatic approach and start with Eq. (5.21) as the defining interaction term. This term is very similar to what is called non-standard neutrino interactions (NSI) [87–90], in this case

flavour-changing in the neutrino sector. However, the geometrical origin of this interaction means that all fermions are in quartic interaction with one another, including themselves. At low energies and for matter at normal densities, the only effect of this is expected to be on neutrino dynamics as I have discussed in this chapter, but at high energies as well as for high densities of matter, for example in stellar collapse or in the early universe, I can expect this interaction to play an important role. It is also not meaningful to talk about the quartic interactions in the absence of gravity. This is related to the fact that the quartic term appears to make the model nonrenormalizable by power counting. Because of their origin from curved spacetime, the quartic couplings contain in them a factor of $\sqrt{\kappa}$ and thus must vanish in the flat space limit. So the counterterms in curved spacetime will have to involve curvature, thus the question of renormalizability cannot be addressed without a theory of quantum gravity, as has been noted elsewhere [91].

The second point is about the size of the quartic term. Is the contribution of this term to neutrino oscillations negligibly small? I think that this question cannot be answered purely theoretically. Unlike in the case of weak interactions, where the energy required to create *W*-boson pairs from the vacuum sets the scale of the four-fermion interaction (and the oscillation formula can be calculated directly from quantum field theory [92]), here the scale is not related to the quantum dynamics of the contorsion Λ , which does not in fact have any dynamics. Therefore the coupling constants λ are free and can be set only by comparison with experimental data, not from any theoretical argument. By comparing with the NSI couplings, I can expect that the λ are one or two orders of magnitude smaller than the effective quartic couplings coming from weak interactions, i. e., than the Fermi constant. If the neutrinos are massless in vacuum, the flavour-changing interaction becomes crucial for oscillations inside matter, even if it is small.

It should be noted that the use of torsion for oscillation of massless neutrinos has been proposed earlier in [93]. A coupling of neutrinos to torsion analogous to the last term in Eq. (5.17) was proposed, with different couplings for different species of neutrinos. In this case the torsion is proportional to the spin density of the background, which for normal matter – i. e. if spins are not aligned – averages to zero over macroscopic volumes, so the effect on oscillations is very small. By breaking chiral symmetry in the coupling of fermions to torsion, and by using the fact that all fermions couple to torsion, I expect to find a much larger effect. There have been proposals of nonuniversal gravitational couplings of neutrinos leading to oscillations [94, 95], with the nonuniversality of couplings being subject to experimental constraints. In this case the equivalence principle is violated at the quantum level. In our proposal, nonuniversality of fermion couplings is restricted to their couplings with torsion, while their coupling with background gravity is universal – all particles continue to fall at the same rate.

6

PERTURBATIONS IN VIERBEIN-EINSTEIN-PALATINI FORMALISM

General relativity is a nonlinear theory. A linearised approximation to the theory can be obtained by considering the weak field limit of gravitational field. The spacetime metric can be considered as a flat background metric (Minkowski) plus a perturbation [17]. Einstein's equation turns out to be a linear second order equation in the perturbation. In this chapter¹ I will consider the weak field limit of the vierbein-Einstein-palatini variables. The idea of perturbing the vierbein is not a new one (a representative list is [96–104]), but our work differs from earlier work in an important manner. In all papers dealing with vierbein perturbations that I have been able to find, the perturbations were considered around a flat background spacetime. In such cases, the background spacetime and the internal Lorentz space are identical, and as a result the background tetrad can be written as a Kronecker delta, $e_{\mu}^{I} = \delta_{\mu}^{I}$. Furthermore, the background connection is then trivially flat and torsion-free, which means no attention is paid to the independent nature of the spin connection. In this chapter I will assume a general curved background and an independent spin connection, so tetrad fields are not constant, while the absence of torsion is implemented by the equations of motion for the spin connection only in the absence of fermionic matter. When fermions are coupled to the spin connection, torsion remains as a part of the spin connection, and the latter cannot be completely eliminated from the perturbation equations. Gravity with torsion has seen interests in many places [101, 105–108]. I am interested in perturbation of tetrads and spin connection in particular, as torsion can be written in terms of these variables.

¹ The work reported here is based on the paper "Weak field limit in vierbein-Einstein-Palatini formalism and Fierz-Pauli Equation", Subhasish Chakrabarty and Amitabha Lahiri, arXiv:1507.03884 [gr-qc].

I will briefly recapitulate the formalism of metric perturbation theory. In this, the spacetime metric is written as a background metric plus a perturbation. Often we are interested in a flat background, in which case

$$g_{\mu\nu} = \eta_{\mu\nu} + h_{\mu\nu} \,,$$
 (6.1)

with

$$|h_{\mu\nu}| \ll 1 \tag{6.2}$$

for each component. It should be noted that $h_{\mu\nu}$ is often defined with a factor of *G* or κ so that its smallness as given by the above equation becomes apparent. The inverse is given by

$$g^{\mu\nu} = \eta^{\mu\nu} - h^{\mu\nu} \,, \tag{6.3}$$

where all indices are raised and lowered with η .

The linearised Riemann and Ricci tensors, and the Ricci scalar, are thus

$$R_{\mu\nu\rho\sigma} = \partial_{\rho}\partial_{\nu}h_{\mu\sigma} + \partial_{\sigma}\partial_{\mu}h_{\nu\rho} - \partial_{\sigma}\partial_{\nu}h_{\mu\rho} - \partial_{\rho}\partial_{\mu}h_{\nu\sigma}, \qquad (6.4)$$

$$R_{\mu\nu} = \frac{1}{2} \left[\partial_{\sigma} \partial_{\nu} h^{\sigma}_{\ \mu} + \partial_{\sigma} \partial_{\mu} h^{\sigma}_{\ \nu} - \partial_{\mu} \partial_{\nu} h - \Box h_{\mu\nu} \right] , \qquad (6.5)$$

$$R = \partial_{\rho} \partial_{\sigma} h^{\rho\sigma} - \Box h , \qquad (6.6)$$

where *h* is the trace of the perturbation, $h = \eta^{\mu\nu} h_{\mu\nu}$. The linearised Einstein's equation in vacuum follows from these,

$$\frac{1}{2}[\partial_{\sigma}\partial_{\nu}h^{\sigma}_{\ \mu} + \partial_{\sigma}\partial_{\mu}h^{\sigma}_{\ \nu} - \partial_{\mu}\partial_{\nu}h - \Box h_{\mu\nu} - \eta_{\mu\nu}\partial_{\rho}\partial_{\sigma}h^{\rho\sigma} + \eta_{\mu\nu}\Box h] = \kappa T_{\mu\nu}, \qquad (6.7)$$

which is the linearised form of $G_{\mu\nu} = \kappa T_{\mu\nu}$. The linearised version written above is for a special situation where the background is taken to be flat. I will consider perturbations around a general curved background. I will denote the background metric by $\bar{g}_{\mu\nu}$ so that the total metric is written as $g_{\mu\nu} = \bar{g}_{\mu\nu} + h_{\mu\nu}$. Then the Christoffel symbols are

$$\widehat{\Gamma}^{\alpha}_{\ \mu\nu} = \overline{\widehat{\Gamma}}^{\alpha}_{\ \mu\nu} - \frac{1}{2}h^{\alpha\lambda} \left[\partial_{\mu}\overline{g}_{\lambda\nu} + \partial_{\nu}\overline{g}_{\mu\lambda} - \partial_{\lambda}\overline{g}_{\mu\nu}\right] + \frac{1}{2}\overline{g}^{\alpha\lambda} \left[\partial_{\mu}h_{\lambda\nu} + \partial_{\nu}h_{\mu\lambda} - \partial_{\lambda}h_{\mu\nu}\right] + \mathcal{O}(h^{2}),$$
(6.8)

where now the indices are lowered and raised by $\bar{g}_{\mu\nu}$ and its inverse $\bar{g}^{\mu\nu}$, respectively, and quantities pertaining to the background are denoted by a bar.

By calculating the Einstein tensor using these Christoffel symbols, I can write the Einstein's equation for an arbitrary background,

$$\bar{R}_{\mu\nu} - \frac{1}{2} \left(\bar{g}_{\mu\nu} \bar{g}^{\alpha\beta} + h_{\mu\nu} \bar{g}^{\alpha\beta} - \bar{g}_{\mu\nu} h^{\alpha\beta} \right) \bar{R}_{\alpha\beta} + R^{1}_{\mu\nu} - \frac{1}{2} \bar{g}_{\mu\nu} \bar{g}^{\alpha\beta} R^{1}_{\alpha\beta} = 8\pi G T_{\mu\nu} \,, \tag{6.9}$$

where the Ricci tensor $\bar{R}_{\mu\nu}$ is derived from the background metric $\bar{g}_{\mu\nu}$, and the quantity $R^1_{\mu\nu}$ is the part of the Ricci tensor linear in h. This equation, however, contains the background equation $\bar{R}_{\mu\nu} - \frac{1}{2}\bar{g}_{\mu\nu}\bar{R} = 8\pi G\bar{T}_{\mu\nu}$ which needs to be eliminated. It should be noted that if the stress-energy tensor is calculated from a matter action by varying the metric, $T_{\mu\nu}$ and $\bar{T}_{\mu\nu}$ are not equal in general. Thus I can finally write the equation for gravitational perturbations as

$$\frac{1}{2} \left(\bar{g}_{\mu\nu} h^{\alpha\beta} - h_{\mu\nu} \bar{g}^{\alpha\beta} \right) \bar{R}_{\alpha\beta} + R^{1}_{\mu\nu} - \frac{1}{2} \bar{g}_{\mu\nu} \bar{g}^{\alpha\beta} R^{1}_{\alpha\beta} = 8\pi G \left(T_{\mu\nu} - \bar{T}_{\mu\nu} \right) \,. \tag{6.10}$$

In this chapter, I will consider the weak field limit of the vierbein-Einstein-Palatini variables by perturbing them around arbitrary background. The perturbation of the tetrads can be related to metric perturbation in General Relativity. For the spin conneciton, as long as it is independent, the perturbation should be treated as an independent quantity as well. Although the spin connection is expressible in terms of the tetrad in the absence of matter, in particular fermionic matter, as Eq. (2.28) relies crucially on the connection being torsion-free, which in this formalism follows from the matter action being independent of the spin connection A^{IJ}_{μ} . But in general one should treat the tetrads and spin connection as independent variables. Thus, perturbations of these variables around some background solution of the equations are off-shell objects a priori and need not satisfy the same equations as the background solutions.

For the present purpose I will consider the perturbation of the co-tetrad first and write e_I^{μ} as a sum of the background and perturbation,

$$e_I^{\mu} = \bar{e}_I^{\mu} + f_I^{\mu}, \tag{6.11}$$

where f_I^{μ} is much smaller than \bar{e}_I^{μ} (more precisely, $\text{Tr}(\bar{e}_{\mu}^I f_I^{\mu}) \ll 1$). I will denote background quantities by a bar on top. In order to calculate the perturbation of tetrads, I use their definition $e_I^{\mu} e_{\nu}^I = \delta_{\nu}^{\mu} = \bar{e}_I^{\mu} \bar{e}_{\nu}^I$, where the internal index is raised and lowered with η_{II} as before. Thus I find

$$e^{I}_{\mu} = \bar{e}^{I}_{\mu} - \bar{e}^{J}_{\mu} \bar{e}^{I}_{\alpha} f^{\alpha}_{J}.$$
(6.12)

I will often denote $-\bar{e}^{I}_{\mu}\bar{e}^{I}_{\alpha}f^{\alpha}_{J}$ as \tilde{f}^{I}_{μ} . The spacetime indices will be raised and lowered by the total spacetime metric $g_{\mu\nu} = e^{I}_{\mu}e_{I\nu}$ when needed. By writing the background metric as $\bar{g}_{\mu\nu} = \bar{e}^{I}_{\mu}\bar{e}_{I\nu}$, I can identify the metric perturbation $h_{\mu\nu}$ in terms of the background tetrad \bar{e}^{I}_{μ} and the tetrad perturbation \tilde{f}^{I}_{μ} as

$$h_{\mu\nu} = \bar{e}_{I\mu}\tilde{f}^{I}_{\nu} + \bar{e}_{I\nu}\tilde{f}^{I}_{\mu}.$$
(6.13)

The background now is any general spacetime, not necessarily flat. I will also write the spin connection as a sum of its value in the background spacetime and a perturbation,

$$A^{IJ}_{\mu} = \bar{A}^{IJ}_{\mu} + a^{IJ}_{\mu}. \tag{6.14}$$

However, since all components \bar{A}^{IJ}_{μ} of the background spin connection may vanish, it is not sensible to treat a^{IJ}_{μ} as small perturbation. In particular, I will not neglect terms quadratic in a^{IJ}_{μ} when calculating the action. Thus I calculate the affine connection up to first order in the perturbation *f* as

$$\Gamma^{\alpha}_{\ \mu\nu} = \bar{\Gamma}^{\alpha}_{\ \mu\nu} + \bar{e}^{\alpha}_{I} \partial_{\mu} \tilde{f}^{I}_{\nu} + f^{\alpha}_{I} \partial_{\mu} \bar{e}^{I}_{\nu} + \bar{A}^{IJ}_{\mu} \bar{e}^{J}_{\nu} f^{\alpha}_{I} + a^{IJ}_{\mu} \bar{e}^{J}_{\nu} f^{\alpha}_{I} + a^{IJ}_{\mu} \bar{e}^{\alpha}_{I} \tilde{f}^{J}_{\nu}.$$
(6.15)

Here $\overline{\Gamma}$ corresponds to the background spacetime,

$$\bar{\Gamma}^{\alpha}_{\ \mu\nu} = \bar{e}^{\alpha}_{I}\partial_{\mu}\bar{e}^{I}_{\nu} + \bar{A}^{I}_{\mu I}\bar{e}^{J}_{\nu}\bar{e}^{\alpha}_{I} \,. \tag{6.16}$$

I will also write the curvature in terms of \overline{A} and a,

$$F_{\mu\nu}^{IJ} = \bar{F}_{\mu\nu}^{IJ} + \mathcal{F}_{\mu\nu}^{IJ}, \qquad (6.17)$$

where \overline{F} is the background curvature and \mathcal{F} , the extra part due to perturbation, can be written in the form

$$\mathcal{F}_{\mu\nu}^{IJ} = \bar{D}_{\mu}a_{\nu}^{IJ} - \bar{D}_{\nu}a_{\mu}^{IJ} + [a_{\mu}, a_{\nu}]^{IJ}, \qquad (6.18)$$

with \overline{D} being the covariant derivative corresponding to the background spin connection \overline{A} . The perturbed vierbein-Einstein-Palatini action is thus

$$S = \frac{1}{16\pi G} \int |e| d^4x \left[F^{IJ}_{\mu\nu} \bar{e}^{\mu}_I \bar{e}^{\nu}_J + 2F^{IJ}_{\mu\nu} \bar{e}^{\mu}_I f^{\nu}_J + F^{IJ}_{\mu\nu} f^{\mu}_I f^{\nu}_J \right] + S_M.$$
(6.19)

The determinant $|e| \equiv |\tilde{e}^I_{\mu} + \tilde{f}^I_{\mu}|$ is now a polynomial in *f*. The lowest order field equations will be of first order in *f*. The variation of the determinant produces

$$\delta|e| = -|e|(\bar{e}^K_{\alpha} + \tilde{f}^K_{\alpha})\delta f^{\alpha}_K, \qquad (6.20)$$

using which I obtain field equations by varying the vierbein-Einstein-Palatini action of Eq. (6.19),

$$(\bar{F}^{IJ}_{\alpha\mu} + \mathcal{F}^{IJ}_{\alpha\mu})(\bar{e}^{\alpha}_{I} + f^{\alpha}_{I}) - \frac{1}{2}(\bar{e}^{J}_{\mu} + \tilde{f}^{J}_{\mu})(\bar{F}^{IJ}_{\alpha\beta} + \mathcal{F}^{IJ}_{\alpha\beta})(\bar{e}^{\alpha}_{K} + f^{\alpha}_{K})(\bar{e}^{\beta}_{L} + f^{\beta}_{L}) = 8\pi G T_{\mu\nu} e^{\nu J}.$$
(6.21)

Of course, I could have obtained these directly from Eq. (2.38) (neglecting $O(\kappa^2)$ terms) by replacing $e \to \bar{e} + \tilde{f}$ and $A \to \bar{A} + a$. However, it is useful to construct the action for the perturbations, as I will later consider matter couplings.

Subtracting the vierbein-Einstein-Palatini equation for the background, I get the equation of motion for the vierbein-Einstein-Palatini perturbations,

$$\bar{F}^{IJ}_{\alpha\mu}f^{\alpha}_{I} - \frac{1}{2}\bar{F}^{KL}_{\alpha\beta}\left[\tilde{f}^{J}_{\mu}\bar{e}^{\alpha}_{K}\bar{e}^{\beta}_{L} + 2\bar{e}^{J}_{\mu}f^{\alpha}_{K}\bar{e}^{\beta}_{L}\right] + \mathcal{F}^{IJ}_{\alpha\mu}\left(\bar{e}^{\alpha}_{I} + f^{\alpha}_{I}\right) \\
- \frac{1}{2}\mathcal{F}^{KL}_{\alpha\beta}\left[\bar{e}^{J}_{\mu}\bar{e}^{\alpha}_{K}\bar{e}^{\beta}_{L} + \tilde{f}^{J}_{\mu}\bar{e}^{\alpha}_{K}\bar{e}^{\beta}_{L} + 2\bar{e}^{J}_{\mu}f^{\alpha}_{K}\bar{e}^{\beta}_{L}\right] = 8\pi G\left(T_{\mu\nu}e^{\nu J} - \bar{T}_{\mu\nu}\bar{e}^{\nu J}\right).$$
(6.22)

This is a generic equation in the sense that I have not considered any particular background, or required that the background be flat, so this is the equation of perturbations around a general background spacetime.

7

CONCLUSION AND SUMMARY

I will conclude the thesis with chapter-wise summary of the calculations and results of different chapters.

• Summary of chapter 2:

In chapter 2 I have introduced the tetrads and the spin connection which are the basic variables in the vierbein-Einstein-Palatini formalism. I have shown how torsion is non-zero at the level of action. I have written the Riemann tensor, Ricci tensor and Ricci scalar in terms of the tetrads and the spin connection and eventually defined the action. We have seen that in case of vacuum or minimally coupled bosonic field, the vierbein-Einstein-Palatini formalism is equivalent to General Relativity. I have also discussed the torsion-free tetrad formulation of General Relativity.

• Summary of chapter 3:

In chapter 3 I have considered different matter fields in the vierbein-Einstein-Palatini formalism. For scalar field and electromagnetic field, I have shown that the torsion-free condition can be imposed a priori. I have considered fermionic field in the tetrad formulation as well as the vierbein-Einstein-Palatini formalism. We have seen that the Dirac equation and Einstein's equation get contributions due to the spin-torsion coupling. I have shown that torsion does not affect the conservation of current of the fermionic field.

• Summary of chapter 4:

In chapter 4 I have discussed conformal transformations in terms of the tetrads and the spin connection. I have shown that at the level of action, the transformation of the spin connection remains indeterminate and one can make different choices of its transformation. I have considered two such choices and shown how they affect the dynamics of different fields. For dynamically generated or on-shell torsion, I have shown that it breaks the conformal invariance of the matter field equations. I have written a general conformal transformation of the off-shell spin connection.

• Summary of chapter 5:

In chapter 5 we have seen how the four-fermion interaction resulting from spintorsion coupling leads to effective masses for neutrinos. I have shown that the Standard Model cannot explain the mass generation for neutrinos although mass is necessary to explain neutrino oscillations. I have written a chiral symmetry breaking Lagrangian for fermions and shown how it can potentially give masses to neutrinos. I have also briefly discussed neutrino oscillations due to weak interactions.

• Summary of chapter 6:

In chapter 6 I have considered the perturbations of the tetrads and the spin connections. Starting with the weak field limit in General Relativity where the background is taken to be flat, I have gone to perturbations on non-flat background. I have written the most general equation of perturbations in terms of the vierbein-Einstein-Palatini variables.

Overall, this thesis is based on a formalism of gravity that looks like other gauge theories. This formalism not only allows one to consider fermions in curved spacetime, but also gives new insights. One of the reasons why torsion is usually neglected is that its effects are small compared to the other terms in field equations. But we have seen that torsion can potentially lead the effective mass generation of neutrinos in regions of fermion density. The contribution in the mass term comes from all fermions including leptons and baryons, and it affects not only neutrinos but all the fermions. In normal matter densities this effect can be negligible for heavier fermions, but in extreme objects it could lead to observable effects and thus open up interesting possibilities of future works.

Appendices

A

TORSION, CURVATURE AND BIANCHI IDENTITIES

A.1 CONTORSION TENSOR

The covariant derivatives on a vector v and a covector w are defined respectively as

$$\nabla_{\mu}v^{\nu} = \partial_{\mu}v^{\nu} + \Gamma^{\nu}_{\ \mu\lambda}v^{\lambda} , \qquad (A.1)$$

$$\nabla_{\mu}w_{\nu} = \partial_{\mu}w_{\nu} - \Gamma^{\lambda}_{\ \mu\nu}w_{\lambda} \,. \tag{A.2}$$

I will find the expression for the affine connection in terms of the Christoffel symbols and contorsion tensor using metric compatibility i.e.,

$$0 = \nabla_{\alpha} g_{\mu\nu} = \partial_{\alpha} g_{\mu\nu} - \Gamma^{\lambda}_{\ \alpha\mu} g_{\lambda\nu} - \Gamma^{\lambda}_{\ \alpha\nu} g_{\mu\lambda} \,. \tag{A.3}$$

Cyclic permutation in the indices α , μ , ν gives

$$\partial_{\mu}g_{\nu\alpha} - \Gamma^{\lambda}{}_{\mu\nu}g_{\lambda\alpha} - \Gamma^{\lambda}{}_{\mu\alpha}g_{\nu\lambda} = 0, \qquad (A.4)$$

$$\partial_{\nu}g_{\alpha\mu} - \Gamma^{\lambda}{}_{\nu\alpha}g_{\lambda\mu} - \Gamma^{\lambda}{}_{\nu\mu}g_{\alpha\lambda} = 0.$$
(A.5)

Now (A.4) + (A.5) - (A.3) gives

$$(\Gamma^{\lambda}_{\mu\nu} + \Gamma^{\lambda}_{\nu\mu})g_{\alpha\lambda} + (\Gamma^{\lambda}_{\nu\alpha} - \Gamma^{\lambda}_{\alpha\nu})g_{\mu\lambda} + (\Gamma^{\lambda}_{\mu\alpha} - \Gamma^{\lambda}_{\alpha\mu})g_{\nu\lambda} = \partial_{\mu}g_{\nu\alpha} + \partial_{\nu}g_{\alpha\mu} - \partial_{\alpha}g_{\mu\nu} \Rightarrow (\Gamma^{\lambda}_{\mu\nu} + \Gamma^{\lambda}_{\nu\mu})g_{\alpha\lambda} + C^{\lambda}_{\nu\alpha}g_{\mu\lambda} + C^{\lambda}_{\mu\alpha}g_{\nu\lambda} = \partial_{\mu}g_{\nu\alpha} + \partial_{\nu}g_{\alpha\mu} - \partial_{\alpha}g_{\mu\nu},$$
(A.6)

where *C* is the torsion tensor defined by Eq. (1.6). I will break the affine connection in symmetric and antisymmetric parts in the last two indices,

$$\Gamma^{\alpha}_{\ \mu\nu} = \frac{1}{2} (\Gamma^{\alpha}_{\ \mu\nu} + \Gamma^{\alpha}_{\ \nu\mu}) + \frac{1}{2} C^{\alpha}_{\ \mu\nu}$$

$$\Rightarrow \Gamma^{\alpha}_{\ \mu\nu} + \Gamma^{\alpha}_{\ \nu\mu} = 2\Gamma^{\alpha}_{\ \mu\nu} - C^{\alpha}_{\ \mu\nu}.$$
(A.7)

It should be noted that the symmetric part is not only the Christoffel symbols because although the torsion tensor is antisymmetric in the last two indices, I can always construct a symmetric combination in the first two indices. Using the above I replace the symmetric part in Eq. (A.6) and get

$$\Gamma^{\alpha}_{\ \mu\nu} = \widehat{\Gamma}^{\alpha}_{\ \mu\nu} - \frac{1}{2} (C_{\mu\nu}^{\ \alpha} + C_{\nu\mu}^{\ \alpha} - C^{\alpha}_{\ \mu\nu}).$$
(A.8)

Here $\hat{\Gamma}^{\alpha}_{\mu\nu}$ are the Christoffel symbols given by Eq. (1.3) and $\frac{1}{2}(C_{\mu\nu}^{\ \alpha} + C_{\nu\mu}^{\ \alpha} - C^{\alpha}_{\mu\nu}) \equiv S^{\alpha}_{\mu\nu}$ is the contorsion tensor. Clearly the first two terms in $S^{\alpha}_{\mu\nu}$ are symmetric in $\mu\nu$. Also, the contorsion tensor is antisymmetric in the first and the last indices.

A.2 RIEMANN CURVATURE TENSOR

In General Relativity the Riemann tensor is defined by

$$(\widehat{\nabla}_{\mu}\widehat{\nabla}_{\nu}-\widehat{\nabla}_{\nu}\widehat{\nabla}_{\mu})v^{\rho}=\widehat{R}^{\rho}_{\ \sigma\mu\nu}v^{\sigma}.$$
(A.9)

I will find the expression of the above commutator for a general affine connection with non-zero torsion. I will find this for vector, covector and tensor respectively.

$$\begin{aligned} (\nabla_{\mu}\nabla_{\nu} - \nabla_{\nu}\nabla_{\mu})v^{\rho} &= \partial_{\mu}\nabla_{\nu}v^{\rho} - \Gamma^{\sigma}_{\mu\nu}\nabla_{\sigma}v^{\rho} + \Gamma^{\rho}_{\mu\sigma}\nabla_{\nu}v^{\sigma} - (\mu \leftrightarrow \nu) \\ &= \partial_{\mu}\partial_{\nu}v^{\rho} + (\partial_{\mu}\Gamma^{\rho}_{\nu\lambda})v^{\lambda} + \Gamma^{\rho}_{\nu\lambda}\partial_{\mu}v^{\lambda} - \Gamma^{\sigma}_{\mu\nu}\nabla_{\sigma}v^{\rho} + \Gamma^{\rho}_{\mu\sigma}\partial_{\nu}v^{\sigma} \\ &+ \Gamma^{\rho}_{\mu\sigma}\Gamma^{\sigma}_{\nu\lambda}v^{\lambda} - (\mu \leftrightarrow \nu) \\ &= R^{\rho}_{\sigma\mu\nu}v^{\sigma} - C^{\sigma}_{\mu\nu}\nabla_{\sigma}v^{\rho} , \end{aligned}$$
(A.10)

where

$$R^{\rho}_{\sigma\mu\nu} = \partial_{\mu}\Gamma^{\rho}_{\sigma\nu} - \partial_{\nu}\Gamma^{\rho}_{\sigma\mu} + \Gamma^{\rho}_{\mu\alpha}\Gamma^{\alpha}_{\nu\sigma} - \Gamma^{\rho}_{\nu\alpha}\Gamma^{\alpha}_{\mu\sigma}.$$
(A.11)

Proceeding in the same way as above for a covector w_{σ} I get

$$(\nabla_{\mu}\nabla_{\nu} - \nabla_{\nu}\nabla_{\mu})w_{\sigma} = -R^{\rho}_{\ \sigma\mu\nu}w_{\rho} - C^{\rho}_{\ \mu\nu}\nabla_{\rho}w_{\sigma}.$$
(A.12)

For a general tensor $T^{\alpha_1\alpha_2\dots}_{\ \beta_1\beta_2\dots'}$

$$(\nabla_{\mu}\nabla_{\nu} - \nabla_{\nu}\nabla_{\mu})T^{\alpha_{1}\alpha_{2}...}_{\beta_{1}\beta_{2}...} = R^{\alpha_{1}}_{\alpha_{1}'\mu\nu}T^{\alpha_{1}'\alpha_{2}...}_{\beta_{1}\beta_{2}...} + R^{\alpha_{2}}_{\alpha_{2}'\mu\nu}T^{\alpha_{1}\alpha_{2}...}_{\beta_{1}\beta_{2}...} + \cdots -R^{\beta_{1}'}_{\beta_{1}\mu\nu}T^{\alpha_{1}\alpha_{2}...}_{\beta_{1}'\beta_{2}...} - R^{\beta_{2}'}_{\beta_{2}\mu\nu}T^{\alpha_{1}\alpha_{2}...}_{\beta_{1}\beta_{2}...} - C^{\rho}_{\mu\nu}\nabla_{\rho}T^{\alpha_{1}\alpha_{2}...}_{\beta_{1}\beta_{2}...} - \cdots$$
(A.13)

A.3 SYMMETRIES AND BIANCHI IDENTITIES

A.3.1 Skew symmetry

Riemann tensor is antisymmetric in the last pair of indices

$$R^{\rho}_{\ \sigma\mu\nu} = -R^{\rho}_{\ \sigma\nu\mu}\,,\tag{A.14}$$

by definition. I will find out the same in the first pair of indices. For this purpose I will use Eq. (A.13) for metric tensor. Using metric compatibility,

$$0 = (\nabla_{\mu}\nabla_{\nu} - \nabla_{\nu}\nabla_{\mu})g_{\alpha\beta} = -R^{\rho}_{\ \alpha\mu\nu}g_{\rho\beta} - R^{\rho}_{\ \beta\mu\nu}g_{\alpha\rho}$$
$$\Rightarrow R_{\alpha\beta\mu\nu} = -R_{\beta\alpha\mu\nu}. \tag{A.15}$$

So skew symmetry is same in General Relativity and torsion gravity.

A.3.2 First Bianchi identity

Using the expression for Riemann tensor from Eq. (A.11), I have

$$R^{\rho}_{[\sigma\mu\nu]} = \partial_{[\mu}\Gamma^{\rho}_{\sigma\nu]} - \partial_{[\nu}\Gamma^{\rho}_{\sigma\mu]} + \Gamma^{\rho}_{[\mu|\alpha|}\Gamma^{\alpha}_{\nu\sigma]} - \Gamma^{\rho}_{[\nu|\alpha|}\Gamma^{\alpha}_{\mu\sigma]}$$

$$= \partial_{[\mu}C^{\rho}_{\nu\sigma} + \Gamma^{\rho}_{[\mu|\lambda|}C^{\lambda}_{\nu\sigma]}$$

$$= \nabla_{[\sigma}C^{\rho}_{\mu\nu]} + C^{\rho}_{\lambda[\sigma}C^{\lambda}_{\mu\nu]}.$$
(A.16)

A.3.3 Pairwise symmetry

In General Relativity Riemann tensor is symmetric under the interchange of first and last pair of indices. I will use skew symmetry and first Bianchi identity to derive the difference between $R_{\rho\sigma\mu\nu}$ and $R_{\mu\nu\rho\sigma}$. I have

$$\begin{aligned} R_{\rho\sigma\mu\nu} - R_{\mu\nu\rho\sigma} &= R_{\rho\sigma\mu\nu} - (\nabla_{[\nu}C_{|\mu|\rho\sigma]} + C_{\mu\lambda[\nu}C^{\lambda}{}_{\rho\sigma]} - R_{\mu\rho\sigma\nu} - R_{\mu\sigma\nu\rho}) \\ &= R_{\rho\sigma\mu\nu} - R_{\rho\mu\sigma\nu} - R_{\sigma\mu\nu\rho} - \nabla_{[\nu}C_{|\mu|\rho\sigma]} - C_{\mu\lambda[\nu}C^{\lambda}{}_{\rho\sigma]} \\ &= R_{\rho\sigma\mu\nu} - (\nabla_{[\mu}C_{|\rho|\sigma\nu]} + C_{\rho\lambda[\mu}C^{\lambda}{}_{\nu\rho]} - R_{\rho\sigma\nu\mu} - R_{\rho\nu\mu\sigma}) \\ &- (\nabla_{[\nu}C_{|\mu|\rho\sigma]} - C_{\mu\lambda[\nu}C^{\lambda}{}_{\rho\sigma]} \\ &= R_{\sigma\nu\rho\mu} - (R_{\rho\nu\sigma\mu} + R_{\rho\sigma\mu\nu}) - \nabla_{[\mu}C_{|\rho|\sigma\nu]} + C_{\rho\lambda[\mu}C^{\lambda}{}_{\sigma\nu]} \\ &- \nabla_{[\mu}C_{|\sigma|\nu\rho]} - C_{\sigma\lambda[\mu}C^{\lambda}{}_{\nu\rho]} - \nabla_{[\nu}C_{|\mu|\rho\sigma]} - C_{\mu\lambda[\nu}C^{\lambda}{}_{\rho\sigma]} \\ &= R_{\sigma\nu\rho\mu} - R_{\rho\mu\sigma\nu} - \nabla_{[\mu}C_{|\sigma|\nu\rho]} - C_{\sigma\lambda[\mu}C^{\lambda}{}_{\nu\rho]} \\ &- \nabla_{[\nu}C_{|\mu|\rho\sigma]} - C_{\mu\lambda[\nu}C^{\lambda}{}_{\rho\sigma]}. \end{aligned}$$
(A.17)

Under $\rho \leftrightarrow \mu$ and $\sigma \leftrightarrow \nu$ in the above, I get

$$-(R_{\rho\sigma\mu\nu} - R_{\mu\nu\rho\sigma}) = R_{\nu\sigma\mu\rho} - R_{\mu\rho\nu\sigma} - \nabla_{[\rho}C_{|\nu|\sigma\mu]} - C_{\nu\lambda[\rho}C_{\sigma\mu]}^{\lambda}$$
$$- \nabla_{[\sigma}C_{|\rho|\mu\nu]} - C_{\rho\lambda[\sigma}C_{\mu\nu]}^{\lambda}$$
$$= R_{\sigma\nu\rho\mu} - R_{\rho\mu\sigma\nu} - \nabla_{[\rho}C_{|\nu|\sigma\mu]} - C_{\nu\lambda[\rho}C_{\sigma\mu]}^{\lambda}$$
$$- \nabla_{[\sigma}C_{|\rho|\mu\nu]} - C_{\rho\lambda[\sigma}C_{\mu\nu]}^{\lambda}.$$
(A.18)

Subtracting Eq. (A.18) from Eq. A.17 produces

$$R_{\rho\sigma\mu\nu} - R_{\mu\nu\rho\sigma} = \frac{1}{2} \left(\nabla_{[\rho} C_{|\nu|\sigma\mu]} + C_{\nu\lambda[\rho} C^{\lambda}_{\ \sigma\mu]} + \nabla_{[\sigma} C_{|\rho|\mu\nu]} + C_{\rho\lambda[\sigma} C^{\lambda}_{\ \mu\nu]} - \nabla_{[\mu} C_{|\sigma|\nu\rho]} - C_{\sigma\lambda[\mu} C^{\lambda}_{\ \nu\rho]} - \nabla_{[\nu} C_{|\mu|\rho\sigma]} - C_{\mu\lambda[\nu} C^{\lambda}_{\ \rho\sigma]} \right).$$
(A.19)

A.3.4 Second Bianchi identity

Replacing w_{σ} by $\nabla_{\lambda} w_{\sigma}$ in Eq. (A.12) and using Eq. (A.13), I get

$$(\nabla_{\mu}\nabla_{\nu} - \nabla_{\nu}\nabla_{\mu})\nabla_{\lambda}w_{\sigma} = -R^{\rho}_{\ \lambda\mu\nu}\nabla_{\rho}w_{\sigma} - R^{\rho}_{\ \sigma\mu\nu}\nabla_{\lambda}w_{\rho} - C^{\rho}_{\ \mu\nu}\nabla_{\rho}\nabla_{\lambda}w_{\sigma}.$$
(A.20)

Again, taking ∇_{λ} on Eq. (A.12) yields

$$\nabla_{\lambda} (\nabla_{\mu} \nabla_{\nu} - \nabla_{\nu} \nabla_{\mu}) w_{\sigma} = - (\nabla_{\lambda} R^{\rho}_{\ \sigma \mu \nu}) w_{\rho} - R^{\rho}_{\ \sigma \mu \nu} \nabla_{\lambda} w_{\rho} - (\nabla_{\lambda} C^{\rho}_{\ \mu \nu}) \nabla_{\rho} w_{\sigma} - C^{\rho}_{\ \mu \nu} \nabla_{\lambda} \nabla_{\rho} w_{\sigma}.$$
(A.21)

Now, antisymmetrising Eq. (A.20) and Eq. (A.21) in $\mu\nu\lambda$, we see that left hand sides of both the equations become equal. Thus I get

$$R^{\rho}_{[\lambda\mu\nu]}\nabla_{\rho}w_{\sigma} + C^{\rho}_{[\mu\nu}\nabla_{|\rho|}\nabla_{\lambda]}w_{\sigma} = (\nabla_{[\lambda}R^{\rho}_{|\sigma|\mu\nu]})w_{\rho} + (\nabla_{[\lambda}C^{\rho}_{\mu\nu]})\nabla_{\rho}w_{\sigma} + C^{\rho}_{[\mu\nu}\nabla_{\lambda]}\nabla_{\rho}w_{\sigma}.$$
(A.22)

Using Eq. (A.12), I can write

$$C^{\rho}_{\ [\mu\nu}\nabla_{|\rho|}\nabla_{\lambda]}w_{\sigma} = C^{\rho}_{\ [\mu\nu}\nabla_{\lambda]}\nabla_{\rho}w_{\sigma} - R^{\alpha}_{\ \sigma\rho[\lambda}C^{\rho}_{\ \mu\nu]}w_{\alpha} - C^{\alpha}_{\ \rho[\lambda}C^{\rho}_{\ \mu\nu]}\nabla_{\alpha}w_{\sigma}.$$
(A.23)

Using the above equation and first Bianchi identity in Eq. (A.22), I get

$$\nabla_{[\lambda} R^{\rho}_{\ |\sigma|\mu\nu]} = -R^{\rho}_{\ \sigma\alpha[\lambda} C^{\alpha}_{\ \mu\nu]} \,. \tag{A.24}$$

B

A DIFFERENT WAY TO LOOK AT THE CONFORMAL SCALAR

I can write the torsionful Ricci scalar as the torsion-free Ricci scalar plus the torsion terms as

$$R = \widehat{R} - 2\widehat{\nabla}_{\nu}C^{\mu}{}_{\mu}{}^{\nu} - C^{\mu}{}_{\mu\sigma}C^{\nu}{}_{\nu}{}^{\sigma} + \frac{1}{4}C^{\mu\nu\sigma}C_{\mu\nu\sigma} + \frac{1}{2}C^{\mu\nu\sigma}C_{\nu\mu\sigma} \equiv \widehat{R} - f(C).$$
(B.1)

In the scalar field Lagrangian in the action of Eq. (4.56), I will replace \hat{R} in the $\hat{R}\phi^2$ term with R + f(C); f(C) being the explicit torsion terms above. The total action in vierbein-Einstein-Palatini formalism, with this modification, now reads as

$$S[e, A, \phi] = \int |e| d^4 x F^{IJ}_{\mu\nu} e^{\mu}_{I} e^{\nu}_{I} \left(\frac{1}{2\kappa} - \frac{\phi^2}{12} \right) - \int |e| d^4 x \left[\frac{1}{2} e^{\mu}_{I} e^{\nu I} \partial_{\mu} \phi \partial_{\nu} \phi + \frac{1}{6} \phi^2 \widehat{\nabla}_{\mu} C^{\alpha}_{\ \alpha}{}^{\mu} + \frac{1}{12} \left(C^{\mu}_{\ \mu\sigma} C^{\nu}_{\ \nu}{}^{\sigma} - \frac{1}{4} C^{\mu\nu\sigma} C_{\mu\nu\sigma} - \frac{1}{2} C^{\mu\nu\sigma} C_{\nu\mu\sigma} \right) \phi^2 \right].$$
(B.2)

The equations obtained from this are

$$\delta e_{J}^{\nu}: \quad R_{\mu\nu} - \frac{1}{2}g_{\mu\nu}R = \kappa \left(\partial_{\mu}\phi\partial_{\nu}\phi - \frac{1}{2}g_{\mu\nu}g^{\alpha\beta}\partial_{\alpha}\phi\partial_{\beta}\phi + \frac{1}{6}(R_{\mu\nu} - \frac{1}{2}g_{\mu\nu}R)\phi^{2} + \frac{1}{6}\left[g_{\mu\nu}\widehat{\nabla}_{\sigma}\widehat{\nabla}^{\sigma}\phi^{2} - \widehat{\nabla}_{\mu}\widehat{\nabla}_{\nu}\phi^{2}\right]\right) + \kappa \tilde{f}(C), \qquad (B.3a)$$

$$\delta A_{\nu}^{IJ}: \quad A_{\mu}^{IJ} = \omega_{\mu}^{IJ}[e], \qquad (B.3b)$$

$$\delta \phi: \quad \widehat{\nabla}_{\mu} \widehat{\nabla}^{\mu} \phi - \frac{1}{6} R \phi - \phi \left(\frac{1}{3} \widehat{\nabla}_{\mu} C^{\alpha}{}_{\alpha}{}^{\mu} + \frac{1}{6} C^{\mu}{}_{\mu\sigma} C^{\nu}{}_{\nu}{}^{\sigma} - \frac{1}{24} C^{\mu\nu\sigma} C_{\mu\nu\sigma} - \frac{1}{12} C^{\mu\nu\sigma} C_{\nu\mu\sigma} \right) = 0. \qquad (B.3c)$$

Here $\tilde{f}(C)$ in Eq. (B.3a) includes terms that contain torsion explicitly which go away upon using Eq. (B.3b) which is the torsion-free condition. *R* becomes \hat{R} upon using the torsion-free condition and thus the scalar Eq. (4.67c) becomes

$$\widehat{\nabla}_{\mu}\widehat{\nabla}^{\mu}\phi - \frac{1}{6}\widehat{R}\phi = 0.$$
(B.4)

The scalar field equation thus gets back the torsion-free form given by Eq. (4.5). The modification in Eq. (B.1) leads to vanishing torsion on-shell. Thus I can identify the equations with those in the usual metric formalism.

Although I have considered a formalism which is torsion-free on-shell, Eq. (B.3c) is rather a more general equation; it will remain invariant even if torsion is non-zero because in such a case the torsion terms will cancel those in the $R\phi$ term and the equation will essentially be reduced to Eq. (B.4).

C

A AS AUXILIARY FIELD

I can decompose the total spin connection A_{μ}^{IJ} in terms the torsion-free component ω_{μ}^{IJ} and contorsion component Λ_{μ}^{IJ} as

$$A^{IJ}_{\mu} = \omega^{IJ}_{\mu} + \Lambda^{IJ}_{\mu} , \qquad (C.1)$$

I can write the curvature as

$$F_{\mu\nu}^{IJ}(A) = \widehat{F}_{\mu\nu}^{IJ}(\omega) + \partial_{\mu}\Lambda_{\nu}^{IJ} - \partial_{\nu}\Lambda_{\mu}^{IJ} + \omega_{\mu K}^{I}\Lambda_{\nu}^{KJ} - \omega_{\nu K}^{I}\Lambda_{\mu}^{KJ} + \Lambda_{\mu K}^{I}\omega_{\nu}^{KJ} - \Lambda_{\nu K}^{I}\omega_{\mu}^{KJ} + \Lambda_{\mu K}^{I}\Lambda_{\nu}^{KJ} - \Lambda_{\nu K}^{I}\Lambda_{\mu}^{KJ}.$$
(C.2)

Let us see the contribution of the terms linear in Λ in the vierbein-Einstein-Palatini action. I consider the integral

$$I = \int |e| d^4 x (\partial_\mu \Lambda_\nu^{IJ} - \partial_\nu \Lambda_\mu^{IJ} + \omega_{\mu K}^I \Lambda_\nu^{KJ} - \omega_{\nu K}^I \Lambda_\mu^{KJ} + \Lambda_{\mu K}^I \omega_\nu^{KJ} - \Lambda_{\nu K}^I \omega_\mu^{KJ}) e_I^\mu e_J^\nu.$$
(C.3)

Considering the first, third and the sixth terms from above and denoting them as \mathbb{A} together,

I will call $e_I^{\mu} e_J^{\nu} \Lambda_{\nu}^{IJ} \equiv \Lambda^{\mu}$. Thus

$$\mathbb{A} = \partial_{\mu}\Lambda^{\mu} - \Lambda^{IJ}_{\nu}e^{\mu}_{I}\partial_{\mu}e^{\nu}_{J} - \Lambda^{IJ}_{\nu}e^{\nu}_{J}\partial_{\mu}e^{\mu}_{I} + e^{\mu}_{I}e^{\nu}_{J}\omega^{I}_{\mu K}\Lambda^{KJ}_{\nu} - e^{\mu}_{I}e^{\nu}_{J}\Lambda^{I}_{\nu K}\omega^{KJ}_{\mu}.$$
(C.5)

Considering the first, third and fourth term from Eq. (C.5), I have

$$\begin{aligned} \mathbb{A}.1 &= \partial_{\mu}\Lambda^{\mu} - \Lambda^{IJ}_{\nu} e^{\nu}_{J} \partial_{\mu} e^{\mu}_{I} + e^{\mu}_{I} e^{\nu}_{J} \omega^{I}_{\mu K} \Lambda^{KJ}_{\nu} \\ &= \partial_{\mu}\Lambda^{\mu} - \Lambda^{KJ}_{\nu} e^{\nu}_{J} e^{\kappa}_{K} e^{I}_{\alpha} \partial_{\mu} e^{\mu}_{I} + e^{\mu}_{I} e^{\nu}_{J} \omega^{I}_{\mu K} e^{\kappa}_{\alpha} e^{\alpha}_{L} \Lambda^{LJ}_{\nu} \\ &= \partial_{\mu}\Lambda^{\mu} + \Lambda^{\alpha} (e^{\mu}_{I} \partial_{\mu} e^{I}_{\alpha} + \omega^{I}_{\mu K} e^{\kappa}_{\alpha} e^{\mu}_{I}) \\ &= \partial_{\mu}\Lambda^{\mu} + \Lambda^{\alpha} \widehat{\Gamma}^{\mu}_{\mu\alpha} \\ &= \widehat{\nabla}_{\mu}\Lambda^{\mu}. \end{aligned}$$
(C.6)

The remaining terms of \mathbb{A} are

$$\begin{aligned} \mathbb{A}.2 &= -\Lambda_{\nu}^{IJ} e_{I}^{\mu} \partial_{\mu} e_{J}^{\nu} - e_{I}^{\mu} e_{J}^{\nu} \Lambda_{\nu K}^{I} \omega_{\mu}^{KJ} \\ &= -\Lambda_{\nu}^{IK} e_{I}^{\mu} e_{K}^{\alpha} e_{a}^{J} \partial_{\mu} e_{J}^{\nu} - e_{I}^{\mu} e_{J}^{\nu} \Lambda_{\nu L}^{I} e_{\alpha K} e^{\alpha L} \omega_{\mu}^{KJ} \\ &= -\Lambda_{\nu}^{IK} e_{I}^{\mu} e_{K}^{\alpha} e_{J}^{\nu} \partial_{\mu} e_{a}^{J} + \Lambda_{\nu}^{IL} e_{I}^{\mu} e_{L}^{\alpha} \omega_{\mu K}^{J} e_{k}^{K} e_{J}^{\nu} \\ &= -\Lambda_{\nu}^{IK} e_{I}^{\mu} e_{K}^{\alpha} (e_{J}^{\nu} \partial_{\mu} e_{a}^{J} + \omega_{\mu K}^{J} e_{a}^{K} e_{J}^{\nu}) \\ &= -\Lambda_{\nu}^{IK} e_{I}^{\mu} e_{K}^{\alpha} \widehat{\Gamma}_{\mu \alpha}^{\nu} \\ &= -\frac{1}{2} \Lambda_{\nu}^{IK} (e_{I}^{\mu} e_{K}^{\alpha} - e_{I}^{\alpha} e_{K}^{\mu}) \widehat{\Gamma}_{\mu \alpha}^{\nu} \\ &= 0. \end{aligned}$$

$$(C.7)$$

Here I have used the antisymmetry of Λ and the symmetry of $\hat{\Gamma}$. Denoting the second, fourth and fifth terms of the integral *I* as \mathbb{B} and proceeding the same way as above, I find that

$$\mathbb{B} = \widehat{\nabla}_{\mu} \Lambda^{\mu} \,. \tag{C.8}$$

Taking the above calculations into consideration, I get

$$I = \int |e| d^4 x \ 2 \ \widehat{\nabla}_{\mu} \Lambda^{\mu} \,. \tag{C.9}$$

Because this is a total divergence, the above integral can be taken to the boundary and neglected compared to the other terms of the total vierbein-Einstein-Palatini action. The effective action is thus

$$S_{VEP} = \frac{1}{2\kappa} \int |e| d^4 x \left(\hat{F}^{IJ}_{\mu\nu} + \Lambda^{I}_{\mu K} \Lambda^{KJ}_{\nu} - \Lambda^{I}_{\nu K} \Lambda^{KJ}_{\mu} \right) e^{\mu}_{I} e^{\nu}_{J}.$$
(C.10)

This appears in Eq. (5.17).

D

γ -MATRICES

I am working in the (-+++) signature and the properties of γ -matrices are different from those in the (+---) signature. I will mention the effect of signature change at the end of this Appendix. The basic anti-commutator is

$$\{\gamma_I, \gamma_J\} = 2\eta_{IJ} \,. \tag{D.1}$$

Thus in the (-+++) signature

$$\gamma_0^2 = -\mathbb{I}\,,\tag{D.2}$$

$$\gamma_i^2 = \mathbb{I}, \qquad (i = 1, 2, 3).$$
 (D.3)

The Hermiticiy of the γ -matrices is as follows

$$\gamma_0^{\dagger} = -\gamma_0 \,, \tag{D.4}$$

$$\gamma_i^{\dagger} = \gamma_i \,, \tag{D.5}$$

which can be written in a compact form as

$$\gamma_I^{\dagger} = \gamma_0 \gamma_I \gamma_0 \,. \tag{D.6}$$

D.1 σ -MATRIX

The σ -matrix is defined as

$$\sigma_{IJ} = \frac{i}{2} [\gamma_I, \gamma_J] \,. \tag{D.7}$$

The Hermitian conjugate of the σ -matrix can be calculated as

$$\sigma_{IJ}^{\dagger} = -\frac{i}{2} [\gamma_{I}, \gamma_{J}]^{\dagger}$$

$$= -\frac{i}{2} \left(\gamma_{I}^{\dagger} \gamma_{I}^{\dagger} - \gamma_{I}^{\dagger} \gamma_{J}^{\dagger} \right)$$

$$= -\frac{i}{2} \left(\gamma_{0} \gamma_{J} \gamma_{0}^{2} \gamma_{I} \gamma_{0} - \gamma_{0} \gamma_{I} \gamma_{0}^{2} \gamma_{J} \gamma_{0} \right)$$

$$= -\frac{i}{2} \left(-\gamma_{0} \gamma_{J} \gamma_{I} \gamma_{0} + \gamma_{0} \gamma_{I} \gamma_{J} \gamma_{0} \right)$$

$$= -\frac{i}{2} \gamma_{0} [\gamma_{I}, \gamma_{J}] \gamma_{0}$$

$$= -\gamma_{0} \sigma_{IJ} \gamma_{0}.$$
(D.8)

One useful relation is the commutator of γ and σ . In order to find the expression of the commutator note that

$$\sigma_{IJ}\gamma_{K} = \frac{i}{2}[\gamma_{I},\gamma_{J}]\gamma_{K}$$

$$= \frac{i}{2}(\gamma_{I}\gamma_{J}\gamma_{K} - \gamma_{J}\gamma_{I}\gamma_{K})$$

$$= \frac{i}{2}(2\eta_{JK}\gamma_{I} - \gamma_{I}\gamma_{K}\gamma_{J} - 2\eta_{IK}\gamma_{J} + \gamma_{J}\gamma_{K}\gamma_{I})$$

$$= \frac{i}{2}(4\eta_{JK}\gamma_{I} - 4\eta_{IK}\gamma_{J} + \gamma_{K}\gamma_{I}\gamma_{J} - \gamma_{K}\gamma_{J}\gamma_{I})$$

$$= 2i(\eta_{JK}\gamma_{I} - \eta_{IK}\gamma_{J}) + \gamma_{K}\sigma_{IJ}.$$
(D.9)

Thus I get

$$[\gamma_K, \sigma_{IJ}] = 2i(\eta_{IK}\gamma_J - \eta_{JK}\gamma_L).$$
(D.10)

d.2 fifth γ -matrix

One more useful quantity is the fifth gamma matrix γ_5 defined as

$$\gamma_5 = i\gamma_0\gamma_1\gamma_2\gamma_3 = \frac{i}{4!}\epsilon^{IJKL}\gamma_I\gamma_J\gamma_K\gamma_L.$$
(D.11)

It is easy to see from the above definition that γ_5 has the properties

$$\gamma_5^{\dagger} = \gamma_5 \,, \tag{D.12}$$

$$\gamma_5^2 = \mathbb{I} \,. \tag{D.13}$$

Some identities involving γ_5 are

$$\{\gamma_I, \gamma_5\} = 0, \tag{D.14}$$

$$\{\gamma_K, \sigma_{IJ}\} = 2\epsilon_{IJKL} \gamma^L \gamma_5, \qquad (D.15)$$

$$[\sigma_{IJ}, \gamma_5] = 0. \tag{D.16}$$

D.3 CHANGE OF SIGNATURE

Under the change of signature from (-+++) to (+---) which is the more common signature used in Quantum Field Theory textbooks, I need to multiply the γ -matrices with -i, i.e., $\gamma_I \rightarrow -i\gamma_I$. In the signature (+--) properties of the γ -matrices are given by

$$\gamma_0^2 = \mathbb{I} \,, \tag{D.17}$$

$$\gamma_i^2 = -\mathbb{I}\,,\tag{D.18}$$

$$\gamma_0^{\dagger} = \gamma_0 \,, \tag{D.19}$$

$$\gamma_i^{\dagger} = -\gamma_i \,. \tag{D.20}$$

The Hermiticity of the γ -matrices is still given in the compact form of Eq. (D.6). γ_5 and its properties are invariant under the signature change. The σ -matrix is defined in the same as in Eq. (D.7). Let us see how this affects the Hermitian conjugate of the σ -matrix.

$$\sigma_{IJ}^{\dagger} = -\frac{i}{2} [\gamma_{I}, \gamma_{J}]^{\dagger}$$

$$= -\frac{i}{2} \left(\gamma_{J}^{\dagger} \gamma_{I}^{\dagger} - \gamma_{I}^{\dagger} \gamma_{J}^{\dagger} \right)$$

$$= -\frac{i}{2} \left(\gamma_{0} \gamma_{J} \gamma_{0}^{2} \gamma_{I} \gamma_{0} - \gamma_{0} \gamma_{I} \gamma_{0}^{2} \gamma_{J} \gamma_{0} \right)$$

$$= -\frac{i}{2} \left(\gamma_{0} \gamma_{J} \gamma_{I} \gamma_{0} - \gamma_{0} \gamma_{I} \gamma_{J} \gamma_{0} \right)$$

$$= \frac{i}{2} \gamma_{0} [\gamma_{I}, \gamma_{J}] \gamma_{0}$$

$$= \gamma_{0} \sigma_{IJ} \gamma_{0} . \qquad (D.21)$$

88 γ -matrices

The commutator $[\gamma_K, \sigma_{IJ}]$ however, remains unaffected under the change of signature. This because the calculations shown in Eq. (D.9) are independent of the signature of the metric.

E

CHIRAL SYMMETRY BREAKING AND CURRENT CONSERVATION

Let us see how geometrical breaking of chiral symmetry affects the current conservation of electron and neutrino. I will consider the left handed electron-neutrino doublet $\Psi_{eL} = \begin{pmatrix} \nu_L \\ e_L \end{pmatrix}$ with torsion coupling constant λ_{eL} and right handed electron singlet e_R with coupling constant λ_{eR} . Different coupling constants for right handed and left handed components imply that chiral symmetry is broken here. The spinor covariant derivatives are given as

$$D_{\mu}\psi_{eL} = \partial_{\mu}\psi_{eL} - \frac{i}{4}\omega_{\mu}^{IJ}\sigma_{IJ}\psi_{eL} - \frac{i}{4}\lambda_{eL}\Lambda_{\mu}^{IJ}\sigma_{IJ}\psi_{eL}, \qquad (E.1)$$

$$D_{\mu}e_{R} = \partial_{\mu}e_{R} - \frac{i}{4}\omega_{\mu}^{IJ}\sigma_{IJ}e_{R} - \frac{i}{4}\lambda_{eR}\Lambda_{\mu}^{IJ}\sigma_{IJ}e_{R}.$$
(E.2)

The action of Eq. (5.18) is thus given by

$$S = \int |e| d^{4}x \quad \left[\frac{1}{2\kappa} \widehat{F}_{\mu\nu}^{IJ}(\omega) e_{I}^{\mu} e_{J}^{\nu} + \frac{i}{2} \left(\bar{\psi}_{eL} \gamma^{K} e_{K}^{\mu} \, \widehat{D}_{\mu}^{f} \psi_{eL} - (\bar{\psi}_{eL} \gamma^{K} e_{K}^{\mu} \, \widehat{D}_{\mu}^{f} \psi_{eL})^{\dagger} \right. \\ \left. + \bar{e}_{R} \gamma^{K} e_{K}^{\mu} \, \widehat{D}_{\mu}^{f} e_{R} - (\bar{e}_{R} \gamma^{K} e_{K}^{\mu} \, \widehat{D}_{\mu}^{f} e_{R})^{\dagger} \right) + \frac{1}{2\kappa} \eta_{KL} \Lambda_{[\mu}^{IK} \Lambda_{\nu]}^{LJ} e_{I}^{\mu} e_{J}^{\nu} \\ \left. + \frac{1}{8} \Lambda_{\mu}^{IJ} e_{K}^{\mu} \left(\lambda_{eL} \bar{\psi}_{eL} \{ \gamma^{K}, \sigma_{IJ} \} \psi_{eL} + \lambda_{eR} \bar{e}_{R} \{ \gamma^{K}, \sigma_{IJ} \} e_{R} \right) \right] .$$
(E.3)

I have not considered mass terms here as they do not affect the calculations here. The on-shell expression for Λ is obtained as

$$\Lambda^{IJ}_{\mu} = \frac{\kappa}{8} e^{K}_{\mu} \left(\bar{\psi}_{eL} \{ \gamma_{K}, \sigma^{IJ} \} \psi_{eL} + e_{R} \{ \gamma_{K}, \sigma^{IJ} \} e_{R} \right) . \tag{E.4}$$

The Dirac equations of the doublet and singlet with the above expression of Λ are obtained respectively as

$$\gamma^{K} e^{\mu}_{K} \partial_{\mu} \psi_{eL} - \frac{i}{4} \omega^{IJ}_{\mu} e^{\mu K} \gamma_{K} \sigma_{IJ} \psi_{eL} - \frac{3i\kappa}{8} \lambda^{2}_{eL} \bar{\psi}_{eL} \gamma_{I} \gamma_{5} \psi_{eL} \gamma^{I} \gamma_{5} \psi_{eL} - \frac{3i\kappa}{8} \lambda_{eL} \lambda_{eR} \bar{e}_{R} \gamma_{I} \gamma_{5} e_{R} \gamma^{I} \gamma_{5} \psi_{eL} = 0, \qquad (E.5)$$

$$\gamma^{K} e^{\mu}_{K} \partial_{\mu} e_{R} - \frac{i}{4} \omega^{IJ}_{\mu} e^{\mu K} \gamma_{K} \sigma_{IJ} e_{R} - \frac{3i\kappa}{8} \lambda^{2}_{eR} \bar{e}_{R} \gamma_{I} \gamma_{5} e_{R} \gamma^{I} \gamma_{5} e_{R} - \frac{3i\kappa}{8} \lambda_{eL} \lambda_{eR} \bar{\psi}_{eL} \gamma_{I} \gamma_{5} \psi_{eL} \gamma^{I} \gamma_{5} e_{R} = 0.$$
(E.6)

I will first find the equation of motion for electron $e = e_L + e_R$. For this purpose I add electron component of Eq. (E.5) and Eq. (E.6).

$$\gamma^{K} e_{K}^{\mu} \partial_{\mu} e - \frac{i}{4} \omega_{\mu}^{IJ} e^{\mu K} \gamma_{K} \sigma_{IJ} e - \frac{3i\kappa}{8} \lambda_{eL} \bar{\psi}_{eL} \gamma_{I} \gamma_{5} \psi_{eL} \gamma^{I} \gamma_{5} (\lambda_{eL} e_{L} + \lambda_{eR} e_{R}) - \frac{3i\kappa}{8} \lambda_{eR} \bar{e}_{R} \gamma_{I} \gamma_{5} e_{R} \gamma^{I} \gamma_{5} (\lambda_{eL} e_{L} + \lambda_{eR} e_{R}) = 0.$$
(E.7)

The conjugate equation is obtained as

$$\partial_{\mu}\bar{e}\gamma^{K}e_{K}^{\mu} + \frac{i}{4}\omega_{\mu}^{IJ}e^{\mu K}\bar{e}\sigma_{IJ}\gamma_{K} + \frac{3i\kappa}{8}\lambda_{eL}\bar{\psi}_{eL}\gamma_{I}\gamma_{5}\psi_{eL}(\lambda_{eL}\bar{e}_{L} + \lambda_{eR}\bar{e}_{R})\gamma^{I}\gamma_{5} + \frac{3i\kappa}{8}\lambda_{eR}\bar{e}_{R}\gamma_{I}\gamma_{5}e_{R}(\lambda_{eL}\bar{e}_{L} + \lambda_{eR}\bar{e}_{R})\gamma^{I}\gamma_{5} = 0.$$
(E.8)

Here I have used

$$(\bar{\psi}_{eL}\gamma_{I}\gamma_{5}\psi_{eL})^{\dagger} = \psi_{eL}^{\dagger}\gamma_{5}^{\dagger}\gamma_{I}^{\dagger}\gamma_{0}^{\dagger}\psi_{eL}$$

$$= -\psi_{eL}^{\dagger}\gamma_{5}\gamma_{0}\gamma_{I}\gamma_{0}\gamma_{0}\psi_{eL}$$

$$= -\bar{\psi}_{eL}\gamma_{5}\gamma_{I}\psi_{eL}$$

$$= \bar{\psi}_{eL}\gamma_{I}\gamma_{5}\psi_{eL}.$$
(E.9)

Pre-multiplying Eq. (E.7) by \bar{e} and post-multiplying Eq. (E.8) by e and proceeding in the same way as in Eq. (3.38), I get

$$\begin{split} \widehat{\nabla}_{\mu} J_{e}^{\mu} + \frac{3i\kappa}{4} \left(\lambda_{eR} \bar{\psi}_{eL} \gamma_{I} \gamma_{5} \psi_{eL} + \lambda_{eR} \bar{e}_{R} \gamma_{I} \gamma_{5} e_{R} \right) \left[\left(\lambda_{eL} \bar{e}_{L} + \lambda_{eR} \bar{e}_{R} \right) \gamma^{I} \gamma_{5} (e_{L} + e_{R}) \\ - \left(\bar{e}_{L} + \bar{e}_{R} \right) \gamma^{I} \gamma_{5} (\lambda_{eL} e_{L} + \lambda_{eR} e_{R}) \right] &= 0, \end{split}$$

$$(E.10)$$

where $J_e^{\mu} = \bar{e} \gamma^I e e_I^{\mu}$ is the electron current. Now,

$$(\lambda_{eL}\bar{e}_L + \lambda_{eR}\bar{e}_R)\gamma^I\gamma_5(e_L + e_R) - (\bar{e}_L + \bar{e}_R)\gamma^I\gamma_5(\lambda_{eL}e_L + \lambda_{eR}e_R)$$
$$= (\lambda_{eL} - \lambda_{eR})\left(\bar{e}_L\gamma^I\gamma_5e_R - \bar{e}_R\gamma^I\gamma_5e_L\right).$$
(E.11)

Using

$$e_L = \frac{1}{2}(1 - \gamma_5)e, \qquad (E.12)$$

$$e_R = \frac{1}{2}(1+\gamma_5)e$$
, (E.13)

I get

$$\bar{e}_{L}\gamma^{I}\gamma_{5}e_{R} = \frac{1}{4}\overline{(1-\gamma_{5})e}\gamma^{I}\gamma_{5}(1+\gamma_{5})e
= \frac{1}{4}((1-\gamma_{5})e)^{\dagger}\gamma_{0}\gamma^{I}\gamma_{5}(1+\gamma_{5})e
= \frac{1}{4}e^{\dagger}(1-\gamma_{5})\gamma_{0}\gamma^{I}\gamma_{5}(1+\gamma_{5})e
= \frac{1}{4}\bar{e}\gamma^{I}\gamma_{5}(1+\gamma_{5})e + \frac{1}{4}\bar{e}\gamma_{5}\gamma^{I}\gamma_{5}(1+\gamma_{5})e
= \frac{1}{4}\bar{e}\gamma^{I}\gamma_{5}(1+\gamma_{5})e - \frac{1}{4}\bar{e}\gamma^{I}\gamma_{5}^{2}(1+\gamma_{5})e
= 0.$$
(E.14)

Here I have used the properties of gamma matrices. Similarly I can show that

$$\bar{e}_R \gamma^I \gamma_5 e_L = 0. \tag{E.15}$$

Thus the contribution of torsion terms still vanishes in spite of the coupling constants and equation is simply given by

$$\widehat{\nabla}_{\mu}J_{e}^{\mu}=0. \tag{E.16}$$

I will also investigate the current conservation of neutrino. For this purpose I consider the neutrino component of Eq. (E.5) i.e.,

$$\gamma^{K} e_{K}^{\mu} \partial_{\mu} \nu_{L} - \frac{i}{4} \omega_{\mu}^{IJ} e^{\mu K} \gamma_{K} \sigma_{IJ} \nu_{L} - \frac{3i\kappa}{8} \lambda_{eL}^{2} \bar{\psi}_{eL} \gamma_{I} \gamma_{5} \psi_{eL} \gamma^{I} \gamma_{5} \nu_{L} - \frac{3i\kappa}{8} \lambda_{eL} \lambda_{eR} \bar{e}_{R} \gamma_{I} \gamma_{5} e_{R} \gamma^{I} \gamma_{5} \nu_{L} = 0.$$
(E.17)

The conjugate equation is obtained as

$$\partial_{\mu}\bar{\nu}_{L}\gamma^{K}e^{\mu}_{K} + \frac{i}{4}\omega^{IJ}_{\mu}e^{\mu K}\bar{\nu}_{L}\sigma_{IJ}\gamma_{K} + \frac{3i\kappa}{8}\lambda^{2}_{eL}\bar{\psi}_{eL}\gamma_{I}\gamma_{5}\psi_{eL}\bar{\nu}_{L}\gamma^{I}\gamma_{5} + \frac{3i\kappa}{8}\lambda_{eL}\lambda_{eR}\bar{e}_{R}\gamma_{I}\gamma_{5}e_{R}\bar{\nu}_{L}\gamma^{I}\gamma_{5} = 0.$$
(E.18)

Pre-multiplying Eq. (E.17) with $\bar{\nu}_L$ and post-multiplying Eq. (E.18) with ν_L and adding them together we can see that the non-linear terms get cancelled. The resulting equation is thus

$$\widehat{\nabla}_{\mu}J^{\mu}_{\nu_{L}} = 0, \qquad (E.19)$$

where $J_{\nu_L}^{\mu} = \bar{\nu}_L \gamma^I \nu_L e_I^{\mu}$ is the neutrino current. I can thus conclude that geometrical breaking of chiral symmetry does not affect the current conservation of electron $e = e_L + e_R$, nor of the neutrinos.
F

FIERZ IDENTITIES

From a given spinor ψ , we have 16 different bilinears [20] namely

Scalar:
$$S = \bar{\psi}\psi$$
, (F.1)

Pseudoscalar:
$$P = i\bar{\psi}\gamma_5\psi$$
, (F.2)

Vector:
$$V_I = i\bar{\psi}\gamma_I\psi$$
, (F.3)

Axial vector:
$$A_I = i\psi\gamma_5\gamma_I\psi$$
, (F.4)

Tensor:
$$T_{IJ} = \bar{\psi}\sigma_{IJ}\psi$$
. (F.5)

The independent identities of these bilinears are

$$1.T_{IJ}V^J = -PA_I, (F.6)$$

2.
$${}^{*}T_{IJ}V^{J} = SA_{J}; ({}^{*}T_{IJ} = -\frac{i}{2}\epsilon_{IJKL}T^{KL}),$$
 (F.7)

$$3.V_I V^I = -A_I A^I = -(S^2 + P^2). (F.8)$$

I have mainly used the last identity in the following form in my thesis.

$$(\bar{\psi}\gamma_I\gamma_5\psi)(\bar{\psi}\gamma^I\gamma_5\psi) = (\bar{\psi}\gamma_5\psi)^2 - (\bar{\psi}\psi)^2.$$
(F.9)

Usually Fierz identities written for more than one species of spinors and they are connected to the reordering of the spinor fields in a four fermion interaction. Suppose I have four spinors ψ_1 , ψ_2 , ψ_3 , ψ_4 and I consider an interaction term given by

$$(\bar{\psi}_1 A \psi_2) (\bar{\psi}_3 B \psi_4)$$
. (F.10)

This interaction can also be written as

$$(\bar{\psi}_1 M \psi_4) (\bar{\psi}_3 N \psi_2)$$
. (F.11)

Fierz identities relate the matrices *A*, *B* to *M*, *N*. The matrices are usually written in terms of the basis

$$\{\Gamma^A\} = \{\mathbb{I}, \gamma_5, \gamma^I, \gamma_5 \gamma^I, \sigma^{IJ}\} \qquad (I, J = 0, 1, 2, 3).$$
(F.12)

There are thus 16 different bilinears which are classified into different classes according to their behaviour under Lorentz transformation. For discussion and derivation of the identities see [22, 109].

BIBLIOGRAPHY

- ¹F. W. Hehl, J. McCrea, E. W. Mielke, and Y. Ne'eman, "Metric-affine gauge theory of gravity: field equations, noether identities, world spinors, and breaking of dilation invariance," Physics Reports **258**, **1**–**171** (1995) (cit. on p. 2).
- ²E. CARTAN, "Sur une generalisation de la notion de courbure de riemann et les espaces a torsion," Comptes Rendus, Ac. Sc. Paris **174**, 593–595 (1922) (cit. on p. 2).
- ³T. W. B. Kibble, "Lorentz invariance and the gravitational field," Journal of Mathematical Physics 2, 212–221 (1961), eprint: http://dx.doi.org/10.1063/1.1703702 (cit. on pp. 2, 5).
- ⁴D. W. Sciama, "The Physical structure of general relativity," Rev. Mod. Phys. **36**, [Erratum: Rev. Mod. Phys.36,1103(1964)], 463–469 (1964) (cit. on p. 2).
- ⁵F. W. Hehl and B. K. Datta, "Nonlinear spinor equation and asymmetric connection in general relativity," J. Math. Phys. **12**, 1334–1339 (1971) (cit. on p. 2).
- ⁶L. Fabbri and P. D. Mannheim, "Continuity of the torsionless limit as a selection rule for gravity theories with torsion," Phys. Rev. **D90**, 024042 (2014), arXiv:1405.1248 [gr-qc] (cit. on p. 2).
- ⁷L. Fabbri, "A discussion on the most general torsion-gravity with electrodynamics for Dirac spinor matter fields," Int. J. Geom. Meth. Mod. Phys. **12**, 1550099 (2015), arXiv:1409.2007 [gr-qc] (cit. on p. 2).
- ⁸P. Peldán, "Actions for gravity, with generalizations: a title," Classical and Quantum Gravity **11**, 1087 (1994) (cit. on p. 5).
- ⁹F. W. Hehl, J. McCrea, E. W. Mielke, and Y. Ne'eman, "Metric-affine gauge theory of gravity: field equations, noether identities, world spinors, and breaking of dilation invariance," Physics Reports **258**, **1**–**171** (1995) (cit. on p. 5).
- ¹⁰V Fock, "Geometrization of the dirac theory of electrons," Z. Phys **57**, 261–277 (1929) (cit. on pp. 5, 20).
- ¹¹M. D. Pollock, "On the Dirac equation in curved space-time," Acta Phys. Polon. **B41**, 1827–1846 (2010) (cit. on pp. 5, 20).

- ¹²F. W. Hehl, P. von der Heyde, G. D. Kerlick, and J. M. Nester, "General relativity with spin and torsion: foundations and prospects," Rev. Mod. Phys. **48**, 393–416 (1976) (cit. on pp. 5, 14, 20, 23, 28).
- ¹³L. Freidel, K. Krasnov, and R. Puzio, "BF description of higher dimensional gravity theories," Adv. Theor. Math. Phys. 3, 1289–1324 (1999), arXiv:hep-th/9901069 [hep-th] (cit. on p. 5).
- ¹⁴R Capovilla, M Montesinos, V. A. Prieto, and E Rojas, "Bf gravity and the immirzi parameter," Classical and Quantum Gravity **18**, L49 (2001) (cit. on p. 5).
- ¹⁵M. Montesinos and M. Velazquez, "BF gravity with Immirzi parameter and matter fields," Phys. Rev. **D85**, 064011 (2012), arXiv:1112.5929 [gr-qc] (cit. on p. 5).
- ¹⁶M. Celada, D. González, and M. Montesinos, "*BF* gravity," Class. Quant. Grav. **33**, 213001 (2016), arXiv:1610.02020 [gr-qc] (cit. on p. 5).
- ¹⁷S. Carroll, *Spacetime and geometry: an introduction to general relativity* (Addison Wesley, 2004) (cit. on pp. 9, 65).
- ¹⁸M. Bojowald and R. Das, "Canonical gravity with fermions," Phys. Rev. **D78**, 064009 (2008), arXiv:0710.5722 [gr-qc] (cit. on p. 20).
- ¹⁹F. W. Hehl, G. D. Kerlick, and P. Von Der Heyde, "General relativity with spin and torsion and its deviations from einstein's theory," Phys. Rev. **D10**, 1066–1069 (1974) (cit. on pp. 23, 57).
- ²⁰Y. Takahashi, "Reconstruction of Spinor From Fierz Identities," Phys. Rev. D26, 2169 (1982) (cit. on pp. 24, 93).
- ²¹P. B. Pal, "Representation-independent manipulations with Dirac spinors," (2007), arXiv:physics/0703214 [physics.ed-ph] (cit. on p. 24).
- ²²J. F. Nieves and P. B. Pal, "Generalized Fierz identities," Am. J. Phys. **72**, 1100–1108 (2004), arXiv:hep-ph/0306087 [hep-ph] (cit. on pp. 24, 94).
- ²³H. T. Nieh and M. L. Yan, "Quantized Dirac Field in Curved Riemann-cartan Background. 1. Symmetry Properties, Green's Function," Annals Phys. **138**, 237 (1982) (cit. on pp. 27, 34, 35, 39).
- ²⁴H. T. Nieh and C. N. Yang, "A torsional topological invariant," Int. J. Mod. Phys.
 A22, 5237–5244 (2007) (cit. on p. 28).
- ²⁵H. Weyl, "A New Extension of Relativity Theory," Annalen Phys. **59**, [Annalen Phys.364,101(1919)], 101–133 (1919) (cit. on p. 28).

- ²⁶V. Faraoni, E. Gunzig, and P. Nardone, "Conformal transformations in classical gravitational theories and in cosmology," Fund. Cosmic Phys. **20**, 121 (1999), arXiv:grqc/9811047 [gr-qc] (cit. on p. 28).
- ²⁷R. Wald, *General relativity* (University of Chicago Press, 1984) (cit. on p. 28).
- ²⁸H. Friedrich, "One-parameter families of conformally related asymptotically flat, static vacuum data," Classical and Quantum Gravity 25, 135012 (2008) (cit. on p. 28).
- ²⁹H. Friedrich, "Conformal classes of asymptotically flat, static vacuum data," Classical and Quantum Gravity **25**, 065012 (2008) (cit. on p. 28).
- ³⁰D. Garfinkle, "Asymptotically flat space-times have no conformal killing fields," Journal of Mathematical Physics 28, 28–32 (1987), eprint: http://dx.doi.org/10. 1063/1.527805 (cit. on p. 28).
- ³¹H. Friedrich, "Conformal structures of static vacuum data," Communications in Mathematical Physics **321**, 419–482 (2013) (cit. on p. 28).
- ³²S. Sonego and M. Massar, "On the notions of gravitational and centrifugal force in static spherically symmetric space-times," Monthly Notices of the Royal Astronomical Society 281, 659–665 (1996) (cit. on p. 28).
- ³³T. W. Noonan, "Huygens' principle in conformally flat spacetimes," Classical and Quantum Gravity **12**, 1087 (1995) (cit. on p. 28).
- ³⁴T.-T. Paetz, "Conformally covariant systems of wave equations and their equivalence to einstein's field equations," Annales Henri Poincaré 16, 2059–2129 (2015) (cit. on p. 28).
- ³⁵S. Behroozi, S. Rouhani, M. V. Takook, and M. R. Tanhayi, "Conformally invariant wave equations and massless fields in de sitter spacetime," Phys. Rev. D **74**, 124014 (2006) (cit. on p. 28).
- ³⁶A. J. Bracken and B. Jessup, "Local conformal-invariance of the wave equation for finite-component fields. i. the conditions for invariance, and fully-reducible fields," Journal of Mathematical Physics 23, 1925–1946 (1982), eprint: http://dx.doi.org/ 10.1063/1.525222 (cit. on p. 28).
- ³⁷A. Barut and B. wei Xu, "Conformal covariance and the probability interpretation of wave equations," Physics Letters A **82**, 218–220 (1981) (cit. on p. 28).
- ³⁸F. Gürsey, "On a conform-invariant spinor wave equation," Il Nuovo Cimento (1955-1965) 3, 988–1006 (1956) (cit. on p. 28).

- ³⁹P. A. M. Dirac, "Wave equations in conformal space," Annals of Mathematics **37**, 429–442 (1936) (cit. on p. 28).
- ⁴⁰V Perlick, "On fermat's principle in general relativity. ii. the conformally stationary case," Classical and Quantum Gravity 7, 1849 (1990) (cit. on p. 28).
- ⁴¹N. Van Den Bergh, "General solutions for a static isotropic metric in the brans-dicke gravitational theory," General Relativity and Gravitation **12**, 863–869 (1980) (cit. on p. 28).
- ⁴²N. V. den Bergh, "Conformally ricci-flat perfect fluids," Journal of Mathematical Physics 27, 1076–1081 (1986), eprint: http://dx.doi.org/10.1063/1.527151 (cit. on p. 28).
- ⁴³N. Van den Bergh, "Shearfree and conformally ricci-flat perfect fluids," Letters in Mathematical Physics 11, 141–146 (1986) (cit. on p. 28).
- ⁴⁴M. Tsamparlis, A. Paliathanasis, and L. Karpathopoulos, "Exact solutions of bianchi i spacetimes which admit conformal killing vectors," General Relativity and Gravitation **47**, 15 (2015) (cit. on p. 28).
- ⁴⁵J. L. Said, J. Sultana, and K. Z. Adami, "Exact static cylindrical solution to conformal weyl gravity," Phys. Rev. D 85, 104054 (2012) (cit. on p. 28).
- ⁴⁶Y. Verbin and Y. Brihaye, "Exact string-like solutions in conformal gravity," General Relativity and Gravitation 43, 2847–2863 (2011) (cit. on p. 28).
- ⁴⁷J. D. Bekenstein, "Exact solutions of Einstein conformal scalar equations," Annals Phys. **82**, 535–547 (1974) (cit. on p. 28).
- ⁴⁸N. D. Birrell and P. C. W. Davies, *Quantum fields in curved space*, Cambridge Monographs on Mathematical Physics (Cambridge University Press, 1982) (cit. on p. 28).
- ⁴⁹B. S. DeWitt, "Quantum field theory in curved spacetime," Physics Reports **19**, 295 -357 (1975) (cit. on p. 28).
- ⁵⁰R. M. Wald, "Trace anomaly of a conformally invariant quantum field in curved spacetime," Phys. Rev. D **17**, 1477–1484 (1978) (cit. on p. 28).
- ⁵¹L. H. Ford, "Quantum field theory in curved space-time," in Particles and fields. Proceedings, 9th Jorge Andre Swieca Summer School, Campos do Jordao, Brazil, February 16-28, 1997 (1997), pp. 345–388, arXiv:gr - qc / 9707062 [gr-qc] (cit. on p. 28).
- ⁵²P. D. Mannheim and D. Kazanas, "Exact Vacuum Solution to Conformal Weyl Gravity and Galactic Rotation Curves," Astrophys. J. **342**, 635–638 (1989) (cit. on p. 28).

- ⁵³P. D. Mannheim, "Conformal Cosmology With No Cosmological Constant," Gen. Rel. Grav. 22, 289–298 (1990) (cit. on p. 28).
- ⁵⁴G. K. Karananas and A. Monin, "Weyl vs. Conformal," Phys. Lett. **B757**, 257–260 (2016), arXiv:1510.08042 [hep-th] (cit. on p. 28).
- ⁵⁵J. W. Maluf, "Conformal Invariance and Torsion in General Relativity," Gen. Rel. Grav. **19**, 57 (1987) (cit. on p. **31**).
- ⁵⁶L. Fabbri, "Conformal Standard Model," Gen. Rel. Grav. 44, 3127–3138 (2012), arXiv:1107.
 0466 [gr-qc] (cit. on p. 43).
- ⁵⁷T. Dereli and R. W. Tucker, "WEYL SCALINGS AND SPINOR MATTER INTERAC-TIONS IN SCALAR - TENSOR THEORIES OF GRAVITATION," Phys. Lett. **110B**, 206–210 (1982) (cit. on p. 46).
- ⁵⁸L. Fabbri, "Conformal Gravity with Dirac Matter," Annales Fond. Broglie 38, 155–165 (2013), arXiv:1101.2334 [gr-qc] (cit. on p. 46).
- ⁵⁹L. Fabbri, "Metric-Torsional Conformal Gravity," Phys. Lett. **B707**, 415–417 (2012), arXiv:1101.1761 [gr-qc] (cit. on p. 48).
- ⁶⁰L. Fabbri, "Conformal Gravity with Electrodynamics for Fermion Fields and their Symmetry Breaking Mechanism," Int. J. Geom. Meth. Mod. Phys. **11**, 1450019 (2014), arXiv:1205.5386 [gr-qc] (cit. on p. 49).
- ⁶¹Y. Nambu and G. Jona-Lasinio, "Dynamical Model of Elementary Particles Based on an Analogy with Superconductivity. I.," Phys. Rev. **122**, [,127(1961)], 345–358 (1961) (cit. on p. 51).
- ⁶²Y. Nambu and G. Jona-Lasinio, "Dynamical Model of Elementary Particles Based on an Analogy with Superconductivity. II," Phys. Rev. 124, [,141(1961)], 246–254 (1961) (cit. on p. 51).
- ⁶³L. Fabbri, "A Torsional Model of Leptons," Mod. Phys. Lett. **A27**, 1250199 (2012), arXiv:1208.4495 [hep-ph] (cit. on p. 51).
- ⁶⁴S. Weinberg, "Implications of Dynamical Symmetry Breaking," Phys. Rev. **D13**, [Addendum: Phys. Rev.D19,1277(1979)], 974–996 (1976) (cit. on p. 51).
- ⁶⁵N. J. Poplawski, "Nonsingular, big-bounce cosmology from spinor-torsion coupling," Phys. Rev. D85, 107502 (2012), arXiv:1111.4595 [gr-qc] (cit. on pp. 51, 57).
- ⁶⁶S. Vignolo, S. Carloni, and L. Fabbri, "Torsion gravity with nonminimally coupled fermionic field: Some cosmological models," Phys. Rev. **D91**, 043528 (2015), arXiv:1412.4674 [gr-qc] (cit. on p. 51).

- ⁶⁷R. Myrzakulov, "Accelerating universe from F(T) gravity," Eur. Phys. J. **C71**, 1752 (2011), arXiv:1006.1120 [gr-qc] (cit. on p. 51).
- ⁶⁸V. Nikiforova, "The stability of self-accelerating Universe in modified gravity with dynamical torsion," Int. J. Mod. Phys. A32, 1750137 (2017), arXiv:1705.00856 [hep-th] (cit. on p. 51).
- ⁶⁹N. J. Poplawski, "Four-fermion interaction from torsion as dark energy," Gen. Rel. Grav. 44, 491–499 (2012), arXiv:1102.5667 [gr-qc] (cit. on p. 51).
- ⁷⁰S. Akhshabi, E. Qorani, and F. Khajenabi, "Inflation by spin and torsion in the Poincaré gauge theory of gravity," EPL **119**, 29002 (2017), arXiv:1705.04931 [gr-qc] (cit. on p. 51).
- ⁷¹B. Pontecorvo, "Neutrino Experiments and the Problem of Conservation of Leptonic Charge," Sov. Phys. JETP 26, [Zh. Eksp. Teor. Fiz.53,1717(1967)], 984–988 (1968) (cit. on pp. 51, 53).
- ⁷²H. Murayama, "Origin of neutrino mass," Prog. Part. Nucl. Phys. 57, [,3(2006)], 3–21 (2006) (cit. on p. 51).
- ⁷³S. F. King, "Models of Neutrino Mass, Mixing and CP Violation," J. Phys. **G42**, 123001 (2015), arXiv:1510.02091 [hep-ph] (cit. on p. 51).
- ⁷⁴L. Wolfenstein, "Neutrino Oscillations in Matter," Phys. Rev. D17, [,294(1977)], 2369–2374 (1978) (cit. on pp. 52, 54, 58, 61).
- ⁷⁵V. N. Gribov and B. Pontecorvo, "Neutrino astronomy and lepton charge," Phys. Lett. **28B**, 493 (1969) (cit. on p. 53).
- ⁷⁶S. M. Bilenky and B. Pontecorvo, "Lepton Mixing and Neutrino Oscillations," Phys. Rept. 41, 225–261 (1978) (cit. on p. 53).
- ⁷⁷Y. Fukuda et al., "Evidence for oscillation of atmospheric neutrinos," Phys. Rev. Lett.
 81, 1562–1567 (1998), arXiv:hep-ex/9807003 [hep-ex] (cit. on p. 53).
- ⁷⁸Q. R. Ahmad et al., "Measurement of the rate of $v_e + d \rightarrow p + p + e^-$ interactions produced by ⁸*B* solar neutrinos at the Sudbury Neutrino Observatory," Phys. Rev. Lett. **87**, 071301 (2001), arXiv:nucl-ex/0106015 [nucl-ex] (cit. on p. 53).
- ⁷⁹Y. Abe et al., "Indication of Reactor $\bar{\nu}_e$ Disappearance in the Double Chooz Experiment," Phys. Rev. Lett. **108**, 131801 (2012), arXiv:1112.6353 [hep-ex] (cit. on p. 53).
- ⁸⁰F. P. An et al., "Observation of electron-antineutrino disappearance at Daya Bay," Phys. Rev. Lett. 108, 171803 (2012), arXiv:1203.1669 [hep-ex] (cit. on p. 53).

- ⁸¹J. K. Ahn et al., "Observation of Reactor Electron Antineutrino Disappearance in the RENO Experiment," Phys. Rev. Lett. **108**, 191802 (2012), arXiv:1204.0626 [hep-ex] (cit. on p. 53).
- ⁸²R. N. Mohapatra and P. B. Pal, "Massive neutrinos in physics and astrophysics. Second edition," World Sci. Lect. Notes Phys. **60**, [World Sci. Lect. Notes Phys.**72**,1(2004)], 1–397 (1998) (cit. on pp. 53, 60).
- ⁸³M. Gasperini, "Spin Dominated Inflation in the Einstein-cartan Theory," Phys. Rev. Lett. 56, 2873–2876 (1986) (cit. on p. 57).
- ⁸⁴A. Trautman, "Spin and torsion may avert gravitational singularities," Nature 242, 7–8 (1973) (cit. on p. 57).
- ⁸⁵S. P. Mikheyev and A. Yu. Smirnov, "Resonance Amplification of Oscillations in Matter and Spectroscopy of Solar Neutrinos," Sov. J. Nucl. Phys. 42, [,305(1986)], 913–917 (1985) (cit. on p. 61).
- ⁸⁶S. P. Mikheev and A. Yu. Smirnov, "Resonant amplification of neutrino oscillations in matter and solar neutrino spectroscopy," Nuovo Cim. C9, 17–26 (1986) (cit. on p. 61).
- ⁸⁷E. Roulet, "MSW effect with flavor changing neutrino interactions," Phys. Rev. D44, [,365(1991)], 935–938 (1991) (cit. on p. 61).
- ⁸⁸S. Bergmann, M. M. Guzzo, P. C. de Holanda, P. I. Krastev, and H. Nunokawa, "Status of the solution to the solar neutrino problem based on nonstandard neutrino interactions," Phys. Rev. D62, 073001 (2000), arXiv:hep-ph/0004049 [hep-ph] (cit. on p. 61).
- ⁸⁹C. Biggio, M. Blennow, and E. Fernandez-Martinez, "General bounds on non-standard neutrino interactions," JHEP **08**, 090 (2009), arXiv:0907.0097 [hep-ph] (cit. on p. 61).
- ⁹⁰S. Davidson, C. Pena-Garay, N. Rius, and A. Santamaria, "Present and future bounds on nonstandard neutrino interactions," JHEP **03**, 011 (2003), arXiv:hep-ph/0302093 [hep-ph] (cit. on p. 61).
- ⁹¹E. Mielke, *Geometrodynamics of Gauge Fields*, Mathematical Physics Studies (Springer, 2017) (cit. on p. 62).
- ⁹²P. B. Pal and T. N. Pham, "A Field Theoretic Derivation of Wolfenstein's Matter Oscillation Formula," Phys. Rev. D40, 259 (1989) (cit. on p. 62).
- ⁹³V. De Sabbata and M. Gasperini, "Neutrino Oscillations in the Presence of Torsion," Nuovo Cim. A65, 479–500 (1981) (cit. on p. 62).

- ⁹⁴M. Gasperini, "Testing the Principle of Equivalence with Neutrino Oscillations," Phys. Rev. **D38**, [,362(1988)], 2635–2637 (1988) (cit. on p. 62).
- ⁹⁵M. Gasperini, "Experimental Constraints on a Minimal and Nonminimal Violation of the Equivalence Principle in the Oscillations of Massive Neutrinos," Phys. Rev. D39, 3606–3611 (1989) (cit. on p. 62).
- ⁹⁶S. Groot Nibbelink, M. Peloso, and M. Sexton, "Nonlinear properties of vielbein massive gravity," The European Physical Journal C **51**, 741 (2007) (cit. on p. 65).
- ⁹⁷R. Zheng and Q.-G. Huang, "Growth factor in f (t) gravity," Journal of Cosmology and Astroparticle Physics **2011**, 002 (2011) (cit. on p. 65).
- 98 S.-H. Chen, J. B. Dent, S. Dutta, and E. N. Saridakis, "Cosmological perturbations in f(t) gravity," Phys. Rev. D 83, 023508 (2011) (cit. on p. 65).
- ⁹⁹V. Dzhunushaliev and V. Folomeev, "Propagation of gravitational waves in the nonperturbative spinor vacuum," The European Physical Journal C **74**, 3057 (2014) (cit. on p. 65).
- ¹⁰⁰Y.-P. Wu and C.-Q. Geng, "Matter density perturbations in modified teleparallel theories," Journal of High Energy Physics **2012**, 142 (2012) (cit. on p. 65).
- ¹⁰¹C. Deffayet and S. Randjbar-Daemi, "Nonlinear fierz-pauli theory from torsion and bigravity," Phys. Rev. D 84, 044053 (2011) (cit. on p. 65).
- ¹⁰²C. Deffayet, J. Mourad, and G. Zahariade, "A note on "symmetric" vielbeins in bimetric, massive, perturbative and non perturbative gravities," Journal of High Energy Physics 2013, 86 (2013) (cit. on p. 65).
- ¹⁰³K. Hinterbichler and R. A. Rosen, "Interacting spin-2 fields," Journal of High Energy Physics 2012, 47 (2012) (cit. on p. 65).
- ¹⁰⁴S. Alexandrov, "Canonical structure of tetrad bimetric gravity," General Relativity and Gravitation **46**, 1639 (2013) (cit. on p. 65).
- ¹⁰⁵K. Hayashi and T. Shirafuji, "New general relativity," Phys. Rev. D 19, 3524–3553 (1979) (cit. on p. 65).
- ¹⁰⁶V. P. Nair, S. Randjbar-Daemi, and V. Rubakov, "Massive spin-2 fields of geometric origin in curved spacetimes," Phys. Rev. D 80, 104031 (2009) (cit. on p. 65).
- ¹⁰⁷V. Nikiforova, S. Randjbar-Daemi, and V. Rubakov, "Infrared modified gravity with dynamical torsion," Phys. Rev. D **80**, 124050 (2009) (cit. on p. 65).

- ¹⁰⁸T. P. Singh, "General relativity, torsion, and quantum theory," Curr. Sci. **109**, 2258 (2015), arXiv:1512.06982 [gr-qc] (cit. on p. 65).
- ¹⁰⁹C. C. Nishi, "Simple derivation of general Fierz-like identities," Am. J. Phys. **73**, 1160–1163 (2005), arXiv:hep-ph/0412245 [hep-ph] (cit. on p. 94).